
 
 

(Established pursuant to section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development  
and Construction Act 2009 as the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton  

and Wirral Combined Authority) 

 
MEETING OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION  

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

 
 
To: The Members of the Audit and Governance Committee 
 
Dear Member, 
 
You are requested to attend a meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee 
to be held on Wednesday, 30th March 2022 at 2.00 pm in the Authority 

Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP. 
 
Members of the public can view the meeting via the webcast but for anyone 
who would like to attend in person, please contact Democratic Services on 
07833 047153 or email democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk in 
advance of the meeting. 

 
If you have any queries regarding this meeting, please contact Lisa Backstrom 
on telephone number (0151) 330 1079. 
 

Yours faithfully 

 
Chief Executive  

 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 

 
This meeting will be filmed by the Combined Authority for live and/or 
subsequent broadcast on the Combined Authority’s website. The whole of the 
meeting will be filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items.  
 
If you do not wish to have your image captured or if you have any queries 
regarding the webcasting of the meeting please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer on the above number or email 
democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk.  
 
 A Fair Processing Notice is available on the Combined Authority’s website at 
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-
Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf 
 

mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf


 

 

 
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES  

   

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

   

3. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  

 To consider the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 19 
January 2022. 

  (Pages 1 - 6) 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

4. INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  

 To consider the report of the Head of Internal Audit. 

  (Pages 7 - 38) 
 

5. INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN AND CHARTER 2022-23  

 To consider the report of the Head of Internal Audit. 

  (Pages 39 - 76) 
 

6. RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  

 To consider the report of the Head of Internal Audit. 

  (Pages 77 - 102) 
 

GOVERNANCE 
 

7. THE CONSTITUTION  

 To consider the report of the Monitoring Officer. 

  (Pages 103 - 112) 
 

8. MEMBERS CODE OF CONDUCT PROTOCOL  

 To consider the report of the Monitoring Officer. 

  (Pages 113 - 220) 
 



 

 

FINANCE 
 

9. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES 2021/22  

 To consider the report of the Executive Director of Corporate Services. 

  (Pages 221 - 240) 
 

10. ANY OTHER BUSINESS  

   
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



LCR AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

At a meeting of the LCR Audit & Governance Committee held in the Authority 
Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP on Wednesday, 19th January, 2022 
the following Members were 
 

P r e s e n t: 
 

Councillor Edna Finneran 
Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee 

(in the Chair) 
 
 
Councillor D Burgess-Joyce  Overview and Scrutiny Committee  Wirral BC 
Councillor J Hansen  Overview and Scrutiny Committee Sefton BC 
Councillor P Moloney   Overview and Scrutiny Committee  Liverpool CC 
Councillor G Morgan   Combined Authority   Knowsley MBC 
Councillor M Wharton  Combined Authority    Halton BC 
Martin McDonagh   Independent Member 
Jean Gleave    Independent Member 
 
 
33. APOLOGIES  
 
 There were no apologies for absence. 
 
34. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 There were no declarations of interest. 
 
35. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  
 
 The minutes of the last meeting held on 22 September 2021 were agreed as 
a correct record. 
 
36. INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  
 
The Committee considered the report of the Head of Internal Audit which provided an 
overview of the internal audit work completed in respect of the Combined Authority in 
the third quarter of 2021-22, in accordance with the Internal Audit Plan 2021-22. 
 
 Dave Knott, Internal Audit Manager presented the report and provided 
information on the following key points:- 
 

 A summary of the Internal Audit Plan delivery for the period; 

 Details of the work undertaken, and key items of note in respect of 
corporate systems, Combined Authority-specific systems and 
Merseytravel-specific systems; 

 Details of work undertaken in respect of fraud, bribery and corruption; 

 An update on internal audit performance with reference to the key 
 performance indicators detailed in the Quality Assurance and Improvement 

Programme (QAIP); and 

 An update on the service’s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS). 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 
 Dave Knott advised that Internal Audit had made positive progress in the 
period of this report to deliver the Internal Audit Plan 2021-22. 86% of the Plan was 
completed or underway with completion on target for the end of the Year. 
 
 The Chair, Councillor Edna Finneran invited questions/comments from 
Members of the Committee. 
 
 Councillor David Burgess-Joyce asked what the Committee needed to be 
aware of as a Group to be able to support the Combined Authority? 
 
 Dave Knott advised that planning was underway for 2022/23. The Combined 
Authority was receiving a large amount of funding and this was a key area for 
consideration in the plan along with new developments in the organisation such as 
the Freeport. 
 
 Councillor Burgess-Joyce asked was there a risk due to a lack of funding? 
 
 Dave Knott clarified that a lot of funding was being received by the Combined 
Authority. The management of this funding presented risks to the organisation and 
consequently  this funding would be a focus for the Audit Plan for the next year. 
 
 Jean Gleave, Independent Member, thanked Dave Knott for the report. 
Referring to page 17 of the pack, she asked about the 2 reviews that had been 
added to the plan and the reviews being pushed back and if there were there any 
concerns about the requested work and the work needing to be rescheduled as a 
consequence. 
 
 Dave Knott reported that there were no concerns and the additional work had 
been accommodated but not to the detriment of the work that had been rescheduled.  
Some of that work could not be undertaken anyway due to timescales and stages of 
development. 
 
 Jean Gleave referred to Page 5 and the ‘Health and Safety’ audit, but it was 
not in table 1. She asked if it was still being finalised or agreed or was it a previous 
audit? 
 
 Dave Knott advised that the audit would have been in draft at the previous 
meeting. It had now been finalised and the recommendations were included in the 
report. 
 
 Jean Gleave referred to table 3, ‘Corporate Systems’ and follow-up work. 
There were still some recommendations going back to 2019/20 and 2017/18 which 
hadn’t been implemented. She asked if the risks were still being managed. 
 
 Dave Knott reported that Audit continually follow-up on recommendations.  
Discussions were ongoing with regard to the outstanding recommendations and 
Audit was aware of the work being done to manage the risks in the interim. There 
were no major concerns and a lot of work had been undertaken with Departments 
over the past year which had led to a significant reduction in the amount of 
outstanding recommendations.  
 
 Jean Gleave asked whether the Plan would be completed by the end of the 
year or was there anything that could hinder progress. 
 

Page 2



 Dave Knott advised that he was not aware of anything which would prevent 
progress and he was confident about completion.  If an unplanned piece of work 
arose then a decision would have to be made about the work within the plan. 
 
 RESOLVED That: 

 
(i) the report be noted; and 

 
(ii)  the progress made in the delivery of the approved Internal Audit Plan in 

respect of the Combined Authority, be noted. 
 

37. RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  
 
 The Committee considered the report of the Head of Internal Audit which 
provided an update in respect of the system of corporate risk management and the 
activity that has been undertaken in continuing to embed this system during the third 
quarter of 2021-22. 
 
 Natasha Bryan, Risk Manager presented the report and highlighted the 
following key points:- 
 

 The Corporate Risk Register had and would be reviewed by Executive 
Leadership Team as a whole and individually by Executive Directors; 

 Risks had stayed static but with the Register, the key changes related to 
actions; 

 There had been a further review of risk owners; 

 Further improvements in embedding the risk management process; 

 A Risk Management Skills Training offer for Senior Managers had been 
developed and launched;  

 An E-learning package for all staff on Corporate Risk has also been 
developed and launched; 

 A further workshop with the Executive Leadership Team was planned for 1 
March 2022; and 

 There had been good engagement with Senior Managers to progress the 
Risk Register to this stage. 

 
 The Chair, Councillor Edna Finneran invited questions/comments from 
Members of the Committee. 
 
 Councillor David Burgess-Joyce referred to the completion of mandatory 
training. He asked if this had been revisited in light of pandemic and training not 
being essential whilst getting staff to return to the workplace. 
 
 Natasha Bryan responded and stated that essential training had been 
targeted for specific need, following consultation with the Risk Group and Executive 
Leadership Team.  The e-learning package was more of a general overview and 
available to all other staff. 
 
 Jean Gleave, Independent Member commented that she was pleased to see 
that risks had been allocated to risk owners as part of the development of the risk 
register. She noted that some of the risks were quite broad and assumed that they 
would be broken down into more detail behind the scenes. In relation to timescales, 
she felt that some were imminent, yet these risks were ongoing. She asked if the 
timescales related to actions which were underway now. 

Page 3



 
 Natasha Bryan advised that the timescales did relate to particular actions to 
address the overarching risks. As an example, a lot of work had been done on cyber 
risk and business continuity under the ‘Resilience’ strand where immediate actions 
could be undertaken to address some of the overall corporate risks. 
 
 Martin McDonough, Independent Member referred to the ‘Coronavirus 
Pandemic’ and was surprised that it had not been added to the ‘Corporate Risk 
Register’, particularly in light of the effect of staff, revenue streams and service 
provision. 
 
 Natasha Bryan indicated that the ‘Pandemic’, or ‘Covid’ was not referred to 
specifically but was one of the elements under the ‘Business Continuity within the 
‘Resilience’ strand which could affect the day to day operation of the Organisation. 
 
 Martin McDonagh added that he felt that it should have been included given 
the major impact on revenue streams, timetables, the use of public transport and 
tunnel tolls. 
 
 Natasha Bryan reported that there were Working Groups looking at those 
specific areas.  Internal Audit did cover those areas as part of the ‘Resilience Risk’. 
 
 Councillor David Burgess-Joyce agreed with the comments made by Martin 
McDonagh and suggested that it in future, it be highlighted within this report but 
remain under the relevant strand within the ‘Corporate Risk Register’. 
 
 Natasha Bryan agreed to look into the request. 
 
 Jean Gleave commented that the Corporate Risk Register’ was in a different 
format and there were other risks which weren’t as explicit. She asked if the 
Committee could receive a more detailed information from time to time. 
 
 Natasha Bryan reported that the full ‘Corporate Risk Register’ had been 
attached as an Appendix to the report which provided more detail. 
 
 Councillor Pat Moloney referred to financial risks and asked if inflation had 
been identified as a separate risk or whether it was being encompassed as part of 
the general financial risks? 
 
 Natasha Bryan responded and stated that as part of a number of elements, 
inflation had been considered and would be considered again by the Executive 
Leadership Team when they meet to review the ‘Corporate Risks’. 

 
RESOLVED That: 
 
(i) the updated Corporate Risk Register, be noted; and 
 
(ii) the progress made in embedding the system of corporate risk 

management into the organisation, be noted. 
 

38. CHIEF OFFICERS DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE  
 
 The Committee considered the report of the Chief Legal and Monitoring 
Officer which sought:-  

 

Page 4



(1) consideration of amendments to the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority Constitution; and 

 
(2) inclusion of a designated section, outlining the processes and procedures 

for dealing with Chief Officers for disciplinary matters; and  
 
(3) for these proposed amendments to be recommended to the meeting of 

the Combined Authority for approval. 
 

 Jill Coule, Chief Legal and Monitoring Officer advised that the report detailed 
comprehensive procedures with regard to Chief Officers.  Following recent 
recruitment exercises, the position had been reviewed and it was determined that it 
would be helpful to outline these procedures publicly and transparently, should the 
occasion arise. Having reviewed the position carefully, the national model promoted 
by the Joint Negotiating Committee and the related guidance were being 
recommended to the Committee.  
 
 Jill Coule added that should the Committee be minded to agree the 
recommendations, the issue would need to be considered by the Combined Authority 
because of the constitutional amendments which would be required to incorporate 
this process.  Those recommendations would include an extension of remit of the 
Audit and Governance Committee, as Members would be involved in the disciplinary 
process should it be needed.  
 
 The Chair, Councillor Edna Finneran invited questions/comments from 
Members of the Committee. 
 
 Councillor David Burgess-Joyce referred to page 88 and asked should all of 
those matters be brought to a cross-party group? He felt that the paragraph was 
contradictory. 
 
 Jill Coule responded and stated that the point raised was contained within the 
guidance.  She added that as the recommendations were requesting a change to the 
terms of reference for this Committee, which was a politically balanced, that where 
practically possible, a politically balanced approach would be the suggested 
approach.  This would also be subject to local circumstances.  
 
 RESOLVED – That: 
 

(i) the Joint Negotiation Committee (JNC) Model Disciplinary Procedure and 
Guidance for Local Authority Chief Executives, which included the 
processes and procedures for dealing with both the appointment and 
discipline of Chief Officers (Appendices 1 and 2), be approved; 

 
(ii)  the Guidance for Local Authority Chief Executives, in accordance with the 

Joint Negotiating Committee October 2016 National Salary Framework & 
Conditions of Service Handbook, be noted; 

 
(iii)  the Combined Authority include the JNC Model Disciplinary Procedure in 

the Constitution; and 
 
(iv) the Combined Authority approve the JNC Model Disciplinary Procedure 

and the amendments to the Constitution as set out in Appendix 4 of this 
report. 

 

Page 5



39. ANY OTHER BUSINESS  
 
 There were no items of other business for consideration at this meeting. 
 
 
 
Minutes 33 to 39 received as a correct record on the 30 day of March 2022. 
 
 
 

 

Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee 
 
 

(The meeting closed at 2.27 pm) 
 
 

 

Page 6



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  Audit and Governance Committee 
  
Meeting:  30 March 2022 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  None 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
 The purpose of this report is to provide the Combined Authority Audit and 

Governance Committee with an overview of the internal audit work completed in the 
fourth quarter of 2021-22, in accordance with the Internal Audit Plan 2021-22. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 The Audit and Governance Committee is recommended to: 
 

(a) note the outcomes of the audit work undertaken during the period of the 
report; and 

 
(b) note the progress made in the delivery of the approved Internal Audit Plan in 

respect of the Combined Authority. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms 

of Reference, the report details the work undertaken by the Internal Audit service in 
respect of the Combined Authority in the fourth quarter of 2021-22.  The report 
highlights the following key points: 
 

 A summary of Internal Audit Plan delivery for the period; 
 

 Details of work undertaken, and key items of note in respect of corporate 
systems, Combined Authority-specific systems and Merseytravel-specific 
systems; 

 

 Details of work undertaken in respect of fraud, bribery and corruption; 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 An update on internal audit performance with reference to the key 
performance indicators detailed in the Quality Assurance and Improvement 
Programme (QAIP); and 

 

 An update on the service’s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS). 

  
  

4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.2 Human Resources 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.4 Information Technology 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.5 Programme Management Office (PMO) 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report.   
 
 
6. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
 It is the responsibility of the Combined Authority to establish effective arrangements 

for the management of risk.  Internal Audit reports highlight weaknesses which pose 
a risk to the achievement of the organisation’s objectives and the according 
recommendations assist in mitigating such risks.  Internal Audit work is one strand 
of assurance regarding the effectiveness of the system of internal control and this 
can be utilised to inform the Combined Authority’s view of organisational risk and its 
management. 

 
 
7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 

Page 8



8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 

 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
9. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
10. CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 Internal Audit has made positive progress in the period of this report to deliver the 

Internal Audit Plan 2021-22.   
 
10.2 This report demonstrates how the provision of available Internal Audit resource has 

been utilised to provide appropriate assurance to the Combined Authority. 
 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

 
 

Contact Officer(s): 
Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit    
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A – Internal Audit Update  
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 
                         

 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE 
 

 

 

Audit and Governance Committee 

30 March 2022 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 
Head of Internal Audit 

P
age 11



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 1 
  

Contents 
 

       Page 
 

1. Introduction             2 
 

2. Summary of Internal Audit Plan Delivery         3 
 

3. Corporate Systems            5 
 

4. Combined Authority: Specific Systems         8  
 

5. Merseytravel: Specific Systems                                                                                          10 
 

6. Fraud, Bribery and Corruption                  14 
 

7. Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme               18 
 

8. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards                 21 
 

Appendices 
 

A - Internal Audit Plan 2021-22 Status Update                24 
 
B - Internal Audit Organisational Risk Opinions and Recommendation Priority Levels           26   

   
       

P
age 12



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 2 
  

1.  Introduction 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of Internal Audit work completed in the third quarter of 2021-22, in respect 

of the Internal Audit Plan 2021-22.   
 
1.2 The report is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee to facilitate the discharge of obligations as defined in its 

Terms of Reference to highlight the outcomes of Internal Audit work as a source of assurance on the effectiveness of the 
Combined Authority‟s governance, risk and internal control environment.   

 
1.3 Internal Audit is defined as: “an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve 

an organisation‟s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach 
to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes.” (Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards 2017) 

 
1.4 The mission of Internal Audit is: “to enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based and objective 

assurance, advice and insight”. 
 
1.5 This report includes: 
 

 A summary of Internal Audit Plan delivery for the period; 

 Details of work undertaken, and key items of note in respect of corporate systems, Combined Authority-specific systems 
and Merseytravel-specific systems; 

 A summary of the work undertaken in respect of fraud, bribery and corruption; 

 An update on internal audit performance with reference to the key performance indicators detailed in the Quality 
Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP); and 

 An update on the service‟s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).  

P
age 13



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 3 
  

2.  Summary of Internal Audit Plan Delivery 
 
2.1 Audits Completed  

  
2.1.1 In the period since the last Internal Audit Update, ten audits were completed. These are shown in Table 1 with items at draft 

reporting stage shown in italics: 
  

Auditable Area Organisational 
Risk Opinion 

Corporate LCRCA Merseytravel 

Rolling Stock - Power Supply Project tbc   Y 

Rolling Stock - Asset Ownership  Negligible   Y 

Payroll tbc Y   

Creditors tbc Y   

LEP - Governance Annual Review Minor  Y  

Alternative Delivery Models - Bus n/a   Y 

Recovery Partnerships - Bus n/a   Y 

Digital Infrastructure Project tbc  Y  

Seacombe Landing Stage Capital Project Major   Y 

IT - Proactive BAU Management tbc Y   
                                                           Table 1 

 
2.1.2 Appendix A gives a detailed breakdown of the Internal Audit Plan 2021-22, showing the status of each item of audit work that 

was contained within the Plan approved by the Committee at its March 2021 meeting. 
 
2.1.3 One of the main impacts of working in a dynamic environment is that risks facing the organisation change. The Internal Audit 

Plan has been reviewed to take account of such changes, to reflect the impact of new risk areas being identified during the 
year and others becoming less prominent.  This has led to new pieces of work being identified for completion that were not 
identified at the outset and these were reported at the last meeting of the Committee. 

 
 

P
age 14



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 4 
  

2.1.4 There has also been a number of pieces of work identified which will not be completed during this year, and these will form 
part of the risk assessment and planning process for the Audit Plan 2022-23: 

 

 Health Safety and Wellbeing (Office Based Services) – Further to initial consideration of the terms of reference for this 
audit it was determined that the office-based elements had largely been considered by the Health Safety and Wellbeing 
Corporate Review and this audit would not add significant value. 

 Covid-19 Government Funding – It was established that no significant funding had been received further to audit work 
undertaken during 2020-21. 

 Operator of Last Resort (Rail Concession) – At the current stage of the programme it is not believed that an audit would 
add value. 

 
  

                                                                                                                                                                  P
age 15



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 5 
  

3.  Corporate Systems 
 
3.1 Background 
  
3.1.1 Three of the audits completed in the period were of a corporate system that is provided by Merseytravel to both Merseytravel 

and the Combined Authority:  
 

 Payroll; 

 Creditors; and 

 IT – Proactive BAU Management. 
 

3.1.2 Reporting of the outcomes from the audit work in this area formally falls within the remit of the Merseytravel Audit, Risk and 
Governance Board, but as the Combined Authority is a “recipient” of these services, the audit findings are also reported to 
the Audit and Governance Committee.  This is to provide assurance that the risks associated with the area are being 
managed effectively.  

 
3.2 Organisational Risk Opinion  
 
3.2.1 The audits completed are all at draft reporting stage and the organisational risk opinion will be reported in the next update. 
 
3.3 Recommendations of Note 
 
3.3.1 The implementation of recommendations is subject to ongoing monitoring and where dates of agreed action have passed 

and confirmation of implementation has not been received, Internal Audit contacts managers to establish progress, confirm 

actions completed or agree revised implementation dates, if appropriate. 

3.3.2 Table 2 provides a summary of progress in respect of the implementation of previous recommendations made in respect of 
corporate systems:  

 
 

P
age 16



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 6 
  

 
         Table 2 

                                                                                                                                                                   
3.3.4 Significant work has been undertaken with members of SLT to encourage completion of outstanding recommendations, 

particularly those that are long-standing.  This has generated engagement and has prompted fresh focus and action on 
progressing the issues, and consequently a number of recommendations have been closed during the period. 

  

P
age 17



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 7 
  

3.3.5 A number of recommendations have had their implementation dates revised, and these are shown in the Comments column 
of the table. These movements have been the subject of discussions with Internal Audit, and the explanations provided were 
deemed to be reasonable.  However, there will be ongoing attention paid to these recommendations to ensure that timely 
implementation occurs.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 18



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 8 
  

4.  Combined Authority: Specific Systems 
 
4.1 Background 
 
4.1.1 Two of the audits completed in the period were of systems that are specific to Liverpool City Region Combined Authority: 

 

 LEP Governance Annual Review 

 Digital Infrastructure Project 
 

4.1.2 From a governance perspective, these fall entirely within the remit of the Audit and Governance Committee and would not be 
routinely reported to the Merseytravel Audit, Risk and Governance Board.  

 
4.2 Organisational Risk Opinion 
 
4.2.1 The finalised audit of the LEP Annual Governance Review received an organisational risk opinion of “Minor”, which means 

that a satisfactory level of assurance on the effectiveness of the internal controls reviewed can be derived, and that the risk 
presented to the organisation by the recommendations made is at a low level. 

 
4.3 Recommendations of Note 
 
4.3.1 The audits finalised within the period identified four recommendations classed as “high priority”. These are shown in Table 3. 

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

LEP - Governance 
Annual Review 

1.  i) Adherence to the Declarations of Interest Policy must be 
ensured; with Declarations being provided and published 
accordingly. 

 ii)  The Declarations of Interest Policy should be updated to 
include the executive positions of the LEP, in addition to 
Board Members. 

Awaiting response 

                                                          Table 3 

P
age 19



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 9 
  

4.3.2 Table 4 provides a summary of progress in respect of the implementation of previous recommendations made in respect of 

Combined Authority - specific systems:  

  
        Table 4 
 

4.3.3 The implementation of recommendations is subject to ongoing monitoring and where dates of agreed action have passed 
and confirmation of implementation has not been received, Internal Audit contacts managers to establish progress, confirm 
actions completed or agree revised implementation dates, if appropriate.    

 
4.4 Grant Certification 
 
4.4.1 In the period since the last Internal Audit Update, the following grant claims shown in Table 5, were reviewed, so as to 

confirm compliance with grant conditions: 
  

Grant Name Number of Claims Audited Value Audited (£) 

Careers & Enterprise 4 133,345 

Growth Hub 1 163,660 

Low Energy Hub 1 19,788 

SIF 13 1,971,581 

SIF Pre-Development Funding 3 75,484 

SIF Skills 2 245,083 

TOTAL 24 2,608,941 
                                           Table 5 

Year Department Auditable Area High Medium Completed In Progress Overdue High Overdue

Extension 

Requested and 

Agreed

Notes

2021-22 Investment Investment Models 0 3 0 3 0 n/a n/a

2021-22 Programme Delivery Race Equality 0 7 4 3 3 n/a Yes Discussed with Manager - revised implementation dates agreed

2020-21 Investment / PMO / Finance Pre Payment Assurance 0 3 0 3 0 n/a n/a

2020-21 Policy Coordination Housing First (VFM) 1 14 11 4 4 n/a Yes Discussed with HoS - revised implementation dates agreed

Place

2021-22 Asset Management Service Maintenance Contracts 0 8 0 8 0 n/a n/a

2021-22 Tidal QS Procurement 0 10 8 2 2 n/a Yes Discussed with Project Director - revised implementation dates agreed

Other

2021-22 LEP LEP Governance Annual Review 21-22 1 1 0 2 0 n/a n/a

2021-22 LEP LEP - Growth Platform Creditors 0 4 4 0 0 n/a n/a

Recommendations

Investment & Delivery

P
age 20



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 10 
  

5.  Merseytravel: Specific Systems 
 
5.1 Background 
 
5.1.1 Five of the audits completed in the period were of a system that is specific to Merseytravel: 
 

 Rolling Stock - Power Supply Project; 

 Rolling Stock - Asset Ownership; 

 Alternative Delivery Models - Bus; 

 Recovery Partnerships; and 

 Seacombe Landing Stage Capital Project. 
 

5.1.2 From a governance perspective, these fall entirely within the remit of the Audit, Risk and Governance Board, but are also 
reported to the Audit and Governance Committee for information and in the interests of transparency.  

 
5.2 Organisational Risk Opinion 
 
5.2.1 One of the audits, Seacombe Landing Stage, received an organisational risk opinion of “Major”, because of the significant 

weaknesses detected in the management of this capital project, including the early warning system and management of risk 
regarding cost overruns. 

 
5.2.2 In respect of two of the audits, Alternative Delivery Models – Bus, and Recovery Partnerships, advice and guidance was 

provided and so an audit opinion was not applicable.  The audit of Rolling Stock – Asset Ownership received an 
organisational risk opinion of “Negligible”, which means that a satisfactory level of assurance on the effectiveness of the 
internal controls reviewed can be derived.  The audit of Rolling Stock – Power Supply Project is to be finalised. 

 
5.3 Recommendations of Note 
 
5.3.1 The audits finalised within the period identified three recommendations classed as “high priority”. These are shown in Table 

6: 

P
age 21



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 11 
  

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 
Seacombe Landing Stage 
Capital Project 

Where applicable, the designated project lead from Asset Management 
should provide formal evidence of their review and agreement of changes to 
a specification/Activity Schedule for a contract during the design phase, to 
confirm their consideration of whether the changes are necessary and 
reasonable in terms of scope and cost. Where the change in cost is 
significant, they should also be subject to formal review and sign-off by the 
Technical Services Manager or the Head of Asset Management, who 
should determine appropriate thresholds for cost changes where this will be 
required (e.g. changes >£x and y%). 
 

A project of this nature would have 

benefited from consideration of wider 

routes to market to reflect the maritime 

environment and transfer of risk to a 

delivery partner.  A design and build 

route to market for example may have 

given consideration to risk and activity 

changes by the contractor who would 

own them, at an earlier stage thus 

reflecting in the initial award of 

contract.  

I agree with the recommendation 
regarding the management of change 
and the internal procedures and the 
emergence of a new delivery model 
within the LCRCA will negate this. 
 

Seacombe Landing Stage 
Capital Project 

Whilst the current approach to capital project estimates is that contingency 
sums are not included in funding requests, where there is a known risk of 
additional work being required, this should be clearly communicated and 
quantified in the project risk register and in the initial and subsequent 
reports to Merseytravel Board on the project. This should include a clear 
explanation of the degree of uncertainty about both the risk and the 
estimate of costs, with a range of possible costs being provided (e.g. best 
case and worse case estimates should the risk crystallise), to help ensure 
the Board is more clearly sighted on the risks and their possible financial 
implications and to comply with the requirements of the Constitution (Part 4 
Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules: 2.8 (k)) for accurate 
determination of estimated contract values. 
 

The safeguard of delivery boards and 

projects needing to pass gateways 

before they proceed to delivery will 

negate this. In addition, the 

consideration of internal Quantity 

Surveying resource is something that I 

am exploring within the new delivery 

model. 

 

Seacombe Landing Stage 
Capital Project 

When the need for significant additional costs to be incurred on a capital 
project is known, it should be reported to the Board at the earliest 
opportunity, to allow more time for Merseytravel Board consideration of the 
impact on the overall capital programme and any funding implications. This 

LCRCA now has „Delivery Boards‟ and 

each one is chaired by an Executive 

Director with representation from 

across the CA. Delegation for project 

P
age 22



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 12 
  

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 
should include an estimate of the possible costs with further updates being 
provided as cost estimates are refined. To provide officers with more clarity 
on the requirements, 24.5 in the Constitution should be expanded to say 
Board should be made aware of potential significant variations, including 
realistic estimates, at the earliest opportunity. 

spend and programme will come from 

these boards with tolerances identified 

under that delegation. Where 

tolerances are approaching limits for 

time and/or cost, the Board will have 

the responsibility for consideration of 

approval and next steps. (This is within 

the context of already approved 

programmes by LCRCA). 

 
                                    Table 6 

5.3.2 The implementation of recommendations is subject to ongoing monitoring and where dates of agreed action have passed 
and confirmation of implementation has not been received, Internal Audit contacts managers to establish progress, confirm 
actions completed or agree revised implementation dates, if appropriate.  

 
5.3.3 Table 7 provides a summary of progress in respect of the implementation of previous recommendations made in respect of 

Merseytravel specific systems: 

P
age 23



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 13 
  

Table 7 

5.3.4 Significant work has been undertaken with members of SLT to encourage completion of outstanding recommendations, 
particularly those that are long-standing.  This has generated engagement and has prompted fresh focus and action on 
progressing the issues. 

 
5.3.5 A number of recommendations have had their implementation dates revised, and these are shown in the Comments column 

in the table.  These movements have been the subject of discussions with internal audit, and the explanations provided were 
deemed to be reasonable.  However, there will be ongoing attention paid to these recommendations to ensure that timely 
implementation occurs. 

 
 

6.  Fraud, Bribery and Corruption  
 
6.1 CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption (2014) 
 

Year Department Auditable Area High Medium Completed In Progress Overdue High Overdue

Extension 

Requested and 

Agreed

Notes

Place

2021-22 AM - Technical Services Seacombe Ferry Landing Stage - Capital Project 3 4 0 7 0 n/a n/a

2018-19 AM - Maintenance Delivery Vehicle Tracking System 1 3 2 2 2 0 Yes Awaiting creation of Fleet Manager post

2020-21 Bus - Network Performance Bus Services - Contract Management 0 10 5 5 0 n/a n/a

2019-20 Bus - Network Performance Bus Services - Contract Management 0 4 1 3 3 n/a Yes

2021-22 Customer Delivery Application Control - Haven System 1 9 4 6 0 n/a n/a

2020-21 Customer Delivery Fast Tag Account Management 1 1 1 1 0 0 n/a

2019-20 Customer Delivery Catering Concession - Contract Management 0 5 4 1 1 n/a Yes Discussed with Manager - revised implementation dates agreed

2021-22 Customer Operations (Ferries) Application Control - Commuter Club 0 8 0 8 0 n/a n/a

2020-21 Customer Operations (Ferries) Mersey Ferries - Retail and Stock Reconciliation 1 10 10 1 0 0 Yes

2021-22 Customer Operations (Tunnels) Tunnel Tolls Income Recording 0 2 1 1 0 n/a n/a

2020-21 Police Operations (Tunnels) CCTV 1 8 7 2 1 0 Yes Discussed with Manager - revised implementation dates agreed

2020-21 Policy Development Active Travel Fund 0 4 0 4 0 n/a n/a

2021-22 Rail / Bus Financial Sustainability of Operators and Contractors COVID 2 1 0 3 0 n/a n/a

Recommendations

P
age 24



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 14 
  

6.1.1 The CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption is the key guidance document for the sector on 
managing fraud risk. 

 
6.1.2 In the Counter-Fraud Update report presented to this Board at its November 2021 meeting, it was noted that a full review of 

the organisation‟s compliance with the guidance had been undertaken, and that this had resulted in a number of action 
points. Table 8 gives an update on the progress being made to address the actions: 

 
Ref Action Responsibility Implementation 

Due Date 
Progress Update 

1 Encourage the Executive and Senior 
Leadership Teams to raise awareness of 
counter-fraud issues with their teams, 
including promoting take-up of counter-fraud 
training, discussion of fraud risks and 
controls and exploring opportunities for fraud 
detection and prevention. 
 

Internal Audit to 
facilitate 
 
ELT/SLT to action 

31 March 2022 In Progress 
Head of Internal Audit has discussed with 
ELT and SLT during November 2021. 

2 Risk Management Policy to be updated to 
make explicit mention of fraud risk and its 
treatment, including the escalation of 
significant fraud risks. 
 

Risk Manager 30 September 2022 To be included in the 2022-23 refresh of the 
Policy. 

3 Support the development of fraud risk 
assessment by facilitating fraud risk 
workshops with areas of the business where 
fraud risks are highest and ensuring that the 
results of the workshops are used to inform 
Service Risk Registers.  
Establish regime of regular reminders to 
update fraud risks in Service Risk Registers, 
including consideration of any new/emerging 
fraud/corruption risks. 
Consider the use of fraud loss estimates to 
inform the risk assessment. 

Risk Manager/Audit 
Manager 

31 March 2022 In progress 
Joint audit and risk workshops are being 
planned to explore fraud risk and ensure 
this is adequately reflected within Service 
Risk Registers.   

4 Utilising the data gathered from the fraud risk Head of Internal 30 September 2022 In progress 

P
age 25



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 15 
  

Ref Action Responsibility Implementation 
Due Date 

Progress Update 

assessment, compile and implement a 
Counter- Fraud Strategy for the organisation.  
Once compiled, the effectiveness of the 
Strategy should be evaluated and reported, 
including within the Annual Governance 
Statement. 

Audit with input from 
ELT/SLT 

Draft Strategy has been compiled and is to 
be finalised following addition of fraud risk 
assessment. 

5 As well as providing internal communications 
on fraud awareness (particularly during 
International Fraud Awareness Week), 
consideration should be given to providing 
fraud awareness and prevention/detection 
messaging to external customer and other 
stakeholders. 

Head of Internal 
Audit with input from 
ELT/SLT 

30 September 2022  

6 Monitor the take-up levels of the Fraud 
Awareness e-learning and follow up to 
completion with Executive and Senior 
Leadership Teams as necessary. 

Head of Internal 
Audit 

31 March 2022 In progress 
There has been a corporate push on levels 
of mandatory training completion.  650 
members of staff have completed the 
awareness e-learning – this represents 
67% of the workforce, a significant increase 
since December 2021. 

7 Monitor the quality and completeness of how 
fraud risks are dealt with in Committee 
reports and provide input to report authors to 
support the written guidance. 

Risk Manager Ongoing In progress 
Risk Manager reviews all Committee 
reports but there will be a particular 
emphasis on fraud, bribery and corruption 
risks going forward.  

                                           Table 8 
 

 
 
6.2 Proactive Counter Fraud Work 

 
6.2.1 The Internal Audit Plan 2021-22 includes 198 days for proactive counter-fraud work across both Merseytravel and the 

Combined Authority.  It is also of note that key anti-fraud controls are also evaluated as part of a significant number of other 
audits within the Plan.   

P
age 26



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 16 
  

 
6.2.2 The Plan includes the following areas of focus shown in Table 9:  
 

Audit Title Days Allocated Progress 

Absence Management 15 Completed 

Credit Cards 15 Completed 

Creditors and Cheque Control 23 Completed 

Debtors 23 Completed 

Insurance Claims 23 Commenced 

Fast Tag Account Management 15 Commenced 

Mersey Ferries - Ticketing and Admissions 23 Scheduled March 2022 

Travel Centres - Income / Stock Reconciliation 23 Commenced 

Tunnel Tolls Income Recording 23 Completed 

Rail Operators - Stock Control 15 Completed 
                                                                                                                                            Table 9 

 
6.2.3 There is also a provision of 12 days in the Plan for the investigation of allegations of fraud or irregularity, and this has not 

been utilised during this quarter. 
 
6.3 Fraud Risks 

 
6.3.1 Given the increase in attempted fraudulent activity that is likely to proliferate during the pandemic, all Heads of Service have 

been reminded to review the fraud risks contained within their Service Risk Registers.  This is with the objective of updating 
of reflecting new and emerging fraud risks, and to ensure that Heads of Service have acknowledged such risks in their 
planning and development of internal controls.   

  
6.4 National Fraud Initiative (NFI) 
 
6.4.1 The organisation participates in the National Fraud Initiative co-ordinated by the Cabinet Office.  Data from the Payroll and 

 Creditors and concessionary travel systems are uploaded to the dedicated Cabinet Office website and are matched with data 
within and between  participating  bodies so as to identify potential frauds, overpayments and errors. On receipt of the 

P
age 27



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 17 
  

results, the organisation has responsibility to follow up and investigate the matches. The main NFI data matching is 
undertaken every two years, the results of these matches are fed into a national report at the end of each cycle.  

 
6.4.2 Matches in respect of the NFI exercise for 2020 were released in January 2021 and the review work is now completed, 

outcomes were reported to this Committee at its November 2021 meeting. 
 
6.5 Investigations  

 
6.5.1 There have been no investigations undertaken by Internal Audit in the quarter. 
 
6.6 Fraud Policy Framework  
 
6.6.1 All fraud policies within the Policy Framework are up to date, having been approved by the Audit and Governance Committee 

and considered by this Committee at respective meetings in November 2021.  Merseytravel approval was not required as the 
updates were minor in nature. 

  

P
age 28



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 18 
  

7.  Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 
 
7.1 Performance Update 
 
7.1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) require that the service maintains a Quality Assurance and Improvement 

Programme (QAIP) which includes a series of performance measures and associated targets.  
 
7.1.2 Performance measures defined in the QAIP are also included within the Internal Audit Service Plan and are thus reported to 

senior management in accordance with the corporate quarterly performance reporting process.  This provides senior 
management oversight and scrutiny of performance and of any remedial actions required to meet identified targets.  

  
7.1.3 Table 10 below details the performance measures and the results for the period: 
 

Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation 

Compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS) 
This measures the extent to which the Internal Audit 
Service complies with the requirements set out in the 
Standards and the Local Government Application Note. 

100% 100% No variance 
The result of the recent external assessment (August 2021) 
details that the service fully complies with the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards. 

Percentage of the Internal Audit Plan 2021-22 
completed 
This measures extent to which the Audit Plan is being 
delivered. The delivery of the Plan is vital in ensuring that 
an appropriate level of assurance is being provided 
across the organisation‟s systems. 

98% 
See Chart 

1 

60% 
See Chart 

1 

Negative Variance 
The service had 98% of the Internal Audit Plan 2021-22 
completed / underway at the end of February 2022. 

Percentage of recommendations implemented within 
a reasonable timescale 
This measures the extent to which managers feel that the 
recommendations made are appropriate and valuable in 
strengthening the control environment and also provides 
the Board with a view on how effective management 
action is in responding to recommendations. 

100% 100% No variance 
No concerns in respect of recommendations made in 2021-
22. 

Percentage of client survey responses indicating a 
"very good" or "good" opinion 

100% 100% No variance 
Feedback positive although response levels are low. 

P
age 29



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 19 
  

Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation 

This measures the feedback received on the service 
provided and seeks to provide assurance that Internal 
Auditors conduct their duties in a professional manner. 

Percentage of annual senior management survey 
responses indicating satisfaction with the Internal 
Audit service provided 
This measures the feedback received from Directors and 
Heads of Service on the service provided and seeks to 
provide assurance that Internal Audit is adding value at a 
strategic level. 

100% N/A Survey to be completed in Q4. 

       Table 10 
 

7.1.4 Charts 1 and below gives a more detailed breakdown of the performance indicator “percentage of the Internal Audit Plan 
2021-22 completed”.  This has been profiled to show the percentage of the Plan that is the target for completion each 
quarter. 

 
                                                  Chart 1 

 
 
 
 

15% 30% 
70% 

92% 100% 

4% 11% 46% 60% 0% 
86% 98% 

QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 FEB-22 QUARTER 4 

Completion of the Internal Audit Plan      
2021-22 

(profiled) 

Target Actual Completed/In Progress

P
age 30



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 20 
  

7.2 Resources 
 
7.2.1 The Internal Audit service is at full complement.  The team‟s resources have not been diverted into any areas of non-audit 

activity during the period. 
  

P
age 31



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 21 
  

8. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 

 
8.1 External Assessment 

 
7.1.1 It is a requirement of the PSIAS that the service must be subject to an external assessment of its compliance with the 

Standards every five years.  The service was subject to such an external assessment (peer review validation of self-
assessment) against the requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) in August 2021.  

 
8.1.2 It was reported to the November Committee meeting that the final report has now been received and this details that the 

outcome of this assessment was that the service fully conforms to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.   
 

8.1.3 The recommendations arising from the review, and the associated progress being made to address these, are shown in 

Table 11.  One recommendation has been completed, and the remaining recommendations have not yet fallen due, although 

action is underway to progress these items: 

      

Ref Action Implementation 
Due Date 

Progress Update 

1100 1. Internal audit should be removed from the grant 
awarding process  
 
Medium priority 
 
At the time of the EQA, Internal Audit were required to 
audit every grant the CA intends to make to external 
organisations prior to the grant payment being made. This 
effectively makes Internal Audit part of the grant awarding 
process and is therefore a potential impairment to their 
independence and objectivity. The CA‟s management 
should review this arrangement and find a solution that 
removes Internal Audit from the grant awarding process, 
ideally by relocating this activity to another part of the 
Authority. 

March 2022 Recommendation agreed.  This is a priority for the 
service and discussions are ongoing with a view to 
removing these responsibilities and relocating these 
elsewhere in the organisation. 
 
Discussions ongoing with a view to handover in quarter 1 
of 2022-23. 

P
age 32



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 22 
  

Ref Action Implementation 
Due Date 

Progress Update 

2400 2. Prepare formal service level agreements for the 
two external companies  
 
Low priority 
 
The Service should enter into formal service level 
agreements with the Beatles Story and the Local 
Enterprise Partnership for the internal audit services 
provided to them. 
 

April 2022 Recommendation agreed.  Service Level Agreements 
have been drafted and will be implemented from 1 April 
2022. 

1100 3. Consider reporting to the senior leadership teams 
on a regular basis  
 
Advisory 
 
It is good practice to report regularly to the Executive 
Leadership Team, not only to discuss progress on 
delivering the audit plan, but to also have a regular 
dialogue on other matters such as corporate issues and 
emerging risks where input from Internal Audit would 
benefit the organisations in achieving their objectives and 
identifying organisation wide issues and risks that could 
be considered for inclusion in the audit plan. 
 

November 2021 Completed 
 
Recommendation agreed.  Quarterly attendances at ELT 
to discuss delivery of the audit plan and related issues 
commenced in November 2021. 
 
Recommendation completed, quarterly ELT attendances 
to present IA Update commenced November 2021. 

1100 4. Consider introducing an annual conformation 
statement to supplement the declarations of interest 
returns 
 
Advisory 
 
It is becoming good practice in local authority internal 
audit services to enhance their annual declarations of 
interest returns by introducing or including a statement for 
internal audit staff to sign to confirm that they have read 
and understood the PSIAS, the core principles for the 

Q4 2021-22 and 
annually thereafter 

Completed 
 
Recommendation agreed.  A statement for the 
acceptance of the various ethical standards will be 
drafted and all audit staff will be required to complete this 
on an annual basis.  This will follow a refresher session 
with the team on ethics. 
 
Refresher session undertaken in March 2022 Team 
Meeting and declarations completed by all staff. 

P
age 33



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 23 
  

Ref Action Implementation 
Due Date 

Progress Update 

professional practice of internal auditing, the code of 
ethics, and the seven principles of public life (the Nolan 
Principles). The HoIA may wish to consider introducing 
such a statement. 

Table 11 

  

P
age 34



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 24 
  

Appendix A: Internal Audit Plan 2021-22 Status Update 
 

 

Auditable Area Corporate LCRCA Merseytravel
Organisational Risk 

Rating

Organisational Risk 

Opinion
Status

Rolling Stock - Power Supply Project Y MODERATE tbc Draft Report Issued
Rolling Stock - Covid-19 Impact Y MODERATE Commenced
Rolling Stock - IPEMU Proof of Concept Y MODERATE Negligible Final Report Issued
Rolling Stock - Asset Ownership Y MODERATE Final Report Issued
Tidal Power - Procurement Review Y MAJOR Moderate Final Report Issued
Investment Models Y MAJOR Minor Final Report Issued
Investment Schemes - FIF Y MAJOR tbc Draft Report Issued
Investment Schemes - Additional Restrictions Grant Y MAJOR Commenced
SIF2 Assurance Framework Y MAJOR Commenced
Learning and Development Y MODERATE tbc Draft Report Issued
Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Corporate Review Y MODERATE Moderate Final Report Issued
Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Office Based Services Y MODERATE Withdrawn
Payroll Y MODERATE tbc Draft Report Issued
Absence Management Y MODERATE Minor Final Report Issued
Ethics / Standards of Conduct Y MODERATE Commenced
Application Control - Haven System Y MODERATE Moderate Final Report Issued
Application Control - Commuter Club Y MODERATE Minor Final Report Issued
Application Control - SCADA Y MODERATE Minor Final Report Issued
Capital Programme Y MODERATE tbc Draft Report Issued
Procurement & Prepaid Cards Y MODERATE Minor Final Report Issued
Creditors Y MODERATE tbc Draft Report Issued
Debtors Y MODERATE Minor Final Report Issued
Governance Assurance Statement 2021-22 Y MODERATE Commenced
LCRCA/MT Annual Governance Statement Review 2020-21 Y MODERATE n/a Final Report Issued
Risk Management Y MODERATE Commenced
Insurance Claims Y MODERATE Commenced
Procurement Y MODERATE Commenced

Entity

P
age 35



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 25 
  

 

Auditable Area Corporate LCRCA Merseytravel
Organisational Risk 

Rating

Organisational Risk 

Opinion
Status

LEP - Governance Annual Review Y MODERATE Minor Final Report Issued

LEP - Growth Platform Creditors Y MODERATE Minor Final Report Issued

ESIF Y MODERATE Commenced

Grant Auditing Arrangements at Local Authorities - Accountable Body 

Status

Y MODERATE Commenced

Asset Management - Service/Maintenance Contracts Y MODERATE Moderate Final Report Issued

Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Asset Management Y MINOR Commenced

Financial Sustainability of Operators and Contractors COVID Y MAJOR Minor Final Report Issued

Alternative Delivery Models Y MODERATE Advice Provided

Recovery Partnerships Y MODERATE Advice Provided

Business Continuity Management Y MODERATE Withdrawn

Fast Tag Account Management Y MINOR Commenced

Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Operational Transport Y MINOR Commenced

Mersey Ferries - New Vessel Y MODERATE Withdrawn

Mersey Ferries - Ticketing and Admissions Y MINOR Scheduled Mar 2022

Travel Centres - Income / Stock Reconciliation Y MINOR Commenced

Tunnel Tolls Income Recording Y MINOR Minor Final Report Issued

The Beatles Story - Information Governance Y MINOR Commenced

Covid-19 Govt Funding Y MODERATE Withdrawn

Operator of Last Resort Y MODERATE Withdrawn

Rail Operators - Stock Control Y MODERATE tbc Draft Report Issued

Brexit Impacts Y MAJOR Withdrawn

Freeport Y MODERATE Withdrawn

Adult Education Budget Y MAJOR Minor Final Report Issued

Digital Infrastructure Y MAJOR tbc Draft Report Issued

Race Equality Y MINOR Moderate Final Report Issued

Seacombe Landing Stage Capital Project Y Major Final Report Issued

Back Up Management Y n/a Commenced

Proactive BAU Management Y n/a tbc Draft Report Issued

Asset Management Y n/a Commenced

Cyber Security - Response (NIST) Y n/a Commenced

LEP - IT Overview Y n/a Commenced

Entity

P
age 36



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 26 
  

Appendix B: Organisational Risk Opinions and Recommendation Priority 
Levels 

 

Organisational Risk Opinions 
 

Recommendation Priority Levels 

 

Major 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a major impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Moderate 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a moderate impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Minor 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a minor impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Negligible 
No risks were identified within the review. 
  

 

 

High 
The recommendation is essential to the management of risk 
within the area under review.   
 

 

Medium  
The recommendation is important to the management of risk 
within the area under review.   
 

 

Advisory  
The recommendation is a suggestion intended to enhance 
the existing management of risk within the area under 
review. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  Audit and Governance Committee 
  
Meeting:  30 March 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  Combined Authority/All Districts 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN AND CHARTER 2022-23 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

The purpose of this report is to provide the Combined Authority Audit and 
Governance Committee with the Internal Audit Plan of work and Internal Audit 
Charter for 2022-23. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

The Audit and Governance Committee is recommended to: 
 

(a) Approve the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 and 
 
(b) Approve the Internal Audit Charter 2022-23. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms 

of Reference, the report details the proposed plan of internal audit work in respect 
of the Combined Authority for 2022-23.  It also includes, in the interests of 
transparency, the planned work for Merseytravel, so that the Committee is fully 
sighted on the planned activities of the Internal Audit function during the 
forthcoming year.  The report explains the detailed process of compilation of the 
Plan, using a risk-based approach, and highlights the key areas for consideration.  
The report highlights the different approach to the compilation of the Plan, to allow 
for more flexibility and responsiveness to emerging and escalating risks.    

 
3.2 The report also provides the Internal Audit Charter for 2022-23 for the approval of 

the Committee.  This document sets out the role, purpose and authority of Internal 
Audit, and highlights the ethical framework within which internal auditors work. 

 
 Both documents are key requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. 
 
 

Page 39

Agenda Item 5



4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1. Financial 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.2. Human Resources 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.3. Physical Assets 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.4. Information Technology 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.5 Programme Management Office (PMO) 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 
6. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
6.1 It is the responsibility of the Combined Authority to establish effective arrangements 

for the management of risk.  The Internal Audit Plan has been produced using a 
risk-based approach which facilitates targeting resource to those organisational 
areas of greatest risk and allows for flexibility to react to and reflect the 
organisation’s changing risk profile during the year. 

 
6.2 Internal audit work is one strand of assurance regarding the effectiveness of the 

system of internal control and this can be utilised to inform the Combined Authority’s 
view of organisational risk and its management. 

 
 
7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 

 
8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 

 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
 

Page 40



9. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
10. CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 Internal Audit has produced a plan of work for the 2022-23 financial year, which 

concentrates on areas of most significant organisational risk, so as to contribute to 
the maintenance of an effective internal control environment and management of 
risk. 

 
10.2 Internal Audit has also produced an Internal Audit Charter for 2022-23 which 

highlights the role of internal audit and how it will conduct its work. 
 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

 
 

Contact Officer(s): 
Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit    
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 – Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2022-23  
Appendix 2 – Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 
Appendix 3 – Internal Audit Charter 2022-23 
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
AND MERSEYTRAVEL 

 

 

INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN AND CHARTER 2022-23 
 

Audit and Governance Committee 

30 March 2022 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 
Head of Internal Audit 

P
age 43



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2022-23 Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 

 
Page 

 
1. Executive Summary         2 

 
2. Plan Compilation and Principles       3 

 
3. Organisational Context         6 

 
4. Composition          7 

 
5. Core Audit           9         

 
6. Responsive Audit         11 

 
7. Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme    12 

 
8. Internal Audit Charter        13 

 

 

 

  

P
age 44



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2022-23 Page | 2 
 

1.  Executive Summary 
 
1.1 This report provides the Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2022-23 for the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) 

and Merseytravel. 
 

1.2 The Internal Audit Plan is a key requirement of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (hereafter referred to as “the 
Standards”) and is vital in demonstrating the Internal Audit service’s continued compliance. 

 
1.3 The Plan demonstrates how internal audit resources will be used during the financial year so as to provide assurance on the 

effectiveness of the internal control systems in place in both organisations, so as to inform the Annual Report and Opinion of 
the Head of Internal Audit for 2022-23 for LCRCA and Merseytravel respectively. 

 
1.4 Particular attention has been paid to ensuring that the Internal Audit Plan is reflective of, and much more responsive to, the 

rapidly changing risk landscape of the organisation, so as to ensure that the work of Internal Audit directly contributes to 
providing insight and assurance in those areas of most significant threat to the achievement of the strategic objectives set out 
in the Corporate Plan.  This approach has been established through consultation with relevant stakeholders. 

 

1.5 The Internal Audit Charter sets out the role, purpose and authority of Internal Audit, and details the behaviours and values 

adopted by audit staff. 

 
  

P
age 45



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2022-23 Page | 3 
 

2.  Plan Compilation and Principles 
 
2.1 The Standards state that the “Chief Audit Executive” must “establish risk-based plans to determine the priorities of the internal 

audit activity, consistent with the organisation’s goals”. They refer to the need for the plan to reflect the assurance framework, 
risk management arrangements and to take account of input from management and “the board”. 
 

2.2 In meeting this Standard, an extensive consultation exercise has been undertaken to identify potential areas for audit, 
comprising: 

 

 Review of the Corporate, Service and project/programme risk registers; 

 Cumulative audit knowledge and experience; 

 Findings and outcomes from previous audit work; 

 Engagement with Directorate Management Teams; and 

 Evaluation of the risks highlighted by the work undertaken in completing the Internal Audit Plan 2021-22. 
 

2.3  By implementing a risk-based methodology, the Plan is intended to ensure that Internal Audit resource is used to concentrate 
on the most significant identified risks which may jeopardise the achievement of the strategic objectives, as detailed in the 
Corporate Plan.  Such a focus on risk is also intended to assist management in understanding the risks within their own 
service delivery areas and within key projects and programmes, and to assist them in developing robust and resource-
effective controls to mitigate these risks.  This is intended to support the Corporate Behaviour “action focus” in assisting in the 
delivery of objectives. 

 
2.4 In order to ensure that Internal Audit is agile and able to respond to changes in the risk profile, this year’s Plan has been 

constructed in a different way, with a greater emphasis on flexibility and responsiveness.  In contrast to previous years, the 
Plan introduces a specific element of “responsive” audit to the Plan: 

P
age 46



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2022-23 Page | 4 
 

 

2.5 The “core audit” element of the Plan relates to areas of audit work that are either statutory requirements or requirements of 

government or are areas of key risk.  Coverage of these areas is considered essential to delivering a comprehensive 

assurance on the effectiveness of internal control, governance and risk management.  This comprises areas such as:  

 Governance; 

 Risk management; 

 IT; 

 Financial systems; 

 Counter-fraud bribery and corruption; 

Responsive  

audit 

Reactive  

audit 

Core  

audit 

P
age 47



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2022-23 Page | 5 
 

 Procurement; and 

 Performance management. 

2.6 The “responsive audit” element of the Plan relates to work to be conducted in response to identified areas of significant risk 
to the organisation. In the past, the Audit Plan would be devised at the start of the year, based upon those risks seen as 
significant at that time.  Increasingly, it has been highlighted that as the year progresses, those risks are often superseded by 
new and emerging risks, risks escalating in score, and others de-escalating, and new projects, programmes and funding 
streams coming into being.  So as to remain relevant and connected to these developments and ensure that Internal Audit 
work is relevant and risk-based, a flexible and fluid approach is being taken, meaning that this element of the Plan is not 
prescribed in advance, but is developed as the result of ongoing consultation and engagement with senior management so as 
to ensure it adds the value that is required and provides assurance on the key areas of risk. Such an approach is made 
possible because of the significant developments in the embeddedness of the corporate system of risk management, and it is 
felt that risk information and understanding across the organisation is sufficiently mature that this approach will be a success.  
It has been stressed to all Directorate Management Teams that the success of the approach relies on the continued 
development of this system, and all are supportive of this in order to derive the significant benefits the approach will deliver to 
the business. 

 
2.7 The “reactive audit” element of the Plan relates to a provision of time for the investigation of matters brought to the attention 

of Internal Audit on an ad hoc basis, such as allegations of fraud, bribery or corruption, or confidential reports (“whistleblows”).  
Should this time not be required, this time will be used for the “responsive audit” element of the Plan.  

P
age 48



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2022-23 Page | 6 
 

3.  Organisational Context 
 
3.1 The organisational context for the Internal Audit Plan continues to be one of significant and fast-paced change. The key recent 

developments include: 
 

 Development of plans to meet the Combined Authority’s net zero carbon target by 2040; 

 Success in obtaining the City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement funding; 

 Emergence of the implications of the Levelling Up White Paper for the City Region; 

 Awaiting details of the mechanisms for funding to replace EU structural funds – UK Shared Prosperity Fund; 

 Publication of the Plan for Prosperity, an integrated economic and place-based strategy for the City Region; 

 Development of a model for the future shape of bus services across the City Region; and 

 Development and introduction to service of the new trains to operate on the Merseyrail network. 
 
3.2 In order to ensure that the opportunities presented by these developments are maximised, supporting the delivery of the 

objectives articulated in the Corporate Plan, it is important that the organisation manages the associated risks effectively and 
establishes and maintains robust systems of internal control and sound corporate governance.  

 
3.3 The approach to the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23, and in particular the inclusion of the Responsive Audit element, ensures 

scope to provide assurance on the extent to which sound risk management, internal control and governance have been 
established and are effective in respect of key developing systems, new/emerging areas of risk or significant opportunities.  

 
3.4 Furthermore, the role of Internal Audit in providing advice and guidance in respect of new opportunities and developing 

systems, so that assurance can be provided on the extent to which planned systems mitigate risk, coupled with reviews of the 
key systems and processes that will support delivery.  This proactive involvement of Internal Audit at an early stage of system 
and project development has been stressed with Executive Directors and their management teams as a key method in which 
Internal Audit can add value.  

 
  

P
age 49



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2022-23 Page | 7 
 

 

4.  Composition 
 
4.1 The Internal Audit Plan has been based upon 1426 available audit days. This is following the deduction of bank holidays, 

annual leave, staff training and development and general administration. There are also additional days provided by an 
Internal Audit Services Provider for the provision of technical ICT audit, which is to be confirmed as a result of the ongoing 
procurement exercise (expected to be in the region of 45 days). 

 
4.2 The Plan is composed of the following key areas: 
 

Plan Heading Description Audit Days 
LCRCA Merseytravel 

 
Total 

Core Audit Provision of assurance in respect of statutory requirements or 
requirements of government or areas of key risk.  

227.5 227.5 455 

Responsive Audit Provision of assurance in respect of areas of 
new/emerging/escalating risks and developing systems. 

385 385 

Reactive Audit Allocation of time for investigation of matters brought to the 
attention of Internal Audit on an ad hoc basis, such as 
allegations of fraud, bribery or corruption, or confidential 
reports (“whistleblows”).   

58 
 

58 

Subsidiaries 
 

Work completed as part of Letter of Engagement and to be 
delivered to Growth Platform and The Beatles Story 
respectively. 

25 25 50 

Guidance and 
Consultancy 
 

Providing input to key corporate projects and advising on 
developing systems and emerging risks. 

65.5 65.5 131 

Management and 
Corporate 
Responsibilities 
 

Audit management including engagement with the Executive 
and Senior Leadership Teams, quality assurance of audit work, 
and responsibilities such as facilitating the corporate counter-
fraud, bribery and corruption policy framework. 
 

173.5 173.5 347 

TOTAL AUDIT DAYS   1426 

P
age 50



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2022-23 Page | 8 
 

 
 

4.4 The detailed Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 is shown at Appendix 2.  

P
age 51



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2022-23 Page | 9 
 

5.  Core Audit 

 
5.1 Within the Core Audit element of the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23, there are a number of key areas of coverage that are either 

required to be delivered on an annual basis because of a requirement in statute or guidance, or they represent risks so 
significant to the organisation that audit work is performed annually in order to provide assurance in respect of the internal 
control framework, risk management and governance in operation. These audit areas are set out in their entirety at the 
planning stage, and it should be expected that all areas will be covered during the year. 

 
5.2 The main areas of note within the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 are: 
 

Corporate Governance 
This is the annual review of the organisation’s corporate governance arrangements, in accordance with the CIPFA/Solace 
“Delivering Good Governance in Local Government” (2016) so as to inform the Annual Governance Statements for both 
organisations. 
 
Risk Management 
Review of the extent to which robust and effective arrangements for risk management have been embedded within the 
organisation, so as to optimise delivery of the objectives articulated in the Corporate Plan and supporting plans. 
 

 Information Technology 
Technical ICT audit is provided via a contractual arrangement with an external service provider (there is an ongoing 
procurement exercise regarding the provider for 2022-23), based upon a specific risk assessment.  Less technical areas such 
as the audit of application control are to be carried out by the in-house audit team.   
 
Financial Systems 
Reviews of the key controls over the most significant areas of financial transactions across the organisation.   
 
 
 

P
age 52



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2022-23 Page | 10 
 

 Counter-fraud, bribery and corruption 
This relates to the proactive internal audit work to contribute to the prevention and detection of fraud, appraising the 
effectiveness of anti-fraud controls in place.   
 
This work is informed by the fraud risks found within Service Risk Registers, such as misappropriation of funds; misuse of 
resources; procurement fraud; bribery and corruption of officers/members; recruitment fraud; and creditor fraud. 

 
These risks also include the potential for the organisation to be a victim of fraud perpetrated by another individual or 
organisation.  

 
Procurement 
This is a key area for review as the activities of the organisation grow, and this work will seek to provide assurance on the 
extent to which goods and services procured are subject to procurement exercises where necessary and ensure that the 
routes to procurement are compliant with the Constitution and Public Contract regulations. 
 
Performance Management 
This review will seek to provide assurance on the operation and effectiveness of the corporate system for managing delivery 
of the priorities articulated in the Corporate Plan.   

 
Investment Schemes 
Thematic review of the controls specific to a number of investment schemes, including review of compliance with the 
Assurance Framework, and risk management processes. 
 
  

P
age 53



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2022-23 Page | 11 
 

6.  Responsive Audit 

 
6.1 As detailed in section 2 of this report, the “Responsive Audit” element of the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 is not prescribed at 

the start of the financial year so as to allow the service to focus its attention on completion of the areas considered to be of 
highest risk to the organisation as the year progresses.   

 
6.2 Audits for completion will be drawn from the list of themes derived from risk registers at Corporate, Service and Project levels 

and detailed at Appendix 2.  It is expected that these themes will change through the year as risks change.  The approach 
gives the service the flexibility to adapt and respond to these as necessary.  This does mean however, that a full list of audits 
to be completed during the year is not included within the Plan.  This is intentional and supports the responsive, risk-based 
approach.  However, so as to provide transparency on the work completed and the rationale, the Internal Audit update reports 
presented to each meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee and Merseytravel Audit, Risk and Governance Board will 
detail the responsive audits to be completed in each quarter, including a rationale based upon risk. 

 
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

  

P
age 54



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2022-23 Page | 12 
 

7.  Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP)  
 
 
7.1 The Standards require that the Internal Audit function establishes a Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP), 

and in doing so, develops its quality and effectiveness. 
 
7.2 A suite of performance indicators has been developed to allow for reporting and monitoring the performance and effectiveness 

of the service, so as to provide an assurance of the quality of its work and usage of the results of this monitoring to improve 
continuously the service provided. 

 
7.3 Key details of the outcomes of audit work will continue to be presented to every meeting of the Audit and Governance 

Committee and the Merseytravel Audit, Risk and Governance Board.  
 

7.4 For 2022-23, the performance indicators and associated targets are: 
 

Description and Purpose Target 

Compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 
This measures the extent to which the results of internal assessment indicate that the Service retains its full compliance 
with the PSIAS. 

100% 
 

Percentage of Client Survey responses indicating a “very good” or “good” opinion 
This measures the feedback received on the service provided and seeks to provide assurance that Internal Auditors 
conduct their duties in a professional manner. 

100% 

Percentage of annual senior management survey responses indicating satisfaction with the Internal Audit 
service provided 
This measures the feedback received on the level of satisfaction amongst senior management, expressed during the 
annual satisfaction survey. 

100% 

Percentage of recommendations implemented within a reasonable timescale 
This measures the extent to which managers feel that the recommendations made are appropriate and valuable in 
strengthening the control environment and also provides the Board with a view on how effective management action is in 
responding to recommendations. 

100% 

P
age 55



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2022-23 Page | 13 
 

8.  Internal Audit Charter  
 
8.1  In compliance with the Standards, Internal Audit is required to establish a Charter which sets out its role, purpose and 

authority. 
 
8.2  This provides clarity and legitimacy to the role of Internal Audit in the organisation and assists the function in operating in line 

within an agreed framework. 
 
8.3  The document acts as a guide for Internal Auditors in their daily work, but also assists officers and members in understanding 

what internal audit is and how it operates.  The document includes a Code of Ethics which details the ethical behaviour and 
standards auditors are required to demonstrate, to which all auditors attest on an annual basis. 

 
8.4  The Charter has been prepared so as to meet the Standards and incorporates all relevant requirements. 
 
8.5  The Charter is shown at Appendix 3. This is reviewed and presented to this Board on an annual basis. 

 

P
age 56



Internal Audit Plan 2022-23

Auditable Area Entity Audit Days Scope Risk Rationale

IT Application Control Corp 45 Review of controls across a range of key applications.  Corporate Risk Register - Resilience

Business Continuity Management Corp 15

Concerns the completeness and effectiveness of arrangements established for 

the continuity of service provision in the event of a major incident in the City 

Region or an incident affecting CA staff or assets. Corporate Risk Register - Resilience 

Staffing and Capacity Corp 15

Concerns how staffing is aligned across the business to deliver the Corporate 

Plan. Corporate Risk Register  - Resilience

Payroll Corp 15 Review of controls in respect of the payroll system. 

Corporate Risk Register 2022-23 - 

Financial 

Key Financial Systems Corp 45 Review of controls in respect of key financial systems. 

Corporate Risk Register 2022-23 - 

Financial 

Annual Governance Review Corp 45

Statutory work under the Accounts and Audit Regulations to support the 

compilation of the Annual Governance Statements.

Underpins all Corporate Risks

Statutory requirement

Risk Management Corp 15

Review of the system of corporate risk management and the extent to which 

this is embedded across the organisation.

Underpins the Corporate Risk Register 

process

Environment, Energy and Net Zero Corp 15

Arrangements in place and being developed to translate net zero ambitions into 

actions, and progress towards environmental targets.  Also includes projects 

including Tidal, and the financial pressures arising from increasing energy 

prices. Corporate Risk Register - Environment

Procurement Corp 15

Review of the procurement system to ensure compliance with relevant 

guidance and legislation.

Corporate Risk Register 2022-23 - 

Financial 

Proactive Counter-Fraud Corp 30

Completion of a range of audit reviews of controls to prevent and detect fraud, 

bribery and corruption.

Corporate Risk Register 2022-23 - 

Financial 

Performance Management Corp 15

Review of the system of corporate performance management and the extent to 

which this is embedded across the organisation.

Underpins the Corporate Risk Register 

process

Programme / Project Assurance - Delivery Boards Corp 15

A review of the effectiveness of programme and project management,  across 

a number of schemes.  Work with include appraisal of the Delivery Boards and 

their role in supporting delivery. Corporate Risk Register - Devolution Deal

Financial Sustainability Corp 15

Consideration of key risks including the organisation's own financial position 

and sustainability, but also those pertaining the wider City Region and national 

economy.

Corporate Risk Register 2022-23 - 

Financial 

City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement CA 15

Review of a number of aspects to provide assurance over the key areas of this 

significant funding area. Corporate Risk Register - Transport

Investment Schemes / Assurance Frameworks CA 15 Thematic review of the controls specific to a number of investment schemes. Corporate Risk Register - Devolution Deal

Capital Schemes Corp 15

Review of the management of Capital Schemes. Particular focus on adherence 

to contractual obligations Corporate Risk Register - Devolution Deal

Rolling Stock MT 45 Reviews of key areas of control to align with key stages of project delivery.  Corporate Risk Register - Transport

Transport Operators MT 20

Management and interaction with bus and rail operators, including 

management of the rail concession, role in managing the bus network, and 

ensuring resilience and continuity of service. Corporate Risk Register - Transport

ICT Technical Audit Corp 45

Plan and number of days to be confirmed once procurement exercise is 

concluded.  Expected to be approximately 45 days. Corporate Risk Register - Resilience

TOTAL 455

Bus Reform MT

Key corporate project to provide a new model for the provision of bus services 

across the City Region. Bus Reform Project Risk Register

CORE AUDIT

RESPONSIVE AUDIT

P
age 57



Corporate Governance Corp

Suite of key corporate reviews to supplement the work on the Annual 

Governance Review.

Underpins all Corporate Risks

Data Management Corp

Concerns the arrangements in place for the collection, management and use of 

data to support bids for funding, decision making and evaluation of outcomes. Service Risk Registers

Equality Corp

Key agenda for ensuring that equality impacts are reflected in decision-making, 

but also that the CA is using its position to promote the potential of all groups 

across the City Region. Service Risk Registers

Government Funding Corp

Key risks here include ensuring that the organisation has the resources and 

capacity to support the delivery of key projects, utilise funding to best effect and 

also ensure success in funding bids.

Underpins Corporate Risk Register - 

Devolution Deal

Grant Assurance Corp

Concerns ensuring that the significant responsibilities and conditions that 

accompany government funding are being complied with. Service Risk Registers

Health, Safety and Wellbeing Corp

Concerns the statutory obligations to provide a safe working environment for 

staff. Service Risk Registers

HR Operations and Systems Corp

Key risks exist here around alignment of staffing resource to areas of need, 

planning for a resilient workforce, and developing staff capability. HR Service Risk Register

Programme / Project / Contract Management MT

Key risks relating to project and programme control management and delivery, 

in order to deliver schemes on time and within budget and to harness projected 

outcomes for the City Region. Project and programme risk registers

Stakeholder Engagement, Communications and Reputation Management Corp

Concerns how the organisation relates and interacts effectively internally and 

with key stakeholders, including using its role to influence so as to maximise its 

opportunities for funding. Service Risk Registers

Supply Chain Management Corp

Concerns the increasing global risks in relation to suppliers, and how the 

organisation seeks to operate in a resilient manner without undue delays or 

other issues. Service Risk Registers

TOTAL 385

REACTIVE AUDIT

Allocation of time for investigation of matters brought to the attention of 

Internal Audit on an ad hoc basis, such as allegations of fraud, bribery or 

corruption, or confidential reports (“whistleblows”). 

Corp 58  

TOTAL 58

LEP/Growth Platform

Audit work in accordance with agreed Letter of Engagement and Plan.

CA 25

The Beatles Story

Audit work in accordance with agreed Letter of Engagement and Plan.

MT 25

TOTAL 50

CA 65.5

MT 65.5

TOTAL
131

Audit management including engagement with the Executive and Senior 

Leadership Teams, quality assurance of audit work, and responsibilities 

such as facilitating the corporate counter-fraud, bribery and corruption policy 

framework.

Corp 347

TOTAL
347

1426

TOTAL AUDIT DAYS

Providing input to key corporate projects and advising on developing 

systems and emerging risks.

MANAGEMENT AND CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITIES

GUIDANCE AND CONSULTANCY

SUBSIDIARIES

P
age 58



 
 

 

 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY  

AND MERSEYTRAVEL 

 
 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER 2022-23 

 
Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 
Head of Internal Audit 

 

Contents 

P
age 59



 
 

 

           

          Page 

1. Purpose        2 

2. Definitions        3 

3. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards    5 

4. Responsibilities of Internal Audit     6 

5. Independence of Internal Audit     7 

6. The Head of Internal Audit      8 

7. The Scope of Internal Audit     9 

Appendix A: Internal Audit Code of Ethics    13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 60



 
 

 

1. Purpose 
. Introduction 
1.1 The purpose of the Internal Audit Charter is to define internal audit‟s purpose, authority and responsibility. It establishes 

internal audit‟s position within Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) and Merseytravel and defines the scope 
of internal audit activities.   

 
1.2 The presence, and annual approval of the Internal Audit Charter is a key requirement of the Public Sector Internal Audit 

Standards issued in June 2017 (“the Standards”).  The requirements of an Internal Audit Charter are defined in the 
Standards at Standard 1000: Purpose, Authority and Responsibility.  The Charter must: 

 
• define the terms „board‟ and „senior management‟ for the purposes of internal audit activity; 
• cover the arrangements for appropriate resourcing; 
• define the role of internal audit in any fraud-related work; and  
• describe safeguards to impairment of independence or objectivity if internal audit or the Head of Internal Audit 

undertakes non-audit activities. 
 
1.3 This Charter is reviewed annually by the Head of Internal Audit and updated as required so as to reflect changes to the 

Standards or to the operating environment and is presented to the LCRCA Audit and Governance Committee and 
Merseytravel Board for approval. 

 
  

P
age 61



 
 

 

2. Definitions 
 
2.1 The Standards define Internal Auditing as “an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add 

value and improve an organisation‟s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a 
systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance 
processes”. 

 
2.2 The Standards define the Mission of Internal Audit as: “to enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-

based and objective assurance, advice and insight”. 
 
2.3 The Standards also include ten Core Principles of Internal Audit: 
 

 Demonstrates integrity; 

 Demonstrates competence and due professional care; 

 Is objective and free from undue influence (independent); 

 Aligns with the strategies, objectives, and risks of the organisation; 

 Is appropriately positioned and adequately resourced; 

 Demonstrates quality and continuous improvement; 

 Communicates effectively; 

 Provides risk-based assurance; 

 Is insightful, proactive, and future-focused; and 

 Promotes organisational improvement. 
 
2.4 The Standards require that the Internal Audit Charter defines the terms "board", "senior management" and "Chief Audit 

Executive" in relation to the work of internal audit: 
 
 
 
 

Term Definition 

P
age 62



 
 

 

The Board Audit and Governance Committee and the Merseytravel Board (supported by the Audit, Risk and 
Governance Board) assume the role of the Board as defined by the Standards. 
 
The Boards are responsible for overseeing the work of internal audit and provide independent 
review of the Authority‟s governance, risk management and control frameworks and oversee the 
financial reporting and annual governance processes.  They help to ensure efficient and effective 
assurance arrangements are in place.   
 

Senior 
Management 

The Executive Leadership Team (ELT) fulfils the role of “senior management” as defined by the 
Standards.   The Chief Executive (as Head of Paid Service), Executive Director of Corporate 
Services (as Section 73 Officer) and the Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer, are the 
Statutory Officers. The Executive Director of Corporate Services is responsible for ensuring 
appropriate internal audit arrangements are established and maintained. 
 

Chief Audit 
Executive 

The Head of Internal Audit fulfils the Chief Audit Executive (CAE) role, as defined by the 
Standards. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 63



 
 

 

3. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
 
3.1 The Relevant Internal Audit Standard Setters, which includes the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

(CIPFA), adopted the Standards with effect from 1 April 2013.  These Standards replaced the CIPFA Code of Practice for 
Internal Audit in Local Government in the United Kingdom 2006 (“The Code”). The Standards encompass the mandatory 
elements of the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (CIIA) International Professional Practices Framework (IPPF).   

 
3.2 The Standards were subject to review and update in April 2017 and can be accessed via the following link: Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards (April 2017) 
 
3.3 Compliance with the Standards is mandatory.  CIPFA has developed a Local Government Application Note (LGAN) 

detailing the sector-specific requirements for compliance with the Standards within Local Authorities and other relevant 
public sector bodies, including Combined Authorities.  This consists of an extensive self-assessment, which facilitates 
consistent interpretation of the Standards within the public sector environment and enables compliance with the 
requirements of the Standards to be evaluated. 

 
3.4 The Head of Internal Audit must undertake a self-assessment of compliance with the Standards on a regular basis. An 

external assessment or validation of the self-assessment must also be conducted at least once every five years, by a 
qualified, independent assessor or assessment team from outside the organisation. The results of these assessments are 
reported to the Audit and Governance Committee and Audit, Risk and Governance Board and levels of compliance 
comprise one of the Internal Audit Service‟s performance indicators. 

 
 
 

  

P
age 64

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/standards/public-sector-internal-audit-standards
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/standards/public-sector-internal-audit-standards


 
 

 

4. Responsibilities 
 
4.1 The Executive Director of Corporate Services is required to ensure that appropriate arrangements are made for the 

provision of an effective and comprehensive internal audit service. This includes ensuring that the Chief Audit Executive 
demonstrates sufficient professional competence and experience and ensuring that the service is appropriately resourced. 

 
4.2 The Internal Audit function is responsible for establishing procedures and applying the required resources to ensure that 

the service conforms to the Mission Statement and Definition of Internal Auditing, the Core Principles and the Standards.  
All members of the Internal Audit team must also demonstrate conformance with a Code of Ethics, which is attached at 
Appendix A.      

 
4.3 The Head of Internal Audit must deliver an Annual Report and Opinion in respect of both the Combined Authority and 

Merseytravel which conclude on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of each organisation‟s framework of governance, 
risk management and control.  These used to inform the Annual Governance Statements of the respective organisations.  

 
4.4 Senior Management has a responsibility to maintain an effective internal control environment.  They must work effectively 

with Internal Audit by providing relevant input to the audit planning process and completion of audit work, and crucially by 
responding promptly and effectively to recommendations made by Internal Audit. Implementation of recommendations is 
monitored by Internal Audit and reported to the Audit and Governance Committee and Audit, Risk and Governance Board.  
Officers may be required to attend either forum to explain their approach to implementation of recommendations and 
account for any delays or lack of progress. 

 
 
 
 
  

P
age 65



 
 

 

5. Independence of Internal Audit 
 
5.1 The Internal Audit service must be independent and internal auditors must be objective in performing their work. The Head 

of Internal Audit must confirm the organisational independence of the internal audit activity, at least annually, and this is 
confirmed within the Annual Report.  

 
5.2 The Head of Internal Audit has operational responsibility for the facilitation of the system of corporate risk management, 

and also the management of the corporate insurance portfolio.  Where this is likely to create a potential or perceived 
conflict or compromise to the independence of the Internal Audit function, the statutory role held by the Head of Internal 
Audit takes precedence, and operational safeguards are in place to preserve against any perceived impairment of 
objectivity. For example, the independence of the Head of Internal Audit is maintained when audit work in this area is 
taking place, utilising the Executive Director of Corporate Services, Audit Manager and Risk Manager roles to remove the 
Head of Internal Audit from shaping the audit scope or commenting on findings. 

 
5.3 As well as completing an annual statement of conformance with the Internal Audit Code of Ethics (see Appendix A) 

Internal Auditors complete a corporate Declaration of Interest form on an annual basis, and these are updated if changes 
are required.  Declarations are reviewed and any action required to preserve independence and objectivity taken, to 
ensure that the independence of future internal audit work could not be perceived to have been compromised. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 66



 
 

 

 

6. The Head of Internal Audit 
 
6.1 The Executive Director of Corporate Services must be satisfied that the Head of Internal Audit has sufficient skill, 

experience and professional competence to work with Senior Management, the Audit and Governance Committee and 
Merseytravel Board to appraise and inform the risk management, governance and internal control arrangements of the 
organisation.  

 
6.2 The Head of Internal Audit is responsible for ensuring that the members of the Internal Audit team possess the appropriate 

knowledge, skills, qualifications and experience to deliver the Internal Audit Plan and to meet the requirements of the 
Standards.   

 
6.3 The Head of Internal Audit reports directly to the Executive Director of Corporate Services.  The Head of Internal Audit has 

an independent right of access to the Chairs of the Audit and Governance Committee and Audit, Risk and Governance 
Board, if required.  In exceptional circumstances, where normal reporting channels may be seen to impinge on the 
objectivity of the audit, the Head of Internal Audit may report directly to the Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee or 
the Audit, Risk and Governance Board.  Where appropriate, the Head of Internal Audit also reports matters of concern 
directly to the Chief Executive. 

 
6.4 The Head of Internal Audit, or an appropriate representative of the Internal Audit team, attends all meetings of the Audit and 

Governance Committee and Audit, Risk and Governance Board unless, exceptionally, the Audit and Governance 
Committee or Audit, Risk and Governance Board decides that they should be excluded from either the whole meeting or 
from particular agenda items.   

 
6.5 Internal Audit co-operates with and assists the appointed External Auditors, who are invited to attend all meetings of the 

Audit and Governance Committee and Audit, Risk and Governance Board. 
 
 

 

P
age 67



 
 

 

7. Scope of Internal Audit 
 
7.1 The Head of Internal Audit has developed and maintains a process for providing the Executive Director of Corporate 

Services with an objective evaluation of, and opinions on, the effectiveness of the organisation‟s risk management, 
governance and internal control arrangements, culminating in the Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion.   

 
7.2 Internal Audit‟s activities should be undertaken effectively and efficiently and with due professional competence. 
 
7.3 In forming the Annual Report and Opinion, the internal audit activity must evaluate and contribute to the improvement of 

governance, risk management and control processes using a systematic, disciplined and risk-based approach.  Internal 
Audit‟s work is determined through an annual and ongoing risk assessment and planning process, undertaken in 
conjunction with officers and with regard for the relevant risk registers.  The Internal Audit Plan is flexible, so it is able to 
reflect the changing risk profile of the organisation and is subject to ongoing review and update during the year to ensure 
that it is fit for purpose and responds effectively to provide assurance on key risks. The Internal Audit Plan is approved by 
the Audit and Governance Committee and Merseytravel Board. 

 
7.4 Internal Audit must assess and make appropriate recommendations for improving the organisation‟s governance framework 

in its accomplishment of the following objectives: 
 

 promoting appropriate ethics and values within the organisation;  

 ensuring effective organisational performance management and accountability;  

 communicating risk and control information to appropriate areas of the organisation; and  

 co-ordinating the activities of and communicating information to the Audit and Governance Committee, Audit, Risk and 
Governance Board, Merseytravel Board, external audit, internal auditors and senior management. 

 
7.5 Internal audit must evaluate the effectiveness of, and contribute to, the improvement of risk management by: 
 

 ensuring significant risks are identified and assessed when scoping audit work; and 

 ensuring that audit recommendations are appropriate to address key risk areas identified. 
 

P
age 68



 
 

 

7.6 Internal Audit must assist the organisation in maintaining an effective control environment by evaluating its effectiveness 
and efficiency and by promoting continuous improvement. Internal Audit must evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of 
controls in responding to risks within the organisation‟s governance, operations and information systems regarding:  

 

 achievement of the organisation‟s strategic objectives as defined by the Corporate Plan; 

 reliability and integrity of financial and operational information; 

 securing value for money economic; 

 effectiveness and efficiency of operations and programmes; 

 safeguarding of the Authority‟s assets and interests from losses of all kinds, including those arising from theft, fraud, 
irregularity, corruption or bribery; and 

 compliance with laws, regulations, policies, procedures and contracts. 
 

The Head of Internal Audit must ensure appropriate internal audit arrangements are in place in respect of partnership or joint 
working arrangements. 

 
 
7.7 Internal Audit may provide an advisory and consultancy service.  Such work often arises as a result of a specific request 

by senior management.  The aim of the consultancy service is to provide advice and guidance to help senior management 
to improve the Authority‟s‟ risk management, governance and internal control arrangements, and therefore this would not 
usually form part of the Head of Internal Audit‟s Annual Opinion. 

 
7.8 The Head of Internal Audit must consider the effect on the work required to formulate the Annual Opinion before accepting 

consultancy work or management requests.  Approval would be sought from the Audit and Governance Committee and/or 
Merseytravel Board for any significant additional consulting services not already included in the Internal Audit Plan prior to 
accepting the engagement, if it is deemed that undertaking this work could compromise delivery of the agreed Internal 
Audit Plan or impinge on the Head of Internal Audit‟s ability to deliver the Annual Report and Opinion.   

 
7.9 Managing the risk of fraud, bribery and corruption is the responsibility of management. The Executive Director of 

Corporate Services has specific responsibilities in relation to the detection and investigation of fraud and may request 
Internal Audit to assist with the investigation of suspected fraud or corruption. Internal audit should be notified of all 
suspected or detected fraud, corruption or impropriety, to inform its work and its opinion on the control environment.  

P
age 69



 
 

 

 
7.10 The Executive Director of Corporate Services and Head of Internal Audit will ensure that the Authority is seeking to ensure 

appropriate governance and operational arrangements in place to counter fraud, bribery and corruption, in accordance 
with the (non-statutory) requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption 
(2014). Compliance with the Code and ongoing actions to achieve compliance will be reported to the Audit and 
Governance Committee, and Audit, Risk and Governance Board as appropriate. 

 
7.11 Progress reports will be presented to the Audit and Governance Committee and Audit, Risk and Governance Board on a 

quarterly basis during the year, in accordance with the requirements of Internal Audit‟s Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Programme (QAIP). These reports will detail the key findings, opinions and key recommendations arising 
from Internal Audit work completed in the period. 

 
7.12 The culmination of the work completed by Internal Audit during the year is the Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and 

Opinion, which are produced in respect of the Combined Authority and Merseytravel and are presented to Senior 
Management and the Audit and Governance Committee and the Merseytravel Board respectively on an annual basis 
following financial year end.  Each report sets out the Head of Internal Audit‟s opinion, based upon the work completed 
during the year, on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the framework of governance, risk management, and 
internal control in the Combined Authority and in Merseytravel respectively.  This report conforms to the Standards. 

  
7.13 Where necessary in the conduct of their work, internal auditors are entitled to require and receive: 
 

 access to all records, documents and correspondence relating to any financial or other relevant transactions, including 
documents of a confidential nature; 

 access at all reasonable times to any land, premises and officer of the organisation, or officers acting on behalf of the 
organisation; 

 the production of any cash, assets or other property of the organisation under an officer‟s control; and 

 explanations concerning any matter under investigation. 
 
 
7.14 If the Head of Internal Audit or the Audit and Governance Committee or Merseytravel Board considers that the level of 

audit resources or its terms of reference in any way limits the scope of Internal Audit or prejudices the ability of internal 

P
age 70



 
 

 

audit to deliver a service consistent with the Definition of Internal Auditing and the Standards, the Statutory Officers should 
be advised accordingly. 

 
 

  

P
age 71



 
 

 

APPENDIX A 
INTERNAL AUDIT CODE OF ETHICS  

Requirements 
 
In accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (“the Standards”), internal auditors in UK public sector 
organisations must conform to a Code of Ethics.  
 
If individual internal auditors have membership of a professional body, then they must also comply with the relevant requirements 
of that organisation. 
 
The purpose of the Code of Ethics is to promote an ethical culture in the profession of internal auditing. A Code of Ethics is 
necessary and appropriate for the profession of internal auditing, founded as it is on the trust placed in its objective assurance 
regarding risk management, internal control and governance. 
 
The Code of Ethics includes two essential components: 
 
1. Principles that are relevant to the profession and practice of internal auditing; and 
 
2. Rules of Conduct that describe behaviour expected of internal auditors.  
 
These rules are an aid to interpreting the Principles into practical applications and are intended to guide the ethical conduct of 
internal auditors. 
 
The Code of Ethics provides guidance to internal auditors serving others. 
 
The term „Internal auditors‟ refers to members of recognised Professional Bodies (e.g. CIPFA, CIIA) and those who provide 
internal auditing services within the definition of internal auditing. 
 
The Code of Ethics also takes into consideration the relevant Principles of Internal Audit, as defined by the Standards as follows: 
 

 Demonstrates integrity 

P
age 72



 
 

 

 Demonstrates competence and due professional care 

 Is objective and free from undue influence (independent) 

 Aligns with the strategies, objectives, and risks of the organisation 

 Is appropriately positioned and adequately resourced 

 Demonstrates quality and continuous improvement 

 Communicates effectively 

 Provides risk-based assurance 

 Is insightful, proactive, and future-focused 

 Promotes organisational improvement 
 
Further information on the Nolan Principles can be accessed via the attached link: 
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-committee-on-standards-in-public-life 
 
Applicability and Enforcement 
 
This Code of Ethics applies to both individuals and entities that provide internal auditing services. Disciplinary procedures of 
professional bodies and employing organisations may apply to breaches of this Code of Ethics. 
 
Integrity 
 
Principle 1:  
The integrity of internal auditors establishes trust and thus provides the basis for reliance on their judgement. 
 
Rules of Conduct: 
 
Internal Auditors: 
 

 Shall perform their work with honesty, diligence and responsibility 

 Shall observe the law and make disclosures expected by the law and the profession 

P
age 73

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-committee-on-standards-in-public-life


 
 

 

 Shall not knowingly be a party to any illegal activity, or engage in acts that are discreditable to the profession of internal 
auditing or to the organisation 

 Shall respect and contribute to the legitimate and ethical objectives of the organisation. 
 
Competency 
 
Principle 2: 
Internal auditors apply the knowledge, skills and experience needed in the performance of internal auditing services. 
 
Rules of Conduct: 
 
Internal Auditors: 
 

 Shall engage only in those services for which they have the necessary knowledge, skills and experience 

 Shall perform internal auditing services in accordance with the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal 
Auditing 

 Shall continually improve their proficiency and effectiveness and quality of their services. 
 
Internal auditors who work in the public sector must also have regard to the Committee on Standards of Public Life‟s Seven 
Principles of Public Life (the “Nolan Principles”): 
 

 Selflessness 

 Integrity 

 Objectivity 

 Accountability 

 Openness 

 Honesty 

 Leadership. 
 

Objectivity 

P
age 74



 
 

 

 
Principle 3: 
Internal auditors exhibit the highest level of professional objectivity in gathering, evaluating and communicating information about 
the activity or process being examined. 
Internal auditors make a balanced assessment of all the relevant circumstances and are not unduly influenced by their own 
interests or by others in forming judgements. 
 
Rules of Conduct: 
 
Internal Auditors: 
 

 Shall not participate in any activity or relationship that may impair or be presumed to impair their unbiased assessment. This 
participation includes those activities or relationships that may be in conflict with the interests of the organisation 

 Shall not accept anything that may impair or be presumed to impair their professional judgement 

 Shall disclose all material facts known to them that, if not disclosed, may distort the reporting of activities under review. 
 
Confidentiality 
 
Principle 4: 
Internal auditors respect the value and ownership of information they receive and do not disclose information without appropriate 
authority unless there is a legal or professional obligation to do so. 
 
Rules of Conduct: 
 
Internal Auditors: 
 

 Shall be prudent in the use and protection of information acquired in the course of their duties 

 Shall not use information for any personal gain or in any manner that would be contrary to the law or detrimental to the 
legitimate and ethical objectives of the organisation. 

 

P
age 75



 
 

 

Internal Audit seek to promote robust ethical standards throughout the organisation and recognise the importance of an 
appropriate ethical framework and ethical capability, encompassing principled leadership and governance, clear lines of 
accountability and informed and transparent decision making. This reflects the suggested measures outlined by the Committee 
on Standards in Public Life. 
 

P
age 76



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  Audit and Governance Committee 
 
Meeting:  30 March 2022 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  None 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
 The purpose of this report is to provide an update in respect of the system of 

corporate risk management and the activity that has been undertaken in continuing 
to embed this system during the fourth quarter of 2021-22.  

  
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 The Audit and Governance Committee is recommended to: 
 

(a)  note the updated Corporate Risk Register; and 
 
(b) note the progress made in embedding the system of corporate risk 

management into the organisation. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms 

of Reference, the report details the key activities undertaken to embed the system 
of corporate risk management.  The report highlights the following key points: 
 

 an update on the Corporate Risk Register including the key changes made 
since the last report; and 

 the ongoing activity to embed risk management further into the organisation.  
 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 

Page 77

Agenda Item 6



 
 
4.2 Human Resources 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.4 Information Technology 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.5 Programme Management Office (PMO) 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report. 

 
 

6. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
  
 The implementation of an effective system of corporate, service and project risk 

management supports the organisation in the delivery of its objectives, by 
identifying threats that may jeopardise their achievement and maximising 
opportunities as these arise.  The contents of this report give a narrative on the 
continued progress being made to embed such a system. 

 
 
7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 

 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
9. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 78



 
 
10. CONCLUSION 
 
 The organisation continues to make positive progress in embedding a more robust 

and effective system for the management of risk.   
 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

 
 
Contact Officer(s): 
Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit    
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A - Risk Management Update  
Appendix B - Corporate Risk Register Summary 2021-22 
 
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 
 
 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 

 
 

Audit and Governance Committee 

30 March 2022 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 
Head of Internal Audit 

P
age 81



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 1 
 
 

Contents 
 

   
            Page 

  
1. Introduction            2    
 
2. Corporate Risk Register          3      
    
3. Embedding Effective Risk Management        6 
 
 
     
               
       
 
 
 
   

 
 
           
  

P
age 82



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 2 
 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of the Combined Authority’s risk management activity for the fourth 
quarter of 2021-22. 
 

1.2 It is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee and its purpose is to facilitate the Committee in discharging its 

obligations as defined in its Terms of Reference: “to review the Combined Authority’s financial affairs, internal control, 

corporate governance arrangements and risk management”.  It is also intended to assist in continuing the progress made to 

date in embedding effective strategic and operational risk management into the organisation. 

 
1.3 The report covers: 

 an update on the Corporate Risk Register including the key changes made since the last report; and 

 the ongoing activity to embed risk management further into the organisation.   

P
age 83



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 3 
 
 

2. Corporate Risk Register  
 
2.1 The Corporate Risk Register reflects the highest scoring risks across the organisation – those with a residual score in 

excess of 16 (to the maximum score of 25) and graded as “red”.  These are the risks which present the most significant 

threats to the achievement of the objectives articulated in the Corporate Plan, and so these risks span the whole Combined 

Authority. 

2.2 The Corporate Risk Register is owned by the Executive Leadership Team (ELT) and each risk has a designated risk owner 

who is a member of ELT, and they are responsible for co-ordinating activities to manage the risk and reduce its 

impact/likelihood to its target level, drawing on the support of colleagues across the organisation. 

2.3 The Corporate Risk Register has been arranged in five risk themes, and each encapsulates a risk which is multi-faceted.  

These are: 

P
age 84



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 4 
 
 

 

2.4 The Corporate Risk Register has been reviewed by the Executive Leadership Team as a whole and by individual Executive 

Directors in their capacity as Risk Owners, with the objective of ensuring that: 

 The risks identified are still pertinent; 

 The control measures are still in place and working, and reflect any new or additional controls that have been 

implemented; 

P
age 85



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 5 
 
 

 The risk scoring identified is still considered an accurate representation; 

 The actions identified are still the right ones, and progress is being made in progressing these; 

 Any new or emerging risks are captured; and 

 Risks that are reducing in score are identified and de-escalated to service risk registers as necessary. 

2.5 The results of this review were: 

 The risk descriptions and their scores have continued to remain static since the last review; 

 Some actions have been completed and added to the controls and further actions added to the register to reflect the 

development of the approach to mitigation of risks; 

 All target dates have been reviewed and where necessary extended until the next review date in May 2022;  

 There has been positive progress on the Environment risk with the publication of the “Road to Net Zero” document 

and a revised action to draw up a detailed net zero action plan; and 

 The Resilience risk reflects the work undertaken in relation to business continuity in light of the recent cyber “desktop” 

exercise and lessons learnt from the Covid-19 pandemic with further actions identified to mitigate this risk. 

2.6 A summary of the Corporate Risk Register is included in this report at Appendix A.   

  

P
age 86



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 6 
 
 

 

3. Embedding Effective Risk Management 
 
3.1 Internal Audit continues to play a key role in facilitating the system of risk management.  Key strands of activity in the period 

have been: 
  

 Organising and chairing the quarterly Risk Group meeting, which has representatives from all Directorates, to discuss 

emerging risks, progress in managing key risk issues, and promote discussion/awareness of governance issues across 

the organisation.  The group is proving particularly useful in identifying new risks emerging across the business, and 

where there are synergies or common areas of risk.  The meeting held in December 2021 identified that a number of 

Directorates are identifying risks such as supply chain and staffing capacity as starting to have an impact on delivery.   

 A risk workshop was held on 1 March 2022 to begin the process for reflecting on corporate risks that are pertinent to the 

next phase of the Corporate Plan delivery. 

 Facilitating review and update of risk registers via meetings with individual executive directors and their management 
teams, which is particularly pertinent in terms of ensuring alignment with the Corporate Plan and Directorate Delivery 
Plans; 

 Presenting to the Executive Leadership Team on Risk Management and leading the discussion on the update of the 
Corporate Risk Register; 

 Development and launch of a risk management skills training offer for senior managers; 

 Development and launch of an e-learning package for all staff to provide general awareness of the principles of risk 
management; 

 Continuing to facilitate the review of service risks by members of the Senior Leadership Team;  

 Providing corporate support in respect of risk management across the organisation, including facilitating risk workshops 
and supporting colleagues in their risk management activities;  

 Following its approval at the July Audit and Governance Committee meeting, continued roll out of the Risk Management 
Policy and revised risk register template across the organisation; and 

P
age 87



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 7 
 
 

 Established an individual “SharePoint” folder for all Directorates to enable access to risk information in one dedicated 
location.  

 
 

3.2 It is important that the revised Corporate Risk Register is used as a tool, along with performance management, to facilitate 

delivery of the Corporate Plan priorities, and that the very positive progress made so far in embedding the process 

continues.  

For this reason, the service has adopted two corporate performance indicators, which are designed to measure the extent to 

which risk management data is being utilised to drive delivery of the Corporate Plan priorities. The latest figures show the 

following: 

   

Description Performance  Progress Rating 

Percentage of service 

areas with a Risk 

Register that complies 

with the Risk 

Management Policy 

77% Amber 

Percentage of 

corporate risks that 

have a suitable action 

plan in place 

100%  Green 

 

P
age 88



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2022 Page | 8 
 
 

3.3 It was highlighted in the November 2021 report to the Committee that the recommendations arising from the 2020-21 internal 

audit of Risk Management have been fully implemented.  The review for 2021-22 is underway and its focus is on the extent 

to which good risk management practices are embedded across Directorates.  The Committee will be kept updated on the 

progress of the audit and its outcomes. 

3.4 The reports to this Committee will continue to give an overview of the progress being made in delivering the activities above, 

and the effectiveness of these actions in increasing the level to which effective risk management arrangements are 

embedded into the organisation. 

 

P
age 89



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Risk Register 2021-22

March 2022

P
age 91



Corporate Risk Themes

Devolution Deal

There is a risk that the 
Liverpool City Region does 

not meet the specific 
requirements and 

expectations set out in its 
Devolution Deal

Resilience

There is a risk that the 
organisation’s ability to 

operate in the event of a 
major incident may not be 

adequate and may 
disproportionately impact 

the organisation’s 
performance and that of 

the City Region’s economy

Environment

There is a risk that the 
LCRCA does not use its 

position and powers 
effectively to meet the 

target for the City Region 
of being net zero carbon by 

2040

Transport

There is a risk that the role 
of transport in supporting 
the social, economic and 

environmental objectives of 
the City Region is inhibited 
by governance and funding 
models that do not support 

future public transport 
recovery and improvement

Economic Recovery

There is a risk that the 
LCRCA does not use its 

position and powers 
effectively to drive 

economic recovery and 
prosperity in the City 

Region

P
age 92



Risk 1: Devolution Deal- There is a risk that the Liverpool City Region does not 
meet the specific requirements and expectations set out in its Devolution Deal.

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Investment and Delivery

Controls:

• Assurance Framework approved by Government 

• Expertise of key teams

• Budget recognises delivery as a priority

• Spatial Development Strategy 

• Use of 'single pot' approach and freedom and flexibility to manage funding deadlines

• Overprogramming of SIF

• Use of Growth Directors as forum to manage project progress

• Regular reporting of SIF performance to identify blockages

• Pipeline development process in place

• Annual Conversation with government and associated feedback

• Provision of Pre-Development Funding to advance projects 

• Resource funding to support delivery of projects

P
age 93



Risk 1: Devolution Deal

Actions:

• Consideration of central resourcing to support Local Authority projects 

including opportunities to share resources and availing support services 

(i.e. Procurement framework, legal advice etc) 

• Need discussion of the merits of having a central bid team, drawing in 

existing resource with focus on maximising funding opportunities and 

making the strategic connections. 

• Setting clear progress objectives in heads of terms for funding objectives

• Establishment of joint boards/steering groups with constituent local 

authorities

• Having well developed pipelines across main policy areas: transport, 

housing, people, place and business eco system so that we are 

maximising our opportunities in bidding and securing for funds. 

• Residual Score:

• Progress on completion of 
actions within timescale:

16

Green

• Timescale:

March 2022

P
age 94



Risk 2: Resilience - There is a risk that the organisation’s ability to operate in the event 
of a major incident may not be adequate and may disproportionately impact the 
organisation’s performance and that of the City Region’s economy

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Corporate Development and Delivery
Controls:

• System security arrangements 

• ICT Strategy  

• Resilience and recovery arrangements 

• ICT Security Policy and Acceptable Use Policies

• Code of Conduct for Employees  

• Resilience arrangements in place and tested.

• Control Centre co-ordination

• High Risks Project Steering Group

• Strategic MEL Directorate Meeting

• Provision of Active Travel infrastructure across LCR to maintain 
connectivity

• "State of Readiness" has been drafted

• Cyber Essentials accreditation achieved

• Cyber Security Incident Response Team (CSIRT) and CSIR workflow 
being created

• Cyber desk top exercises have been completed and action plans 
established.

• Desk top exercises have been completed and action plans 
established.

P
age 95



Risk 2: Resilience

Actions:

• Solidify Business Continuity arrangements – Focused action around 

outcome desk top exercise

• Identify capacity issues and clarify responsibilities / roles

• Arrange refresher training for ELT and relevant key officers

• Ensure staff at every level complete relevant mandatory training

• Establish when the pending review of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 

is due to progress, with a view to formally recognising the CA as a formal 

category responder while in the interim working with MRF colleagues to 

strengthen CA engagement in local arrangements

• Improvement plan developed following Desk Top Exercise and Covid 19 

Pandemic

• Work with Director of Place to establish interconnecting activities on 

resilience.

20

• Residual Score:

• Timescale:

April 2022

• Progress on completion of 
actions within timescale:

Amber

P
age 96



Risk 3: Environment - There is a risk that the LCRCA does not use its position and powers 
effectively to meet the target for the City Region of being net zero carbon by 2040

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Policy, Strategy & Government Relations 

Controls:

• Focus on Net Zero on all lobbying activity with Government including within the CSR submission

• Embedding climate ambitions across all policies, strategies and plans, including Plan for Prosperity

• Expertise of key roles / teams

• Relationships with key stakeholders with specialist knowledge and expertise

• Monthly Climate Partnership Meetings

• Regular reporting on Year 1 Climate Action Plan

• Regular meeting of the Net Zero Board

• ‘Road to Net Zero’ document published

P
age 97



Risk 3: Environment

Actions:

• Net Zero Carbon approach to all policy development to be 

implemented

• Weekly cross-organisational Net Zero Group

• Stakeholder engagement mapping and coordination

• Building organisational capacity, rolling out Carbon Literacy training 

• Write detailed action plan on net zero

• Residual Score:

20

• Timescale:

May 2022

• Progress on completion of 
Actions within timescale:

Amber

P
age 98



Risk 4: Transport Model - There is a risk that the role of transport in supporting the social, 
economic and environmental objectives of the City Region is inhibited by governance and 
funding models that do not support future public transport recovery and improvement
Risk Owner: Executive Director of Place 

Controls:

• Monitoring network activity, development of commercial opportunities  / reduction in networks and frequencies

• Monitoring return to commercial service levels, recovering patronage levels

• Work closely with DFT and wider transport groups to understand issues and find solutions to funding gaps or adjustments to 

legislation

• Member of National and Local Resilience Forum

• Project structure in place and progressing to assess the opportunities presented by devolved bus powers 

• Ongoing development of Hydrogen Bus pilot

• Ongoing development of green bus routes with Green Bus Routes group established

• Fortnightly Rolling Stock Board meetings established

• Quarterly Risk Workshops for each of the seven Rolling Stock work streams. 

• External professional partners appointed to support commercial approach to OLR

P
age 99



Risk 4: Transport Model

Actions:

• Contingency planning continues and is ongoing

• Monitor work with MEL (Operator of Last Resort) and progress the work 

further.

• Road map to recovery in relation to social distancing and revenue 

generated will reduce the level of liquidity risk. Long term strategic 

options to be developed for contract model

• Arrange risk workshop to cover all work streams within Bus

• Residual Score:

20

• Timescale:

March 2022

• Progress on completion of 
actions within timescale:

Red

P
age 100



Risk 5: Economic Recovery - There is a risk that the LCRCA does not use its position 
and powers effectively to drive economic recovery and prosperity in the City Region
Risk Owner: Executive Director of Investment and Delivery

Controls:

• Plan for Prosperity due to be submitted to CA for approval in January 2022 which sets out priorities for our 

economy and investment 

• CA role in grants to business to support in response to pandemic

• Recovery Fund in place

• Relationships with business community, private sector, LEP and partners

• Government engagement to ensure understanding of funding streams to support economic recovery 

P
age 101



Risk 5: Economic Recovery

Actions:

• Extensive engagement on plan for prosperity, including with LAs, 

business, academic community and third sector 

• Recruit additional Commercial Development and Investment team 

resource to develop and deliver projects with key external 

partners/sponsors

• Increased engagement with private sector, ensuring increased 

partnership/investment in recovery projects 

• Develop and deliver recovery projects on prioritised basis 

• Horizon scanning for funding opportunities to support economic 

recovery 

• Residual Score:

20

• Timescale:

December 
2022

• Progress on completion of 
actions within timescale:

Amber

P
age 102



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  Audit and Governance Committee 
 
Meeting:     30th of March 2022  
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  ALL 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: NO 
 
KEY DECISION   No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER  
 

THE CONSTITUTION  
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

This report is to advise Members of the Committee of the review of the Constitution 
and seek views on proposed amendments to be considered for the Constitution for 
the next municipal year. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

It is recommended that the Committee: 
 

(a) note the contents of the report and the Constitution as currently published; 
(b) consider and approve the provisions on motions attached as Appendix 1; 
(c) note the ongoing review of the Constitution and provide any comments on the 

areas of review and recommendations for updates;  
(d) commend Appendix 1 to the Combined Authority to update the standing 

Orders upon motions; 
(e) make recommendations for any further area that that Members consider 

requires review or updating before the Constitution is presented at the next 
meeting of the Combined Authority so that the Constitution will be updated and 
ready for the municipal year 2022/2023; and  

(f) note that further reports on the Constitution will be presented in the new 
municipal year to ensure that the Constitution reflects good practice and 
supports effective governance. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1. Members are aware of the importance of a Constitution to any public sector 

organisation and also of the need to ensure that it is reviewed on a regular basis. 
 
3.2. Members will also be aware that the Monitoring Officer has a delegation within the 

Constitution at paragraph 2.5 of Part 3G Standing Delegations to update the 

Page 103

Agenda Item 7



Constitution for legal or factual accuracy.  Exercise of this delegation must be 
reported to the next Combined Authority meeting.  

 
3.3. The Constitution is an evolving document, particularly so in the first years of the 

Combined Authority. In this vein, Members will be aware that reports are 
periodically considered which look to update, amend or redraft parts of the 
Constitution. Good practice is to review a Constitution from beginning to end every 
three to five years. This means on this occasion a comprehensive review of the 
Constitution has been undertaken, looking at for example, previously approved 
amendments to ensure that these have been correctly transcribed into and 
throughout the document.  

 
3.4. Further minor amendments (within the Monitoring Officers delegation) have been 

actioned to reflect changes to job titles and roles and to ensure consistency of 
referencing. In an attempt to ensure that the Constitution is readily accessible and 
also easily updated. The Constitution has now been built within the Modern.Gov 
system and will be accessible for Members along with the agenda packs. This way 
of working will aid future updates and publication.   

 
3.5. The Monitoring Officer has also reviewed best practice in relation to the Standing 

Orders upon motions from the Constitutions of the Constituent Councils and 
suggested provisions relating to motions are attached as Appendix 1 for Member’s 
consideration and commendation to the Combined Authority for their approval. The 
main changes are to more formally recognise the need for/use of motions in various 
Combined Authority meetings and to ensure that their operation when used is 
efficient and effective. It is proposed that at any point in the Constitution where a 
Member or member of the public is invited to speak that the time for doing so will be 
5 minutes. 
 

3.6. The Monitoring Officer is also reviewing the report template to ensure that the 
corporate plan and policies of the Combined Authority are at the forefront of 
Officers’ minds in presenting reports and are fully thought out within such reports. 

 
3.7. It is also proposed that the Constitution be amended to enable (post annual Meeting 

and upon notice from the Constituent Council) the replacement of Members on 
either the Combined Authority or alternatively on its Committees to be actioned 
swiftly without the direct approval of the Combined Authority (i.e. waiting for the next 
meeting). This would be achieved by a delegation to the Monitoring Officer to be 
exercised in consultation with the Metro Mayor or the Chair of the relevant 
Committee to action the resolution from the Constituent Council. 

 
3.8.  The Constitution is currently silent on cancelling Combined Authority and 

Committee meetings and it is recommended that a provision be inserted to reflect 
that meetings can be cancelled by the Chair in consultation with the Monitoring 
Officer, which is the practise that is being utilised. 

 
3.9. The Constitution is currently silent upon the exercising of the powers of the Head of 

Paid Service in the event of their absence. At present a letter is completed on each 
occasion of absence by the post holder specifically delegating powers to one 
identified officer during the period of absence. It is proposed that the delegation will 
form part of Part 3 – Section G and will reflect that in the absence of the Head of 

Page 104



Paid Service the Executive Director-Place  (Deputy Chief Executive) will be able to 
exercise any delegation or power on behalf of /in place of the Head of Paid Service. 

 
3.10.  The views of Members are sought in relation to the matters referenced above and 

advise upon any other areas that Members feel should be reviewed by the 
Monitoring Officer on the Constitution for consideration and adoption by the 
Combined Authority for the municipal year 2022/23.  

 
3.11.   Other areas of work identified by the Monitoring Officer which will be the subject of   

further work are as follows: 
 

 A review of oversight and governance of both the Combined Authority’s and 
Merseytravel companies may lead to a recommendation to amend the 
Constitution.  Such amendment will be to ensure that; 
 
o there are executives appointed to act as the Shareholder Representative; 

and  
o to ensure that the subsidiary companies can be subject to review by the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 

 Each year a number of individuals are appointed to represent the Combined 
Authority and/or Merseytravel on what are classed as Outside Bodies.  It is 
anticipated that recommendations will be made to include improved 
arrangements so that feedback and reports can be received from the Outside 
Body and duly considered at an appropriate Committee. 

 

 Following publication of the annual calendar for municipal meetings for the 
Combined Authority, Members may have noted a changed pattern of 
meetings.  By statute each year, the Combined Authority is obliged to sign off 
its accounts by 30 September.   The accounts will be presented to the Audit 
and Governance Committee for sign off and will be received by the Combined 
Authority accordingly.  To do this will require a delegation from the Combined 
Authority to the Audit and Governance Committee.  In turn such a delegation 
will need to be incorporated into the Terms of Reference for the Committee. 

 

 The Financial Standing Orders (part 5) are also being reviewed by relevant 
officers. 

 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1. Financial 

 
None arising. 

 
4.2. Human Resources 

 
None. 

 
4.3. Physical Assets 

 
None. 

Page 105



 
4.4. Information Technology 

 
Optimising use of the relevant IT software system to host the constitution is a 
significant developments of this system. 

 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

It is essential that any public body has an effective Constitution and that this is 
reviewed on a regular basis. 

 
 
6. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 

There is a risk that not keeping the constitution up to date would be detrimental to 
the principle of ensuring that the aims of good governance are given full effect.   

 
 
7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

None  
 
 
8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 

 

None. 
 
 
9. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 

None. 
 
 
10. CONCLUSION 
 

To have a Constitution is a statutory requirement for the Combined Authority. The 
statutory role of the Monitoring Officer is to ensure that it is updated correctly. In 
addition it is important that the Constitution reflects the practises of the Combined 
Authority and is readily understood. 

 
 

JILL COULE 
Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer  

 
 

Contact Officer(s): 
Louise Outram Deputy Chief Legal Officer and Deputy Monitoring Officer  
 
Appendices: 
Appendix One – Revised Motions  
 
Background Documents:  

Page 106



 
 
 

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 
 

Notice of motion proposed changes 
 
 
 

Further to the current motions procedure that is detailed in the Constitution at Part 

4, Section A, paragraphs 8.3 and 13 the following are suggested as enhancements 

to ensure that the process for the submission of motions and amendments is open 

and transparent: 

 
1 Submission of motions 

 

Except for motions which can be moved without notice under paragraph 13, written 
notice of every motion must be delivered to the Monitoring Officer no later than 5pm 
four clear days before the date of the meeting. These will be open to public 
inspection. For example by 5p.m. on the Monday of the week when the Combined 
Authority meeting takes place on the  Friday (i.e. this deadline will match that of the 
submission of public questions). 

 
In urgent cases, motions will be allowed to be tabled at the meeting as is the case 

currently. 

 
2 Competency of motions 

 

Once received the motions will be judged by the Monitoring Officer on their 

competency, and if appropriate, then they will be circulated to Members as part of 

a  supplementary agenda on the Wednesday before the day of the meeting. This 

report will also contain the public questions that are deemed competent. 

 

The Monitoring Officer may, after consultation with the Member, who has 

submitted a notice of motion or proposed amendment amend the wording of the 

motion /amendment, either for the purpose of clarification or to ensure that it does 

not offend the requirements of competency. 
 

 
3 Absence of Member who has submitted a notice of motion 

 
A notice of motion or proposed amendment shall not be competent for debate by the 

Combined Authority if the Member who gave notice of his/her intention to move it is 

unable to do so because of his/her absence or otherwise ( part 4 section A 

paragraph 8.2). 

 

If the Member who intended to second the motion is unable to do so because of 

his/her absence or otherwise; the Member who gave notice of his/her intention to 

move has the right to find another seconder at the meeting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 109



4 Speaking on a motion 

 
In accordance with paragraph 13.5 (Part 4, Section A) it is suggested that the mover 
of the motion will have 5 minutes to propose the motion. 
 
The seconder of a motion may speak to second or reserve the right to speak until 
later in the debate on the motion (this right may be lost if an amendment is accepted) 
 
Members may only speak once on the motion.  
 
 
 
Members are also reminded of the following two provisions:- 
 
Points of Order 

A Member may at any time raise a point of order, relating only to an alleged breach 

of these Meetings Standing Orders or the law. The Member must indicate the rule        

or law and the way in which he/she considers it has been breached. The Metro 

Mayor will  hear them immediately and his/her ruling on the matter will be final. 

 
Personal Explanation 

 

A Member may at any time request the Metro Mayor to allow them to make a 

personal explanation, relating only to some material part of an earlier speech by 

that Member   which may appear to have been misunderstood in the present debate. 

The ruling of    the Metro Mayor on the admissibility of a personal explanation will be 

final. 

 

Process for the submission of motions and amendments (see flowchart on 

following page) 

 

Page 110



MOTION PROPOSED (5 minutes) 
Proposer may speak 

 

** * * AMENDMENT PROCEDURE * * 
 

MOTION SECONDED (5 minutes) 
Seconder may speak or reserve the right to speak until later in debate 

on the motion (this right may be lost if an amendment is accepted) 

AMENDMENT PROPOSED (5 minutes) 
Proposer of amendment may speak 

 
 

IS AN AMENDMENT PROPOSED? 

 
AMENDMENT SECONDED ( 5 minutes) 

Seconder of amendment may speak then 
other members may speak

Amendments can be proposed at the meeting, but in the interests of  

efficiency it would be helpful if these are submitted to the Monitoring Officer   

 in advance of the meeting 
 

NO 
Go to debate on motion 

 
YES 

Go to Amendment Procedure 

 
IS AMENDMENT ACCEPTED BY MOVER OF ORIGINAL MOTION? 

 

 

DEBATE ON MOTION 
(5 minutes each) 

Any member may speak once (except the proposer of the motion) 

 
 
 

MOTION CLOSING SPEECHES (5 Minutes) 

Seconder of motion (only if previously reserved the right to speak and 
has not already spoken during the debate) 

 
Proposer of motion – right of reply and summing up 

 

 
YES 

Becomes the substantive 
motion for debate 

NO 
Mover of original motion allowed 

up to 5 minutes to explain why they 
do not accept the amendment 

Move to vote on the 
amendment 

 
 
 
 

VOTE ON AMENDMENT 

 

               VOTE ON MOTION 
 

  
CARRIED LOST 

CARRIED 
Becomes substantive motion 

Back for debate 

LOST 
to debate on original 

motion 

P
age 111



T
his page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the Audit and Governance 

Committee 
 
Meeting:     30 March 2022 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
KEY DECISION:   No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER  
 

MEMBERS CODE OF CONDUCT PROTOCOL 
 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 This report, together with its first appendix, details the proposed arrangements to be 

adopted by the Combined Authority for investigating and making decisions in 
relation to allegations made under its Members Code of Conduct (“Members Code 
of Conduct Protocol”). 
 

1.2 A copy of the proposed draft of the Members Code of Conduct Protocol is included 
as Appendix 1 to this Report.  

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee: 
 

(a) note and endorse the Members Code of Conduct Protocol for adoption by the 
Combined Authority at its meeting on 29 April 2022. 

 
(b) note and endorse that the Monitoring Officer may need to amend the Members 

Code of Conduct Protocol before it is presented to the Combined Authority 
following further consultation with relevant stakeholders.  Should that prove 
necessary any such amendments would be considered in consultation with the 
Chair of the Committee. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Pursuant to Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011, local authorities must adopt a 

code dealing with the conduct that is expected of members and co-opted members 
of the authority when they are acting in that capacity. 

 

Page 113

Agenda Item 8



3.2 The Local Government Association (“LGA”) published a model Councillor Code of 
Conduct in December 2020 (“LGA Model Code”).  A working group comprised 
primarily of the Monitoring Officers of the nine authorities across the Liverpool City 
Region was established to consider the LGA Model Code and to align and 
recommend a shared code. 

 
3.3 A modified version of the LGA Model Code (“Merseyside Model Code”) was initially 

adopted by the Combined Authority at its meeting of 4 June 2021.  Following further 
refinement of the LGA Model Code nationally, a revised Merseyside Model Code 
was more recently adopted by the Combined Authority at its meeting on 21 January 
2022. 

 
3.4 The Merseyside Model Code is now included within the Combined Authority’s 

Constitution and its adoption aids the Combined Authority in discharging its duty to 
promote and maintain high standards of conduct by its members and co-opted 
members under Section 27(1) of the Localism Act 2011. 

 
3.4 Under Section 28(6) of the Localism Act 2011, local authorities must have in place 

arrangements under which allegations against Members or Co-opted Members may 
have can be considered.     

 
3.5 A Monitoring Offcer Working Group comprised primarily of the Monitoring Officers of 

the nine authorities across the Liverpool City Region was established.  The Working 
Group explored whether common arrangements for investigating and making 
decisions in relation to allegations made concerning member/councillor conduct 
could be adopted by Liverpool City Region authorities. 

 
3.6 The work detailed in the above paragraph was paused pending adoption of the 

Merseyside Model Code by Liverpool City Region authorities and the publication by 
the LGA of guidance to better understand and apply the LGA Model Code (“LGA 
Guidance”). 

 
3.7 The LGA Guidance was published on 21 September 2021, a copy of which is 

included as Appendix 2 to this Report. 
 
3.8 Given its relationship to the LGA Model Code (and in turn the Merseyside Model 

Code), the LGA Guidance is a useful point of reference.  The LGA Guidance is 
helpful in determining appropriate arrangements to be adopted by the Liverpool City 
Region authorties for investigating and making decisions in relation to alleged 
breaches of the Merseyside Model Code.  

 
3.9 The proposed Members Code of Conduct Protocol has been drafted taking into 

account all Liverpool City Region authorities’ arrangements and the the LGA 
Guidance.  The Members Code of Conduct Protocol also provides for a complaint to 
be dealt with under the equivalent arrangements of the constituent authority to 
which the member belongs.  This step was taken from the North of Tyne Combined 
Authority’s arrangements. 

 
3.10 Councillor Burgess-Joyce of Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council and Councillor 

Hansen of Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council volunteered to form a working 
group (“Audit and Governance Working Group”) to aid the development of the 
Members Code of Conduct Protocol.   

Page 114



3.11 Both the Monitoring Officer Working Group and Audit and Governance Working 
Group have been provided with with the latest draft of the Members Code of 
Conduct Protocol. 

 
3.12 The Monitoring Officer Working Group discussed the Members Code of Conduct 

Protocol at a meeting on 2 February 2022.  There was a general consensus that the 
the Members Code of Conduct Protocol provided appropriate arrangements and 
that similar protocols could likely be considered for adoption by constituent 
authorities in future. 

 
3.13 The inclusion of an appeals process in the Members Code of Conduct Protocol was 

highligted.  For instance, Wirral Council would require such a process to be 
included, whereas Halton Council would not.   

 
3.14 The LGA Guidance does not provide for a right of appeal against a decision on a 

code of conduct complaint on the basis that its framework and proposed sanctions 
are meant to be light-touch and proportionate. 

 
3.15 Unfortunately, it has not been possible for the Audit and Governance Working 

Group to meet prior to the submission of this report.  Feedback from the group has 
been sought by email and is currently awaited. 

 
3.16 It is envisaged that the Combined Authority will continue to work with other 

Liverpool City Region authorities to try to ensure consistant governance 
arrangements in relation to members and councillors across the region. 

 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 
   
  There are no identified financial implications arising directly from this report. 
 
4.2 Human Resources 
 

There are no identified human resources implications arising directly from this 
report. 

 
4.3 Physical Assets 
 
 There are no identified physical assets implications directly arising from this report. 
 
4.4 Information Technology 
 
 There are no identified information technology implications directly arising from this 

report. 
 

 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Under section 28 (6) of the Localism Act 2011, most local authorities must have in 

place: 

Page 115



 
(a)   arrangements under which allegations against members can be investigated; 

and 
(b)   arrangements under which decisions on allegations against members can be 

made. 
 

5.2 There are no specific arrangements that must be adopted, but the arrangements 
adopted must be consistent with the requirements of section 28 of the Localism Act 
2011 and involve an independent person. 

 
5.3 The arrangements provided by the Members Code of Conduct Protocol are 

consistent with the requirements of the Localism Act 2011. 
 
 
6.  RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
6.1 The Combined Authority has a statutory obligation to have in place arrangements 

for investigating and making decisions in relation to allegations made under its 
Members Code of Conduct.  Adopting the Members Code of Conduct Protocol aids 
the Combined Authority in discharging its duty to promote and maintain high 
standards of conduct by its Members and Co-opted members. 

 
6.2 There is a risk that allegations of breaches of the Merseyside Model Code may be 

investigated and handled differently unless specific arrangements are adopted.  
Members may not fully understand the relevant processes in the absence of the 
formal adoption and publication of such arrangements. 

 
6.3 Adopting and publishing the Members Code of Conduct Protocol promotes: 
 

(a) sound corporate governance; 
(b) the integrity of local authority decision making; 
(c) transparency; and 
(d) understanding of the Combined Authority’s efforts to minimise risks in relation 

to corruption, and improper conduct and standards. 
 
6.5 Not adopting an approach consistent with other Liverpool City Region authorities 

may result in difficulties in shared interpretation and for members in light of their 
roles in the constituent authorities.  It is envisaged that, following the adoption of the 
Members Code of Conduct Protocol (or such equivilant arrangements), the 
Combined Authority will continue to work with other local authorities to try to ensure 
that, as far as reasonably practicable, consistant governance arrangements 
concerning members and councillors are adopted by authorities across the 
Liverpool City region. 
 
 

7.  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no identified equality and diverstiy implications directly arising from this 

report.  If there are any equality and/or diversity implications arising from a Member 
Code of Conduct complaint, adoption of this Protocol will help to ensure that the 
process to deal with complaints:- 

 

Page 116



 chimes with that of the Combined Authority’s constituent authorities; and 

 is consistent in application. 
 
 

8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 

 There are no identified privacy implications directly arising from this report. 
 
 
9.  COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
9.1 Adoption of arrangements for investigating and making decisions in relation to 

allegations made concerning Member conduct impacts Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority’s members. 

 
9.2 The LGA undertook exensive consultation with local authorites (including Liverpool 

City Region authorities) during the preparation of the LGA Model Code and LGA 
Guidance. 

 
9.3 Given that the working groups established to progress these matters involve the 

Monitoring Officers of Liverpool City Region Combined Authority’s constituent 
authorities, communications to the relevant constituent authority stakeholders shall 
be undertaken directly at a constituent authority level.    

 
 
10.  CONCLUSION 
 
 This report details the proposed arrangements to be adopted by the Combined 

Authority for investigating and making decisions in relation to allegations made 
under its Members Code of Conduct.   It seeks endorsement from the Audit and 
Governance Committee  for the Monitoring Officer to finalise and present the 
Members Code of Conduct Protocol to the Combined Authority at the 
recommendation of the Committee. 

 
 

JILL COULE 
Monitoring Oficer 

 
 

Contact Officer(s): 
Michael Howarth, Solicitor - Tel: 0151 330 1320 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 – Members Code of Conduct Protocol 
Appendix 2 – LGA Guidance 
 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Members Code of Conduct Protocol 
 

Arrangements for Investigating and Making Decisions in relation 
to allegations made under the Members’ Code of Conduct 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
 Jill Coule  
 Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer 
  
 No.1 Mann Island 
 Liverpool   L3 1BP 
 Ref: RSN[  ] 

 
 

Document Owner  
Document Version V0.03 (Draft) 
Approved By  
Created Date 22/03/2022 

 

Page 119



 

INDEX 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Appendices 
 

1. Definitions and Interpretation 
2. Complaint Form Template 
3. Standards Complaints Process Flow Chart 
4. Investigations Process Flow Chart 
5. Terms of Reference for the Assessment Panel 
6. Standards Panel Procedure 
7. Standards Appeal Panel Procedure 

 
 

  

Page 120



 

1. Definitions and Interpretation  
 

1.1 An index of terms and interpretation is set out in Appendix 1.   
 

2. About this Protocol 
 

2.1 The aims of this Members Code of Conduct Protocol are to provide a framework 
within which the Combined Authority can work with Members to maintain 
satisfactory standards of conduct and to encourage improvement where 
necessary. The standards of conduct expected of all Members are set out in the 
Code of Conduct which is contained in the Constitution of The Liverpool City 
Region Combined Authority and are accessible from the Combined Authority’s 
website https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/ 
 

2.2 Under Sections 28(6) and (7) of the Localism Act 2011, the Combined Authority 
must have in place “arrangements” under which allegations that a Statutory 
Member or Co-opted Member of the Combined Authority has failed to comply 
with the Code of Conduct can be investigated and decisions can be made on 
such allegations. 

 
2.3 Such arrangements must provide for the Combined Authority to appoint at least 

one Independent Person whose views must be sought by the Combined 
Authority before it takes a decision on an allegation which it has decided shall be 
investigated, and whose views can be sought by the Combined Authority at any 
other stage, or by a Member or Co-opted Member against whom an allegation 
has been made. 

 
2.4 Any action/steps taken, discretion exercised, and decisions made pursuant to 

this Protocol must promote the following: 
 
2.4.1 fairness to all parties and in proceedings; 
2.4.2 accountability; 
2.4.3 transparency of decision making; 
2.4.4 efficiency; and 
2.4.5 value for money. 

 
2.5 Subject to consultation with the Audit and Governance Committee, this Protocol 

may be amended at any time.  Procedures, including any time limits, may be 
varied as appropriate in any case. 
 

3. Applicability 
 

3.1 This Protocol applies to all Statutory Members and provides the action that can 
be taken by the Combined Authority when a Standards Complaint alleges a 
breach of the Code of Conduct.   
 

3.2 Co-opted Members are not subject to the Code of Conduct or this Protocol but 
are instead subject to the Members code of conduct and associated procedures 

Page 121

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/


 

for dealing with complaints implemented by the Constituent Authority to which 
they belong. 

 
3.3 The Statutory Members of the Combined Authority are: 

 
3.3.1 A directly elected Mayor (Metro Mayor); 
3.3.2 6 elected councillors, appointed separately by each of the Combined 

Authority’s Constituent Authorities (Constituent Members); and 
3.3.3 An individual appointed by The Liverpool City Region Combined 

Authority Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP Member). 
 

3.4 Co-opted Members include all other elected councillors who support the work of 
the Combined Authority through their attendance at meetings such as the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the Audit and Governance Committee and 
the Transport Committee.  
 

4. How to make a complaint 
 
4.1 Complaints about the behaviour/conduct of a Member must be addressed to 

the Monitoring Officer and made in writing using the prescribed ‘Complaint 
Form Template’ (unless otherwise accepted by the Monitoring Officer) which is 
set out in Appendix 2 and also available on the Combined Authority’s website. 
In accordance with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 (and other related 
legislation), the Combined Authority can make reasonable arrangements to 
assist people if they have a disability that prevents them from making a 
Standards Complaint in writing or using the website. 
 

4.2 As a matter of fairness and natural justice, a Member should usually be told 
who has complained about them and the nature of the complaint. The 
Monitoring Officer will acknowledge receipt of the complaint within 5 working 
days of receiving it. A full copy of the complaint will, subject to any ruling on 
disclosure, ordinarily be sent to the Member within 5 working days of receipt of 
a Standards Complaint inviting their written comments within 10 working days, 
unless the Monitoring Officer believes to do so would: 

 
4.2.1 put the Complainant at risk of bullying, harassment or intimidation; 
4.2.2 put other witnesses at risk of bullying, harassment or intimidation; 
4.2.3 prejudice any investigation; 
4.2.4 prejudice any other action from being taken; 
4.2.5 not be in the public interest; and/or 
4.2.6 not be consistent with guidance provided by the Audit and Governance 

Committee or Secretary of State. 
 
4.3 The Subject Member shall not disclose (except to his/her advisor(s) 

confidentially) any information provided to him/her under paragraph 4.2 above 
to any other person/body without the express written consent of the Monitoring 
Officer. 
 

Page 122



 

4.4 Where a complaint has been received which does not allege a potential breach 
of the Members’ Code of Conduct/misconduct by a Statutory Member or 
provides insufficient information to enable the complaint to be progressed under 
this Protocol, the Monitoring Officer will inform the Complainant of this issue 
within five working days of receipt of the complaint and advise the Complainant 
to either raise his/her issue through an alternative and more appropriate route 
(if available), or request that the Complainant provides further information in 
connection with the complaint. 

 
4.5 Where no further information is provided by the Complainant, no further action 

shall be taken in relation to the complaint and the Monitoring Officer shall 
inform the Complainant accordingly. 

 
4.6 It should be noted that complaints which allege that a Member may have 

committed a criminal offence in breaching the “disclosable pecuniary interest‟ 
provisions under Section 34 of the Localism Act 2011, will be referred by the 
Monitoring Officer to Merseyside Police for consideration. 

 
4.7 Ordinarily complaints will be dealt with in no more than 6 months from the date 

the complaint is received to the conclusion. This will very much depend on the 
facts of each complaint and some investigations maybe concluded earlier, and 
others may take longer. The overall process for dealing with complaints is set 
out in the flowchart in Appendix 3. 

 
4.8 If the Monitoring Officer believes a complaint will not be concluded within 6 

months he/she will consult with the Independent Person and submit a report to 
the Assessment Panel for consideration. 

 
5. Anonymous Complaints 
 
5.1 No action shall be taken in respect of any anonymous complaints received 

unless, in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer, to do so would be in the public 
interest. For example, if an allegation is made of a criminal nature and evidence 
is provided to support the allegation, the matter may be referred to the Police or 
the matter raised should be considered under the Combined Authority’s 
Whistleblowing Policy. 
 

5.2 Details of such allegations will be retained on file by the Monitoring Officer for 
future reference and monitoring purposes. 

 
6. Preliminary Assessment, Evaluation, Reports and Enquiries 

 
6.1 Upon receipt of a Standards Complaint, the Monitoring Officer may, if it is 

considered appropriate and/or necessary, ask the Complainant for clarification 
or additional information in relation to the complaint. The Monitoring Officer 
shall be entitled to undertake such preliminary enquiries as he/she considers 
necessary in order to carry out the Preliminary Assessment and Evaluation. 
 

Page 123



 

6.2 Before the assessment of a complaint begins, the Monitoring Officer must be 
satisfied that the complaint meets the following requirements: 

 
6.2.1 It is a complaint against one or more named Statutory Members; 
6.2.2 The named Member or Members were in Office at the time of the 

alleged conduct and acting in their official capacity; and 
6.2.3 The complaint, if proven, would be a breach of the Members Code of 

Conduct in force at the relevant time. 
 

6.3 If the complaint fails any one of these tests, it cannot be investigated as a 
breach of the Combined Authority’s Code of Conduct and the Complainant 
must be informed that no further action can be taken in relation to the 
complaint. 
 

6.4 Prior to undertaking any Preliminary Assessment and Evaluation, the 
Monitoring Officer shall consult with the Monitoring Officer of the Constituent 
Authority to which the Subject Member has been elected in order to determine 
whether the Standards Complaint should be dealt with under this Members 
Code of Conduct Protocol or the equivalent arrangements of the appropriate 
Constituent Authority. 

 
6.5 Should the Monitoring Officers determine that it would be more appropriate for 

the Standards Complaint to be dealt with under equivalent arrangements of the 
appropriate Constituent Authority, the Combined Authority’s Monitoring Officer 
shall inform the Complainant in writing and no further action shall be taken in 
respect of the Standards Complaint under this Members Code of Conduct 
Protocol. 

 
7. Preliminary Assessment & Evaluation 

 
7.1 The Monitoring Officer shall, within 10 working days after receipt of a valid 

Standards Complaint (and after receiving any clarification/information 
requested), assess and evaluate the Standards Complaint to determine 
whether: 
 
(i) It can be dealt with by local resolution; 
(ii) It is frivolous and/or vexatious; 
(iii) It can be dealt with by adopting another approach that is considered 

more effective and/or efficient;  
(iv) It is appropriate to be referred for investigation (see paragraph 11 

below); or 
(v) It is appropriate to refer the matter to the Assessment Panel. 
 

(“Preliminary Assessment and Evaluation”). 
 
7.2 The Preliminary Assessment and Evaluation carried out by the Monitoring 

Officer under paragraph 7.1 above, must consider: 
 
(i) the views of the Independent Person; and 
(ii) the public interest. 

Page 124



 

 
7.3 Any action/steps taken, discretion exercised, and decisions made pursuant to 

this Protocol must promote the following: 
 
(i) Fairness to all parties and in proceedings; 
(ii) Accountability; 
(iii) Transparency of decision making; 
(iv) Efficiency; and 
(v) Value for money. 

 
7.4 The Monitoring Officer is unlikely to refer a complaint for investigation where it 

falls into any of the following categories: 
 
(i) The same, or substantially similar, complaint has already been the 

subject of assessment or investigation and there is nothing more to be 
gained by further action being taken. 

 
(ii) It appears that the complaint concerns or is really about dissatisfaction 

with a Combined Authority decision or policy rather than a breach of the 
Code of Conduct. 
 

(iii) There is not enough information currently available to justify a decision 
to refer the matter for investigation. 
 

(iv) The complaint is about someone who has died, resigned, is seriously ill 
or is no longer a Member of the Combined Authority and therefore it is 
not in the public interest to pursue. 
 

(v) Where the allegation is anonymous, unless it includes documentary or 
photographic evidence indicating an exceptionally serious or significant 
matter and it is considered in the public interest for it to be investigated. 
 

(vi) Where the event(s) or incident(s) took place more than 6 months prior 
to the date of complaint being received or where those involved are 
unlikely to remember the event(s) or incident(s) clearly enough to 
provide credible evidence. 
 

(vii) The complaint is such that it is unlikely that an investigation will be able 
to come to a firm conclusion on the matter and where independent 
evidence is likely to be difficult or impossible to obtain. 
 

(viii) He/she is satisfied that having regard to the nature of the complaint and 
the level of its potential seriousness, the public interest in conducting 
an investigation does not justify the cost of such an investigation. 
 

(ix) Where the allegation discloses a potential breach of the Code of 
Conduct but it is considered that the complaint is not serious enough to 
warrant any further action and: 

 

Page 125



 

(a) the Member and Officer resource needed to investigate and 
determine the complaint is wholly disproportionate to the matter 
complained about; or 

(b) in all the circumstances there is no overriding public benefit or 
interest in carrying out an investigation. 

 
7.5 The suitability of an alternative course of action to an investigation of a 

Standards Complaint will be heavily influenced by the nature of the complaint. 
Certain Standards Complaints may indicate that there is a wider underlying 
problem/trend. Deciding to deal pro-actively with such a matter in a positive 
way that does not involve an investigation can be a sensible way of resolving 
the matter/Standards Complaint. This may be the simplest and most cost-
effective way of: 

 
(i) getting the matter/Standards Complaint resolved promptly;  
(ii) helping the Combined Authority work more effectively; and  
(iii) avoiding similar complaints in the future. 

 
7.6 The Monitoring Officer, in carrying out the assessment and evaluation may 

consider that it is appropriate and proportionate that an alternative course of 
action is taken in relation to Standards Complaint as it: 

 
(i) enables a more satisfactory resolution to be achieved for all parties 

concerned;  
(ii) enables working practices or policies to be amended considering the 

issues raised; and/or 
(iii) allows a better understanding of Members knowledge of the Members’ 

Code of Conduct and/or Combined Authority procedures to be gauged. 
Evidence of this may include: 
 
(a) several Members failing to comply with the same part(s) of the Code 

of Conduct; 
(b) Officers giving incorrect advice; 
(c) failure to adopt the Code of Conduct; or 
(d) inadequate or incomplete protocols. 

 
7.7 Other action may also be appropriate where a breakdown in relationships within 

the Combined Authority is apparent; evidence of this may include: 
 

(i) a pattern of allegations of disrespect, bullying or harassment; 
(ii) factionalised groupings within the Combined Authority; 
(iii) a series of ‘tit-for-tat’ allegations; or 
(iv) ongoing employment issues, which may include resolved or ongoing 

employment tribunals, or grievance procedures. 
 
7.8 The Monitoring Officer in his/her discretion may refer complaints to an 

Assessment Panel in order to assess more serious or complex allegations and 
for the Assessment Panel to take the decision as to whether a formal 
investigation is merited where he/she feels it reasonable and appropriate to do 
so. The terms of reference for the Assessment Panel are set out in Appendix 5. 

Page 126



 

 
7.9 Unless otherwise stated within this Protocol, Standards Complaints that are 

referred for investigation under paragraph 7.1(iv) above, will not be referred to 
the Standards Panel in the event that the other action undertaken has (or is 
perceived to have) failed due to no fault or reason on the part of the Subject 
Member. To do so in such circumstances is considered unfair to the Subject 
Member. 

 
8. Local Resolution 

 
8.1 If, following Preliminary Assessment and Evaluation, the Monitoring Officer is of 

the opinion that a local resolution of the complaint is possible and appropriate, 
he/she shall approach the Subject Member and ask whether he/she admits, 
denies or otherwise wishes to comment on the allegation made in the 
Standards Complaint; and whether he/she would be prepared to offer an 
apology or undertake other remedial action conducive to achieving a local 
resolution. 
 

8.2 If the Subject Member agrees to offer an apology or undertake other remedial 
action, and duly does so, the Standards Complaint shall not be progressed any 
further. In such circumstances there shall be no reporting of the Standards 
Complaint and/or its outcome to the Combined Authority or any Committee of 
the Combined Authority other than as part of a periodic anonymous summary to 
the Audit and Governance Committee for monitoring and review purposes. 

 
8.3 If the Monitoring Officer, whilst seeking local resolution of the Standards 

Complaint, is of the opinion that: 
 

(i) local resolution is unlikely to be achieved at all or within an acceptable 
timescale;  

(ii) the Subject Member fails to offer an apology or undertake the agreed 
remedial action within the timescales agreed or within a reasonable time; 
and/or there has been a material change in circumstances (i.e. further  
information coming to light and issues being raised) since the Monitoring 
Officer undertook the Preliminary Assessment and Evaluation under 
paragraph 7.1 he/she shall refer the Standards Complaint and the 
additional information for investigation and the investigation report 
produced shall be considered by the Assessment Panel. 

 
9. Frivolous/Vexatious Complaints 
 
9.1 If, following the Preliminary Assessment and Evaluation, the Monitoring Officer 

is of the opinion that the Standards Complaint is frivolous and/or vexatious, 
he/she shall inform the Complainant of his/her view and the reasons for 
reaching that conclusion. The Standards Complaint shall not be progressed any 
further and nor will there be a right of appeal against the decision of the 
Monitoring Officer in such circumstances. 

 
10. Alternative approach 

Page 127



 

 
10.1 If, following the assessment and evaluation outlined above, the Monitoring 

Officer is of the opinion that an alternative approach exists that could achieve a 
more effective and efficient resolution of the Standards Complaint than that 
outlined in paragraphs 8.2 and 8.3 above, he/she shall adopt that approach 
accordingly and endeavour to achieve a resolution of the Standards Complaint. 
 

10.2 If the Monitoring Officer, whilst seeking resolution of the Standards Complaint 
by adopting an alternative approach, under paragraph 10.1, is of the opinion 
that: 

 
(i) A resolution of the Standards Complaint is unlikely to be achieved at all 

or within an acceptable timescale; and/or 
(ii) The Subject Member fails to co-operate or undertake the agreed remedial 

action within the timescales agreed or within a reasonable time; and/or 
(iii) there has been a material change in circumstances (i.e. further 

information coming to light and issues being raised) since the Monitoring 
Officer undertook the Preliminary Assessment and Evaluation under 
Paragraph 7.1; 

 
he/she shall refer the Standards Complaint and any other relevant information 
for investigation and the investigation report produced shall be considered by 
the Assessment Panel. 

 
11. Referral of a Complaint for Investigation 

 
11.1 Where the Monitoring Officer has determined that the Standards Complaint 

should be referred for investigation, he/she may undertake the investigation in 
person, or alternatively: 
 
(i) appoint another person (including the Deputy Monitoring Officer); or 
(ii) another appropriate officer (having regard to the nature of the allegations); 

or  
(iii) a Monitoring Officer/Deputy Monitoring Officer of another local authority; 

or 
(iv) an external investigator of appropriate experience and standing, (an 

“Investigator”), to undertake the investigation. 
 

11.2 Within ten working days of the Monitoring Officer’s decision that the Standards 
Complaint should be investigated, he/she will: 

 
(i) begin to investigate the matter personally; or 
(ii) seek to appoint an Investigator and set out the terms of reference for the 

investigation; and 
(iii)  request the Investigator to submit an investigation plan for approval by the 

Monitoring Officer and then to conduct an investigation of the Standards 
Complaint and to report his/her findings to the Monitoring Officer and 
subsequently to the Standards Panel. 

 

Page 128



 

11.3 The Monitoring Officer may appoint another person (or other persons) to assist 
him/her or the Investigator in the conduct of his/her functions. 

 
11.4 The investigation will be carried out having regard to any terms of reference 

and/or any guidance provided by the Assessment Panel and/or the Monitoring 
Officer. The timescale for investigation may take longer when dealing with 
complex complaints or where there are large numbers of witnesses. In such 
cases the Monitoring Officer will ensure that the process is dealt with in a timely 
manner; concluded as soon as reasonably practicable; and that the 
Complainant, Subject Member and Chair of the Assessment Panel (should the 
Assessment Panel have been consulted) are kept informed of progress. 

 
11.5 The Monitoring Officer shall ensure that the investigation is conducted in a 

manner that is appropriate and proportionate to the seriousness of the 
complaint and compliant with natural justice and human rights. The Monitoring 
Officer shall have regard to all relevant considerations, including:  

 
(i) the extent to which allegations are supported by any evidence;  
(ii) the Combined Authority’s financial position; and 
(iii) the public interest.  

 
The investigation process is set out in the flowchart at Appendix 4. 

 
12. Production of Documents, Information and Explanations 
 
12.1 In the course of the investigation, the Investigator (and any person authorised 

on his/her behalf) may make such enquiries of any person (and/or request any 
person to provide any document, information or explanation), as he/she thinks 
necessary for the purposes of carrying out the investigation. 
 

13. Interviews 
 
Requesting attendance 
 
13.1 In the course of the investigation the Investigator may request any person to 

attend and appear before him/her or otherwise provide advice or information, 
as he/she thinks necessary for the purposes of carrying out the investigation. 
 

13.2 The Complainant, Subject Member and other relevant Members (as determined 
by the Investigator) shall co-operate fully with the Investigator and make 
themselves available for interview within 15 working days of the Investigator 
requesting a convenient time and date for interview. 
 

13.3 In the event that the Complainant or Subject Member fails to respond to a 
request for interview or fail to make him/herself available for interview within 15 
working days of the Investigator request for interview or fails to co-operate fully 
with the Investigator thereby leading to unnecessary and/or unacceptable 
delay, the Monitoring Officer shall be entitled, after seeking the views of the 
Independent Person, to instruct the Investigator to complete the investigation 
and final report without interviewing the Complainant or Subject Member. 

Page 129



 

 
Representation 
 
13.4 Any person who is interviewed by the Investigator may be accompanied (at 

their own expense) by one friend/adviser provided that that person is not a 
witness in the same investigation. 

 
Notes of interviews 
 
13.5 Where reasonably practicable, following the interview the Investigator will 

produce a written note of the material points of the interview and provide two 
copies of that note to the person interviewed within 5 working days of the 
interview. The person interviewed will be asked to return one copy signed as a 
correct record of the interview, with such corrections or amendments as they 
may feel necessary for that purpose within 10 working days of receipt of the 
interview notes, otherwise the notes will be taken as agreed. 
 

13.6 The Investigating Officer may, following consultation with the Independent 
Person, refer an investigation to the Monitoring Officer for re-consideration as 
to whether the investigation should proceed where: 

 
13.6.1 As a result of new evidence or information, the Investigating Officer is 

of the opinion that the matter is materially less serious than may have 
seemed apparent to the Monitoring Officer or Assessment Panel when 
the decision was made to refer the complaint for investigation, and a 
different decision may have been made had either the Monitoring 
Officer or Assessment Panel been aware of the new evidence or 
information; 
 

13.6.2 The Subject Member has died, is seriously ill or has resigned from the 
Combined Authority and in the circumstances the Investigator is of the 
opinion that it is no longer appropriate to proceed with the investigation; 
or  
 

13.6.3 Other circumstances arise, which in the reasonable opinion of the 
Investigator, render it appropriate for the investigation to be referred to 
the Monitoring Officer or Assessment Panel for re-consideration. 

 
14. Investigator’s Report 
 
14.1 The Investigator will decide whether it is appropriate to produce a draft report or 

to produce a final report without first producing a draft report; a draft report will 
only be produced in the case of unusually lengthy or complex investigations. In 
either event, the Investigator may wish to confirm the accuracy of parts of the 
report directly with the Complainant and/or any other persons interviewed 
during the investigation. 
 

14.2 The draft report will be marked “Confidential” and “Draft”. It will also be made 
clear that the draft report does not necessarily represent the Investigator’s final 

Page 130



 

findings and that a final report will be presented to the Standards Panel once 
the Investigator has considered any comments received on the draft report. 
 

14.3 The Investigator will then send a copy of his/her draft report to the Monitoring 
Officer and to the Complainant and Subject Member, who will be afforded the 
opportunity to make comments on the draft report for consideration by the 
Investigator. All such comments shall be made by the Complainant and Subject 
Member, to the Investigator, within 10 working days of receipt of the draft 
report. 
 

14.4 The Investigator, upon receipt of any comments received under paragraph 14.3 
above, will consider such comments when preparing his/her final report for 
submission to the Monitoring Officer. 

 
15. Rights and Responsibilities of Members and the Investigator 
 
15.1 Depending upon the seriousness of the allegations and the available evidence, 

the Investigator may also interview other persons named by the Subject 
Member or the Complainant if the Investigator considers such persons may 
assist the investigation. 
 

15.2 Neither the Subject Member nor the Complainant shall seek to interview any 
person who may be of assistance to the investigation. 
 

15.3 The Subject Member and Complainant may provide the Investigator with any 
documents and information, they would like the Investigator to examine as part 
of the investigation, or the contact details of persons they would like the 
Investigator to interview. 
 

15.4 The Complainant and Subject Member will normally be interviewed face-to-face 
by the Investigator. However, witnesses may be interviewed by telephone or 
alternative electronic means or invited to make written submissions, as the 
Investigator considers appropriate. The Subject Member will normally be given 
an opportunity to comment upon all evidence submitted by the Complainant (or 
others) to substantiate the complaint. 
 

15.5 It is a breach of the Members’ Code of Conduct to attempt to intimidate the 
Investigator, members of the Audit and Governance Committee, members of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, or any witness, potential witness or any 
other person involved in relation to the Standards Complaint and any 
investigation. 
 

15.6 Neither the Complainant nor Subject Member should attempt to discuss or 
otherwise communicate matters and issues relating to a Standards Complaint 
in which they are involved with members of the Audit and Governance 
Committee or members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Should the 
Complainant or Subject Member have any queries or concerns in respect of the 
Standards Complaint or investigation, then he/she should raise them directly 
with the Monitoring Officer in writing. 
 

Page 131



 

15.7 Anyone involved with the investigation will be advised that they may be 
compromising their position if they communicate with the media on matters 
relevant to the investigation whilst the investigation is ongoing and that any 
communication that is made should emanate from the Combined Authority’s 
communication team. 
 

15.8 It is the responsibility of the Investigator to seek to discover the facts in an 
impartial and thorough manner. It is the responsibility of the Standards Panel 
(and Standards Appeal Panel) to determine the facts and decide whether there 
has been a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct. 

 
16. Processing the Investigator’s Report 
 
16.1 Within seven working days from receipt of the Investigator’s final report the 

Monitoring Officer shall send a copy of the Investigator’s final report to both the 
Complainant and the Subject Member. 
 

16.2 In the event that the Investigator in his/her final report concludes that the Code 
of Conduct has not been breached (and the Monitoring Officer is satisfied, after 
seeking the views of the Independent Person, with the investigation and the 
Investigator’s final report), then no further action shall be taken in respect of the 
Standards Complaint and the matter shall be closed. The Monitoring Officer 
shall, with agreement of the Subject Member, arrange for a media statement to 
be issued in relation to the Standards Complaint and the findings/outcome of 
the investigation. 
 

16.3 Where the Investigator has concluded in his/her final report that the Code of 
Conduct has been breached, the Monitoring Officer shall, within 10 working 
days of receipt of the Investigator’s final report, write to the Complainant and 
Subject Member requesting that they complete relevant forms to enable the 
Standards Panel to be convened within 20 working days at a convenient time 
and date to all parties to consider the Investigator’s Report. Responses must be 
returned to the Monitoring Officer within 5 working days of the request being 
made. Should either the Complainant or Subject Member fail to reply, a 
reminder will be sent to him/her allowing a further 5 working days to reply. 
Should a reply still not be received, the Monitoring Officer shall be entitled to 
assume that the Complainant or Subject Member (as applicable) does not 
dispute the findings and conclusions of the Investigator’s final report and does 
not wish to participate in the Standards Panel hearing. 

 
17. Confidentiality of Information gathered during an Investigation 
 
17.1 Information gathered during an investigation will be treated as confidential until 

it is reproduced in the form of a final report. Anyone involved in the investigation 
or interviewed will be required to maintain confidentiality and any Member 
(including the Subject Member) will be reminded of his/her obligation under part 
1.3 of the Code of Conduct not to disclose information they have received in 
confidence. 
 

Page 132



 

17.2 If a draft report is issued in relation to the outcome of the investigation, it will be 
marked “confidential”, to preserve the integrity of the final report or any further 
investigation that may need to be carried out, and must not be disclosed by the 
recipient to another person (unless disclosure is to his/her advisor(s) 
confidentially). 

 
18. Role of Investigator and the Panels 
 
18.1 The function of the Investigator is to ensure, as far as possible, that all the 

information which is relevant to the allegation is identified and presented to the 
Standards Panel (and the Standards Appeal Panel as applicable), to assist it in 
determining whether the Subject Member has failed to comply with the Code of 
Conduct as alleged in the Standards Complaint. 
 

18.2 It is essential that the Investigator acts, at all times, in a manner that is impartial 
and fair to all parties. 
 

18.3 The Standards Panel (and the Standards Appeal Panel as applicable) shall act 
in an inquisitorial manner seeking the truth in relation to the conduct of the 
Subject Member and, on the balance of probabilities, reach a decision having 
regard to all relevant representations, evidence and information adduced. 

 
19. Standards Panel 
 
19.1 Where a Standards Complaint has been referred for investigation and a finding 

of a breach has been found by the Investigator, the Monitoring Officer shall 
seek to convene a Standards Panel within 20 working days of the Monitoring 
Officer receiving the response of the Complainant and the Subject Member in 
accordance with paragraph 16.3 above. 
 

19.2 The Standards Panel shall consider and/or have regard to: 
 

(i) The Investigator’s final report; 
(ii) The views of the Independent Person; 
(iii) Material factors, relevant issues and evidence; 
(iv) Relevant representations made by the parties, 
(v) Available guidance and advice; and 
(vi) Any aggravating and/or mitigating factors (as considered appropriate). 

 
19.3 The Standards Panel will then reach one of the following decisions in respect of 

the Standards Complaint: 
 

19.3.1 Agree with findings and conclusions of the Investigator as set out in the 
Investigator’s final report; or 

19.3.2 Reach an alternative decision. 
 
19.4 All relevant parties shall be entitled to attend the meeting of the Standards 

Panel. The Standards Panel will afford all relevant parties the opportunity to 
make representations to the Standards Panel in support of their respective 
positions. Whilst the parties will not be entitled to directly cross-examine each 

Page 133



 

other, they will be entitled to challenge and rebut any evidence adduced or 
representations made by the other. The Subject Member may be represented, 
legally or otherwise, at the Standards Panel. The procedure adopted at the 
Standards Panel meeting will be as set out in Appendix 6. If the Standards 
Panel considers that a party or witness should give evidence and they do not 
attend then the Standards Panel will be entitled to give such weight as it 
considers appropriate to the evidence given. 
 

19.5 The Standards Panel, with the benefit of any advice from the Independent 
Person, may conclude that the Subject Member did not fail to comply with the 
Code of Conduct and so dismiss the complaint. If the Standards Panel 
concludes that the Subject Member did fail to comply with the Code of Conduct, 
the Chair will inform the Subject Member of this finding and the Standards 
Panel will then consider what action, if any, it recommends should be taken as 
a result of the Subject Member’s failure to comply with the Code of Conduct. 

 
20. Action the Standards Panel can take where a Member has failed to 

comply with the Code of Conduct  
 
20.1 The Combined Authority has delegated to the Standards Panel such of its 

powers to act in respect of individual Members as may be necessary to 
promote and maintain high standards of conduct. Accordingly, the Standards 
Panel may: 

 
20.1.1 instruct the Monitoring Officer to write a formal warning letter to the 

Subject Member reminding him/her of the need to comply with the 
Code of Conduct; and/or 
 

20.1.2 require the Subject Member to apologise to the Complainant (whether 
verbally or in writing) for breaching the Code of Conduct. Should the 
Subject Member in question fail or refuse to do so promptly, the 
Monitoring Officer shall report this fact to the Subject Member’s 
Political Group Leader*; and/or 
 

20.1.3 report the Standards Panel’s decision to a public meeting of the Audit 
and Governance Committee for reference/consideration; and/or 
 

20.1.4 recommend to the Member’s Political Group Leader* that disciplinary 
action should be taken against the Subject Member in question and/or 
that he/she be removed from all (or some) outside bodies to which the 
Subject Member has been appointed; and/or 
 

20.1.5 instruct the Monitoring Officer to arrange training for the Subject 
Member in question who shall be required to attend. Should the 
Subject Member fail to attend the training arranged, the Monitoring 
Officer shall report this fact to the Subject Member’s Political Group 
Leader* 

 
* In the event that the Subject Member in question is the Political Group 
Leader, the recommendation shall be referred to the relevant Deputy Political 

Page 134



 

Group Leader; in the event that the Subject Members in question are both the 
Political Group Leader and Deputy Political Group Leader, the recommendation 
shall be referred to the next most relevant senior Political Group 
Official/Spokesperson. 

 
20.2 The Standards Panel has no power to suspend or disqualify the Subject 

Member or to withdraw a Subject Member’s basic allowance or any special 
responsibility allowance. 

 
21. Action the Standards Panel can take where a Member has NOT failed to 

comply with the Code of Conduct 
 
21.1 Where the Standards Panel determines that the Code of Conduct has NOT 

been breached, it may: 
 

21.1.1 recommend, subject to the agreement of the Subject Member, that a 
media statement be issued on the Combined Authority’s website 
detailing the nature and outcome of the investigation into the 
allegations made and the decision of the Standards Panel; or 
 

21.1.2 subject to the agreement of the Subject Member, report the Standards 
Panel’s decision to a public meeting of the Audit and Governance 
Committee. 

 
21.2 The Standards Panel may commission further investigation(s) or request 

additional information as necessary to enable it to decide in relation to the 
Standards Complaint; and accordingly adjourn the consideration of a Standards 
Complaint to another meeting. 

 
22. Notification of Standards Panel Decision  
 
22.1 At the end of the Standards Panel meeting, the Chair will state the decision of 

the Standards as to whether the Subject Member has failed to comply with the 
Code of Conduct and as to any action which the Standards Panel resolves to 
take. 
 

22.2 The Standards Panel decision and its reasons shall be confirmed in writing to 
the Complainant and the Subject Member within seven working days of the 
Standards Panel meeting. The Complainant and Subject Member have a right 
to seek permission to appeal to the Standards Appeal Panel against the 
decision of the Standards Panel in accordance with paragraph 23 below. 

 
23. Request for Permission to Appeal 

 
23.1 If the Complainant or Subject Member is dissatisfied with the decision of the 

Standards Panel, he/she may seek permission to appeal to the Standards 
Appeal Panel against the decision on the grounds set out below. 
 

Page 135



 

23.2 Any request seeking permission to appeal must be made in writing to the 
Monitoring Officer within 10 working days of receipt of the Standards Panel's 
decision. 
 

23.3 The Monitoring Officer shall acknowledge any request seeking permission to 
appeal made under paragraph 23.2 within 5 working days of receipt. 
 

23.4 A request seeking permission to appeal will only be valid and accepted 
providing: 

 
(i) It confirms the procedural, legal and/or evidential issues are relied upon in 

support of the request; and 
 

(ii) The Monitoring Officer is satisfied, having considered the views of the 
Independent Person, that:  

 
(a) significant and/or important procedural, legal and material evidential 

issues have been raised; and/or  
 

(b) it is considered reasonable and equitable in the circumstances that the 
request for appeal be permitted. The Monitoring Officer shall make a 
decision in respect of the request within 5 working days and promptly 
notify the Complainant and Subject Member of his/her decision. 

 
24. Review Panel 

 
24.1 The Monitoring Officer shall seek to convene a meeting of the Standards 

Appeal Panel to consider the appeal within 20 working days of his/her decision 
to allow an appeal under paragraph 23.4 above. 
 

24.2 The Monitoring Officer shall, within 5 working days of allowing the appeal, write 
to the Complainant and Subject Member requesting that they complete relevant 
forms to enable the Standards Appeal Panel to be convened at a convenient 
time and date to all parties to hear the appeal. Responses must be returned to 
the Monitoring Officer within ten working days of the request being made. 
Should either the Complainant or Subject Member fail to reply, a reminder will 
be sent to him/her allowing a further five working days to reply. Should a reply 
still not be received, the Monitoring Officer shall be entitled to assume that the 
Complainant or Subject Member (as applicable) does not dispute the findings 
and conclusions of the Investigator's final report and does not wish to 
participate in the Standards Appeal Panel hearing. 

 
24.3 The Standards Appeal Panel will consider and have regard to: 

 
(i) The Investigator’s final report; 
(ii) The views of the Independent Person; 
(iii) Material factors, relevant issues and evidence; 
(iv) Relevant representations made by the parties, 
(v) Available guidance and advice; and 

Page 136



 

(vi) Any aggravating and/or mitigating factors (as considered appropriate). 
 
24.4 The Standards Appeal Panel will then reach one of the following decisions in 

respect of the appeal: 
 

24.4.1 Agree with findings and conclusions of the Investigator as set out in the 
Investigator’s final report; or 

24.4.2 Reach an alternative decision. 
 

24.5 All relevant parties shall be entitled to attend the meeting of the Standards 
Appeal Panel. The Standards Appeal Panel will afford all relevant parties the 
opportunity to make representations to the Standards Appeal Panel in support 
of their respective positions. Whilst the parties will not be entitled to directly 
cross-examine each other, they will be entitled to challenge and rebut any 
evidence adduced or representations made by the other. The Subject Member 
may be represented, legally or otherwise, at the Standards Appeal Panel. The 
procedure adopted at the Standards Appeal Panel meeting will be as set out in 
Appendix 7. If the Standards Appeal Panel considers that a party or witness 
should give evidence and they do not attend then the Standards Appeal Panel 
will be entitled to give such weight as it considers appropriate to the evidence 
given. 

 
25. Action the Standards Appeal Panel can take where a Member has failed to 

comply with the Code of Conduct 
 
25.1 The Combined Authority has delegated to the Standards Appeal Panel such of 

its powers to take action in respect of individual Members as may be necessary 
to promote and maintain high standards of conduct. Accordingly, the Standards 
Appeal Panel may take any of the actions as detailed in paragraph 20.1. 

 
26. Action the Standards Appeal Panel can take where a Member has NOT 

failed to comply with the Code of Conduct 
 

26.1 Where the Standards Appeal Panel determines that the Members' Code of 
Conduct has NOT been breached, it may take any of the actions as detailed in 
paragraph 21.1. 
 

26.2 The Standards Appeal Panel may commission further investigation/s or request 
additional information as necessary to enable it to make a decision in relation to 
the appeal; and accordingly adjourn the consideration of the appeal to another 
meeting. 

 
27. Notification of Standards Appeal Panel Decision 

 
At the end of the Standards Appeal Panel meeting, the Chair will state the 
decision of the Standards Appeal as to whether the Subject Member has failed 
to comply with the Code of Conduct and as to any action which the Standards 
Appeal Panel resolves to take. 
 

Page 137



 

The Standards Appeal Panel decision and its reasons shall be confirmed in 
writing to the Complainant and the Subject Member, normally within seven 
working days of the Standards Appeal Panel meeting. The Complainant and 
Subject Member do not have a right of appeal against the decision of the 
Standards Appeal Panel. 

 
28. Access to Meetings and Decision Making 
 
28.1 Where the Standards Panel or Standards Appeal Panel is considering 

allegations that a Subject Member has failed, or may have failed, to comply 
with the Code of Conduct, the Standards Complaint and all associated reports, 
documents and information will likely be exempt from disclosure under 
paragraph 10 of the Combined Authority’s Access to Information Procedure 
Rules unless the Standards Panel or the Standards Appeal Panel at its meeting 
considers that the public interest in lifting the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption. 
 

28.2 Agendas and papers for meetings of the Standards Panel and Standards 
Appeal Panel shall be distributed in accordance with the Combined Authority’s 
Access to Information Procedure Rules. 
 

28.3 The publication of Standards Panel and Standards Appeal Panel decisions and 
associated information shall be kept for six years from the date of the decision. 

 
29. Confidentiality 
 
29.1 Unless otherwise permitted under this Protocol or required by legislation, a 

Standards Complaint (and all associated information, documents, information) 
shall remain confidential until such time that the Monitoring Officer, or Audit and 
Governance Committee, or the Standards Panel or the Standards Appeal 
Panel, consider it appropriate (if at all) to disclose the Standards Complaint 
(and all associated information, documents, information) in the public domain. 
 

29.2 Any request by the Complainant to keep his/her name confidential will be 
considered by the Monitoring Officer within five working days of receipt of any 
such request and the decision (with reasons) communicated to the 
Complainant in writing. Where the request is refused, the Complainant may be 
afforded the opportunity to withdraw the Standards Complaint. However, where 
the Standards Complaint relates to a serious matter, the Monitoring Officer 
reserves the right to progress the Standards Complaint in accordance with this 
Protocol. 

 
29.3 In exceptional circumstances, despite the Monitoring Officer agreeing to the 

Complainant’s identity being kept confidential under paragraphs 2.2 or 29.2 
above, the confidential details in question may still become known in the public 
domain or have to be provided for other reasons and purposes when disclosing 
them in the public domain. 
 

29.4 The Subject Member will not be informed/notified of the Standards Complaint 
and/or the identity of the Complainant, in accordance with paragraph 2 until 

Page 138



 

after the Monitoring Officer has considered the Standards Complaint and made 
a determination in relation to any request for confidentiality made under 
paragraph 29.2 above. 

 
30. Conflicts of Interest 
 
30.1 Members and officers shall not take part in meetings of the Standards Panel or 

Standards Appeal Panel where any of the following circumstances apply: 
 

30.1.1 The complaint is likely to affect the well-being or financial position of 
that Member or officer or the well-being or financial position of a friend, 
family member of person with whom they have a close association. 
 

30.1.2 The Member or officer is directly or indirectly involved in the Standards 
Complaint and/or investigation in any way. 
 

30.1.3 A family member, friend or close associate of the Member or officer is 
involved in the Standards Complaint and/or investigation. 
 

30.1.4 The Member or officer has an interest in any matter relating to the 
Standards Complaint and/or investigation. For example, it concerns a 
Member’s failure to declare an interest in a planning application in 
which the Member or officer has an interest. This is even though the 
outcome of any investigation or other action could not affect the 
decision reached on the application. 

 
31. Monitoring and Review 
 
31.1 For monitoring and review purposes, the Monitoring Officer shall provide the 

Audit and Governance Committee, annually (unless otherwise directed by the 
Audit and Governance Committee), an anonymous summary (unless the 
information is already in the public domain) of all Standards Complaints 
received, their progress, outcome and any costs incurred. 

 
32. Failure to Comply with the Requirements of this Protocol 
 
32.1 Failure by a Member to comply with the reasonable requirements of the 

Investigator, or this Protocol, may result in a complaint being made to or by the 
Monitoring Officer under the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

 
33. Modification of Procedure 

 
33.1 The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Chair of the Audit and 

Governance Committee (or their nominated spokesperson), may vary the 
procedures and practices detailed in this Protocol where the variation is 
considered: 

 
(i) necessary to ensure the effective and timely administration, investigation 

and/or 
(ii) determination of a Standards Complaint; and  

Page 139



 

(iii) it is fair and equitable to do so.  
 
33.2 Any such variation shall be recorded in writing (which shall include the reasons 

for the variation) and be signed by the Chairperson of the Audit and 
Governance Committee. 

 

Page 140



 

Appendix 1 - Definitions and Interpretation 
 
 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 
 

means the access to information 
procedure rules contained in Part 4 – 
Section C of the Constitution of The 
Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority. 
 

Assessment Panel 
 

means a group of 3 individuals 
comprised of: 

(a) 1 member of the Audit and 
Governance Committee; 

(b) 2 members of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee; and 

(c) so that the members of the panel 
taken as a whole reflect so far as 
reasonably practicable the 
balance of political parties for the 
time being prevailing among 
members of the Constituent 
Authorities when taken together; 

 
whose principal purpose is to assess 
complaints involving more serious or 
complex allegations as referred by the 
Monitoring Officer and take the decision 
as to whether a formal investigation is 
merited. 
 

Audit and Governance Committee  
 

means a group of 7 individuals who 
provide independent review of LCRCA’s 
governance, risk management and 
control frameworks and oversee the 
financial reporting and annual 
governance processes comprised of: 
 

(a) 2 members of the Combined 
Authority who hold voting rights; 

(b) 4 members of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee; and 

(c) 1 independent individual. 
 

Chair 
 

refers to the relevant person presiding 
at the Audit and Governance Committee 
or Standards Panel or Standards 
Appeal Panel. 
 

Page 141



 

Code of Conduct 
 

means the Code of Conduct for 
Members which is contained in the 
Constitution of The Liverpool City 
Region Combined Authority and is 
accessible from the Combined 
Authority’ website  
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-
ca.gov.uk/ 
 

Complainant 
 

means the person who is making the 
Standards Complaint. 
 

Constituent Authority(ies) 
 

means the councils for Halton, 
Knowsley, Liverpool, Sefton, St Helens 
and Wirral. 
 

Co-opted Member(s) means a person who is not a Statutory 
Member but: 

(a) is appointed as a member of any 
of the Combined Authority’s 
committees or sub-committees, 
or  

(b) is a member of and represents 
the Combined Authority on any 
joint committee or joint 
subcommittee of the Combined 
Authority, and  

(c) is entitled to participate at such 
meetings. 
 

Independent Person 
 

means a person appointed by a 
Constituent Authority (other than the 
Constituent Authority to which the 
Subject Member belongs) in 
accordance with section 28(7) Localism 
Act; 
 

Investigator means the Monitoring Officer or other 
person nominated by the Monitoring 
Officer (or his/her representative) to 
investigate a Standards Complaint. 
 

Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority or Combined Authority 
 

means the body corporate established 
by statutory instrument known as 
Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority, whose role it is to oversee 
and undertake responsibility for the 
exercise of those functions through the 
Local Democracy, Economic 

Page 142



 

Development and Construction Act 
2009 and the 2014 and the 2017 Orders 
made under it and any subsequent 
enactments. 
 

Member(s) means a Statutory Member or a Co-
Opted Member. 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee means a group of individuals, 
comprised of such a number of 
members of each of the Constituent 
Authorities so that the members of the 
committee taken as a whole reflect so 
far as reasonably practicable the 
balance of political parties for the time 
being prevailing among members of the 
Constituent Authorities when taken 
together, whose principal purpose is to 
achieve greater public accountability 
over decisions made and services 
delivered to the whole Liverpool City 
Region under the remit of LCRCA and 
the Metro Mayor. 
 

Protocol 
 

means this Members Code of Conduct 
Protocol. 
 

Standards Appeal Panel means a group of 3 individuals, who as 
far as reasonably practicable were not 
part of Assessment Panel or Standards 
Panel for the purposes of the Standards 
Complaint comprised of: 

(a) 1 member of the Audit and 
Governance Committee; 

(b) 2 members of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee; and 

(c) so that the members of the panel 
taken as a whole reflect so far as 
reasonably practicable the 
balance of political parties for the 
time being prevailing among 
members of the Constituent 
Authorities when taken together; 

 
whose principal purpose is to consider 
an appeal against the decision of the 
Standards Panel and make a final 
determination of the merits a Standards 
Complaint; 

Page 143



 

 
Standards Complaint means  

(i) a complaint made against a 
Subject Member alleging a 
potential breach of the Code of 
Conduct / misconduct that is 
accepted by the Monitoring 
Officer as a valid complaint; 
and  
 

(ii) has been made in writing 
using the prescribed 
‘complaint form template’ set 
out at Appendix 2 to this 
Protocol (unless otherwise 
accepted by the Monitoring 
Officer). 

 
Standards Panel 
 

means a group of 3 individuals, who as 
far as reasonably practicable were not 
part of Assessment Panel for the 
purposes of the Standards Complaint 
comprised of: 

(a) 1 member of the Audit and 
Governance Committee; 

(b) 2 members of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee; and 

(c) so that the members of the panel 
taken as a whole reflect so far as 
reasonably practicable the 
balance of political parties for the 
time being prevailing among 
members of the Constituent 
Authorities when taken together; 

 
whose principal purpose is to review a 
Standards Complaint referred by the 
Monitoring Officer or Assessment Panel, 
provide a determination of its merits and, 
in the event that sanctions are to be 
imposed against a Subject Member(s), 
liaise with Monitoring Officer in relation to 
their imposition; 
 

Subject Member(s) means the Member(s) of the Combined 
Authority who is the subject of an 
allegation(s) made under a Standards 

Page 144



 

Complaint unless stated otherwise or the 
context so requires. 
 

Statutory Member(s) means the individuals appointed to be a 
member of the Combined Authority in 
accordance with The Halton, Knowsley, 
Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral 
Combined Authority Order 2014 
comprised of: 
 

(a) a directly elected Mayor (“Metro 
Mayor”); 

(b) a councillor (elected member), 
who holds voting rights, appointed 
by each of the Constituent 
Authorities; 

(c) an unelected individual, who is 
non-voting, appointed by the 
Liverpool City Region Local 
Enterprise Partnership. 
 

 
 
 

Page 145



 

Appendix 2 – Complaint Form Template 
 
Customer Details 
 
Title: 
 

 

First name: 
 

 

Surname: 
 

 

Address: 
 

 

Telephone number: 
 

 

Mobile number: 
 

 

Work number: 
 

 

Email: 
 

 

Please tell us which statement best 
describes you: 
 

Member of the public ☐ 
 
Elected or co-opted member of an 
authority ☐ 
 
An independent person (pursuant to the 
Localism Act) ☐ 
 
Member of Parliament ☐ 
 
Local authority Monitoring Officer ☐ 
 
Other authority office or authority 
employee ☐ 
 
Other ☐ 
(Please detail): 

 
 
Member Details 
 
Title: 
 

 

First name: 
 

 

Surname: 
 

 

Authority name:  

Page 146



 

 
Does the complaint involve additional 
Members? 
 

Yes ☐ 
 
No ☐ 
 

 
 
Additional Member Details 
 
Title: 
 

 

First name: 
 

 

Surname: 
 

 

Authority name: 
 

 

Does the complaint involve additional 
Members? 
 

Yes ☐ 
 
No ☐ 
 

 
 
Complaint Details 
 
Please provide details of your complaint: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Confidentiality Details 
 
Do you wish to request that your identity 
is kept confidential? 
 

Yes ☐ 
 
No ☐ 
 

Please provide details as to why you believe details of your name and/or details of 
your complaint should be withheld: 
 
 

Page 147



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Desired Outcome 
 
Please indicate the desired outcome you are looking for or hoping to achieve by 
submitting this complaint: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Equality Monitoring (Optional) 
 
Are you prepared to provide some 
personal information for monitoring 
purposes? 
 

Yes ☐ 
 
No ☐ 

Are you: Male ☐ 
 
Female ☐ 
 
Other ☐ 
(Please detail): 
 
Prefer not to say ☐ 
 

How old are you? Under 16 ☐ 
 
16 – 30 ☐ 
 
31 – 49 ☐ 
 
50 – 64 ☐ 

Page 148



 

 
Over 65 ☐ 
 

Do you consider yourself disabled: 
 

Yes ☐ 
 
No ☐ 
 
Prefer not to say ☐ 
 

Ethnicity: 
 

White ☐ 
 
Asian or Asian British ☐ 
 
Black or Black British ☐ 
 
Mixed ☐ 
 
Other ☐ 
(Please detail): 
 

Religion: None ☐ 
 
Christian (all denominations) ☐ 
 
Buddhist ☐ 
 
Hindu ☐ 
 
Jewish ☐ 
 
Muslim ☐ 
 
Sikh ☐ 
 
Other ☐ 
(Please detail): 
 
 
 

Sexuality: Heterosexual ☐ 
 
Bisexual ☐ 
 
Gay ☐ 
 
Lesbian ☐ 
 

Page 149



 

Unknown ☐ 
 
Other ☐ 
(Please detail): 
 
Prefer not to say ☐ 
 

Is your gender identity the same gender 
you were assigned at birth? 

Yes ☐ 
 
No ☐ 
 
Prefer not to say ☐ 
 

Are you married? Yes ☐ 
 
No ☐ 
 
Prefer not to say ☐ 
 

Are you in a civil partnership? Yes ☐ 
 
No ☐ 
 
Prefer not to say ☐ 
 

 

Page 150



Appendix 3 - Standards Complaint Process Flowchart 

Complaint Submitted on  

Model Complaint Form 

M.O will acknowledge re-

ceipt within 5 working days 

Complaint will be sent to Member within 5 working 

days of M.O receiving valid complaint. Member 

has 10 working days to provide written comments 

M.O refers matter 

to Assessment 

Panel  

M.O will consult with the 

M.O of the Constituent Au-

thority to which the Subject 

Member belongs 

No investigation 

*End of Matter* 

M.O undertakes Preliminary 

Assessment and Evaluation  

within 10 working days 

Complain is dealt with  un-

der equivalent arrange-

ments of the appropriate 

Constituent Authority 

Formal investigation 

An I.O is appointed 

(See Procedure  For Investigations) 

Finding of breach of Code 

of Conduct 

No finding of breach of 

Code of Conduct 

*Standards Panel Hearing* 

(See Procedure for hearing) 

M.O and IP review report 

*No Further Action* 

Page 151



Key 

 

M.O—Monitoring Officer 

 

I.O—Investigating Officer 

 

I.P—Independent Person 

Page 152



Appendix 4 - Investigations Process Flowchart 

M.O or Assessment Panel decides formal 

investigation should take place 

I.O is appointed by M.O 

I.O will submit investigation plan to M.O 

for approval and then contact C and M to 

arrange an interview with them as soon 

as reasonably practicable 

Interview records will be sent to C and M for approval 

within 5 working days of interview.  C and M will have 

10 working days to respond, otherwise record will be 

taken as agreed 

Should C not wish 

to attend for inter-

view, guidance will 

be sought from 

M.O 

Any witnesses will also be interviewed 

Once all interviews have been conducted and notes of 

all interviews approved, I.O will produce a draft report.  

C and M will be afforded 10 working days to comment 

on the draft report 

I.O will then produce a final   

report for M.O 

Key 

 

M.O—Monitoring Officer 

 

I.O—Investigating Officer 

 

C—Complainant 

 

M—Member 

Page 153



 

Appendix 5 - Terms of Reference for the Assessment Panel 
 
 
1. The Assessment Panel will: 

 
(a) consider those complaints/allegations that a Statutory Member of the 

Combined Authority may have failed to comply with the Code of Conduct that 
the Monitoring Officer in his/her discretion refers to the Assessment Panel in 
order to evaluate and assess the complaint/ allegations and to take the 
decision as to whether a formal investigation is merited. 
 

(b) Take into account: 
 

(i) the views of the Independent Person; 
(ii) the public interest; 
(iii) paragraph 2.4 of the Members Code of Conduct Protocol. 

 
2. The Assessment Panel after consideration of a complaint/allegations may: 

 
(a) ask for additional information on the complaint/allegations before reaching a 

decision; 
 

(b) determine that a local resolution of the complaint/allegations is possible and 
appropriate; 
 

(c) determine that an alternative approach exists that could achieve a more 
effective and efficient resolution of the complaint; 
 

(d) determine that the complaint/allegations should be investigated. 
 
3. No individual shall sit on the Assessment Panel where they a conflict of interest. 
 
4. The Chair shall be appointed by the Assessment Panel at each meeting.  The 

Chair shall not be a member of the same political party of the Member against 
whom the complaint/allegation(s) have been made. 

 
5. The quorum for a meeting of the Assessment Panel shall be a group of 3 

individuals comprised of: 
 

(a) 1 member of the Audit and Governance Committee; 
 

(b) 2 members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and 
 

(c) so that the members of the sub-committee taken as a whole reflect so far as 
reasonably practicable the balance of political parties for the time being 
prevailing among members of the Constituent Councils when taken together. 

Page 154



 

 
6. The Assessment Panel will only meet when required to undertake its role and 

discharge its functions as set out in these Terms of Reference. 
 

 

 

Page 155



 

Appendix 6 - Standards Panel Procedure 
 
 

1. Appointment of Chair of the Standards Panel 
 

2. Declarations of interest 
 

3. Opening remarks of the Chair 
 

4. Standards Panel to determine whether the exemption to exclude the press 
and public is to be maintained. (Parties invited to make representations) 

 
5. Complainant (or representative) invited to make opening remarks 

 
6. Subject Member (or representative) invited to make opening remarks 

 
7. Investigator to present his/her report 

 
8. Parties invited to question the Investigator and/or seek points of clarification 

on the report 
 

9. Standards Panel to question the Investigator on his/her report 
 

10. Complainant (or representative) invited to make final submissions 
 

11. Standards Panel to seek clarification on any points relevant to the 
Complainant 

 
12. Subject Member (or representative) invited to make final submissions 

 
13. Standards Panel to seek clarification on any points relevant to the Subject 

Member 
 

14. Standards Panel to invite the views of the Independent Person for 
consideration 

 
15. Standards Panel hearing adjourned to allow for deliberation (as deemed 

appropriate the Standards Panel) 
 

16. Standards Panel hearing resumed for decision 
 

17. If the Standards Panel decision upholds/finds a breach of the Code of 
Conduct, the Subject Member (or representative) shall be invited to make 
submissions in respect of any mitigation (including in respect of actions the 
Standards Panel can take) for consideration by the Standards Panel 

 

Page 156



 

18. Standards Panel hearing adjourned to allow for deliberation (if deemed 
necessary by the Standards Panel) 

 
19. Standards Panel hearing resumed for decision on actions (if any) the 

Standards Panel have decided to take. 
 
 
The Chair and Standards Panel shall have discretion to vary the above procedure if 
it is considered appropriate and necessary to ensure fairness to all parties. 

Page 157



 

Appendix 7 - Standards Appeal Panel Procedure 
 
 

1. Appointment of Chairperson of the Standards Appeal Panel 
 

2. Declarations of interest 
 

3. Opening remarks of the Chair 
 

4. Standards Appeal Panel to determine whether the exemption to exclude the 
press and public is to be maintained. (Parties invited to make representations) 

 
5. Appellant (or representative) invited to make opening remarks 

 
6. Complainant (or representative) invited to make opening remarks 

 
7. Relevant witnesses shall in turn be called to answer questions and/or provide 

points of clarification as are relevant to the grounds of appeal 
 

8. Complainant (or representative) invited to make final submissions 
 

9. Standards Appeal Panel to seek clarification on any points relevant to 
Complainant 

 
10. Appellant (or representative) to make final submissions 

 
11. Standards Appeal Panel to seek clarification on any points relevant to 

Appellant 
 

12. Standards Appeal Panel to invite the views of the Independent Person for 
consideration 

 
13. Standards Appeal Panel hearing adjourned to allow for deliberation (as 

deemed appropriate the Panel) 
 

14. Standards Appeal Panel hearing resumed for decision 
 

15. If the Standards Appeal Panel decision upholds/finds a breach of the Code of 
Conduct, the Appellant (or representative) shall be invited to make 
submissions in respect of any mitigation (including in respect of actions the 
Standards Appeal Panel can take) for consideration by the Standards Appeal 
Panel 

 
16. Standards Appeal Panel hearing adjourned to allow for deliberation (if 

deemed necessary by the Standards Appeal Panel) 
 

Page 158



 

17. Standards Appeal Panel hearing resumed for decision on actions (if any) the 
Standards appeal Panel decide to take 

 
 
The Chair and Standards Appeal Panel shall have discretion to vary the above 
procedure if it is considered appropriate and necessary to ensure fairness to all 
parties. 

Page 159



This page is intentionally left blank



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 1/60

[]

Home [/] >  Publications [/publications]

This guidance, together with the guidance
prepared for councillors to help them understand
and follow the revised Local Government
Association (LGA) Model Councillor Code of
Conduct (2020), has been prepared in response to
requests received by the LGA as part of our
consultation in 2020 on the LGA Model Councillor
Code of Conduct. It is designed to assist
monitoring officers, and anyone nominated by a
monitoring officer to carry out investigations on
their behalf and to assist councillors in
understanding the process. Local authorities may
have different practices and arrangements in
place. However, the principles of fairness,
proportionality, transparency and impartiality will
still apply.

21 Sep 2021

Guidance on Member Model Code
of Conduct Complaints Handling

1. Introduction

It is vital that the public has confidence in the high standards of local government, and
that there is transparency about the conduct of councillors and the mechanisms for
dealing with alleged breaches of the Codes of Conduct. Equally, it is vital that
councillors themselves have confidence in these mechanisms, and that investigations
into such complaints abide by the principles of natural justice.

Page 161

https://www.local.gov.uk/
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications


05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 2/60

Any reference in this guidance to ‘you’ is a reference to a monitoring officer, a deputy
monitoring officer, or any person nominated by them to carry out their functions.
Furthermore, any reference to the ‘subject member’ is a reference to the councillor
who is the subject of the allegation and references to an Independent Person means
an Independent Person appointed under s. 28(7) of the Localism Act 2011.

Under the Model Code of Conduct, councillors are required to cooperate with any
Code of Conduct investigation and respect the impartiality of officers. This is in
recognition of the key role monitoring officers have in ensuring what might be
contentious and difficult issues are handled fairly. This guidance is to support them in
carrying out their duties.

The system of regulation of standards of councillor conduct in England is governed by
the Localism Act 2011. Local authorities must have a Code of Conduct for councillors,
which must be consistent with the “Seven Principles of Public Life”, selflessness,
honesty, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness and leadership.

Under Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011, local authorities (other than parish and
town councils) must have in place ‘arrangements’ under which allegations that an
elected or co-opted councillor of the authority or of a town or parish council within the
principal authority’s area has failed to comply with the authority’s Code of Conduct can
be considered and decisions made on such allegations. It is for the principal authority
to decide the details of those arrangements, but they must appoint at least one
Independent Person whose views are to be taken into account before making a
decision on a complaint that they have decided to investigate.

This guidance is for guidance purposes only and where it differs from the authority’s
own arrangements under the Localism Act then the authority’s arrangements should
be followed.

s28      (6) A relevant authority other than a parish council must have in place—

(a) arrangements under which allegations can be investigated, and

(b) arrangements under which decisions on allegations can be made.

(7) Arrangements put in place under subsection (6)(b) by a relevant authority must
include provision for the appointment by the authority of at least one independent
person—

(a) whose views are to be sought, and taken into account, by the authority before it
makes its decision on an allegation that it has decided to investigate, and

Page 162



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 3/60

(b) whose views may be sought—

(i) by the authority in relation to an allegation in circumstances not within paragraph
(a),

(ii) by a member, or co-opted member, of the authority if that    person’s behaviour is
the subject of an allegation, and

(iii) by a member, or co-opted member, of a parish council if that person’s behaviour is
the subject of an allegation and the authority is the parish council’s principal authority.

The case of R (Harvey) v Ledbury Town Council 2018 (R Taylor v Honiton TC) made
clear that allegations of a failure to follow an authority’s Code of Conduct can only be
considered in accordance with the principal authority’s standards arrangements.
Though the conduct complained of may give rise to a staff grievance, for example, the
subject member cannot receive a sanction outside of the standards arrangements.

Background

More than 100,000 people give their time as councillors. The majority do so with the
very best motives, and they conduct themselves in a way that is beyond reproach.
However, public perception tends to focus on a minority who in some way abuse their
positions or behave badly. Even where behaviour does falls short most issues are
resolved easily through a simple apology or through swift action from an officer, a
political group or meeting chair. Reference to the Code of Conduct and a formal
complaint are very much the last resort where issues remain unresolved.

Anyone who considers that a councillor may have breached the Code of Conduct may
make a complaint to that councillor’s local authority, usually via the principal
authority’s monitoring officer. Each complaint must be assessed to see if it falls within
the authority’s legal jurisdiction, for example whether the subject member was acting
as a councillor or representative of the authority at the time. A decision must then be
made on whether or not some action should be taken, either as an investigation or
some other form of action.

When a matter is referred for investigation or other action, it does not mean that a
decision has been made about the validity of the allegation. It simply means that the
authority believes the alleged conduct, if proven, may amount to a failure to comply
with the Code of Conduct and that some action should be taken in response to the
complaint.

Page 163



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 4/60

The process for dealing with Code of Conduct complaints must be fair and be seen to
be fair.

2. Initial assessment of complaints

Responsibilities

The law does not specify how complaints are to be handled. However, in most
authorities, initial assessment of complaints that a councillor may have breached the
Code of Conduct is usually carried out by the authority’s monitoring officer. In other
authorities all complaints go to an assessment committee of councillors for
consideration. This is a matter for local choice, but the authority should be satisfied
that whatever assessment arrangements it adopts, the assessment can be carried out
fairly, objectively and without undue delay.

Even where the matter is normally delegated to the monitoring officer, they may
reserve the right to refer the matter to a committee of councillors, for example where
the monitoring officer has a conflict of interest or the matter is particularly high-profile.

Whichever approach (or any other) is taken, it is important to have published criteria
against which complaints can be assessed to aid transparency and consistency (see
below).

Independent Persons (IPs) are people who are neither councillors nor officers of the
authority but are appointed under Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011 to work with the
authority to support them with Code of Conduct complaints and standards issues.
Under the Localism Act their views must be sought and taken into account on any
matter under investigation, the subject member may seek their views at any stage and
the authority may also seek their views at any other stage of the process.

The Committee on Standards in Public Life has recommended that authorities should
also seek the views of the IP when initially assessing a case as a further way of
ensuring consistency and enhancing public confidence in the framework.

Pre-assessment

Publicising the complaints system

Page 164



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 5/60

Local authorities, including parish and town councils, should publish information on
their websites about the Code of Conduct, about what can and cannot be considered
as a complaint, how to complain (including a standard complaints form if appropriate)
and where Code of Conduct complaints should be sent to. They should also provide
clear details of the procedures they will follow in relation to any written allegation
received about a councillor.

Where a principal authority is responsible for handling complaints about its parish and
town councillors, it should also make this clear.

The submission of complaints and accessibility

Local authorities should consider that some complainants will not know where to
direct their complaint. Some complaints may also need to be considered through more
than one of an authority’s complaint processes.

Officers dealing with any incoming complaints to the authority will therefore need to be
alert to a complaint that a councillor may have breached the Code. If a written
complaint specifies or appears to specify that it is in relation to the Code, then it
should be passed to the relevant person for consideration.

Local authorities may produce a complaint form which sets out all the information they
expect to receive from a complainant. This can be helpful to both the authority and the
complainant. However, authorities cannot compel complainants to use a complaint
form.

If an authority does not have a complaint form, it should nevertheless give clear
guidelines as to the information that complainants need to provide.

The required information may include:

the complainant’s name, address and other contact details;
who the complainant is, for example, a member of the public, fellow councillor or
officer;
who the complaint is about and the authority or authorities that the councillor
belongs to;
details of the alleged misconduct including, where possible, dates, witness details
and other supporting information;
equality monitoring data if applicable, for example the nationality of the complainant.

Page 165



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 6/60

The authority should also make it clear that only in exceptional circumstances would a
complainant be granted confidentiality and that as a matter of fairness the
complainant’s identity would normally be disclosed to the subject member (see section
below on confidentiality).

A complaint may arise from an expression of dissatisfaction or concern, which come
about in a number of ways initially, including verbally. In such cases, the monitoring
officer should ask the complainant whether they want to formally put the matter in
writing. If the complainant does not, then the monitoring officer should consider the
options for informal resolution to satisfy the complainant. If it is a significant complaint,
which the complainant is unwilling to commit to writing (for example because they feel
they are being bullied), the monitoring officer may wish to reassure the complainant
about confidentiality and draft the complaint for agreement with the complainant.

Under the Localism Act, however, formal complaints must be submitted in writing. This
include electronic submissions, though the requirement for complaints to be submitted
in writing must be read in conjunction with the Equality Act 2010 and the duty to make
adjustments. For example, a complainant may have a disability that prevents them
from making their complaint in writing. In such cases, authorities may need to
transcribe a verbal complaint and then produce a written copy for approval by the
complainant or the complainant’s representative.

Authorities should also consider what support should be made available to
complainants.

Authorities should not normally allow anonymous complaints as that would be against
the principles of transparency and fairness and make matters much more difficult to
investigate. However, there may be exceptional compelling reasons why an
anonymous complaint could be accepted without detriment to the process and where
the allegation can be evidenced without reference to the complainant. For example, if
an anonymous complainant submitted a video showing the councillor acting
inappropriately or sent in documentation disclosing an undeclared directorship in a
matter relating to local authority business, it may be considered that the public interest
in investigating the allegation outweighed the issue of anonymity.

Please note that anonymity and confidentiality are different concepts. Anonymity
means the complainant is not known whereas confidentiality means that the
complainant is known to the authority but their identity has been withheld for a specific
reason.

Complaints which identify criminal conduct or a breach of other regulations by any
person may be referred to the police or any other relevant regulatory agency for
consideration, in accordance with any agreed protocol. In such cases the authority, inPage 166



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 7/60

agreement with the other body, should consider pausing the assessment of the
complaint pending action by the other body.

Acknowledging receipt of a complaint

When a complaint is received by the local authority the relevant officer should
acknowledge its receipt and set out the process to be taken to assess the complaint
with an agreed timescale.

The authority may also notify the subject member that a complaint has been received
and invite their comments on it within an agreed timescale. In deciding whether or not
to notify the subject member they would need to weigh up different factors. For
example, would telling the subject member risk that the complainant may be
intimidated or evidence destroyed, or if the complaint seems to fall outside of the
jurisdiction of the Code is there any need to hear from the councillor? However, the
presumption would normally be to invite the subject member to comment as this can
help the authority to decide whether a matter can be dealt with informally without the
need for a formal investigation, for example.

If the authority does tell the subject member about the complaint, the relevant officer
will need to be satisfied that they have the legal power to disclose the information they
choose to reveal. Additionally, the impact of the Data Protection Act 2018 and UK
General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) should be considered to ensure that any
personal data is processed fairly and lawfully at every stage of the process.
Reasonable expectations of privacy need to be balanced against the public interest.

Pre-assessment enquiries and reports

When the authority notifies the subject member that a complaint has been made
about them, and seeks any relevant comments, the subject member should be given
a short timeframe in which to submit their comments such as 10 working days from
the date of the notification. In parish cases the principal authority may also notify the
clerk and may ask for relevant factual information which would help in the assessment
of the complaint.

In notifying the subject member it should be made clear that no judgment one way or
the other has been made about whether the allegation is in fact true.

The authority may contact complainants for clarification of their complaint if they are
unable to understand the document submitted.Page 167



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 8/60

The authority may also carry out preliminary enquiries, for example whether the
member was in fact present at the meeting to which the complaint relates. However,
such enquiries should be limited to readily-available public records so as not to extend
to a more formal investigation.

In authorities where the assessment is carried out by a committee rather than an
officer, they may decide that they want the monitoring officer, or other officer, to
prepare a short summary of a complaint for the committee to consider. This could, for
example, set out the following details:

Whether the complaint is within jurisdiction;
The paragraphs of the Code of Conduct the complaint might relate to, or the
paragraphs the complainant has identified;
A summary of key aspects of the complaint if it is lengthy or complex;
Any further information that the officer has obtained to assist the committee with its
decision, for example initial comments from the subject member, minutes of
meetings or a copy of a councillor’s entry in the register of interests. However, it
should be noted that these pre-assessment enquiries should not be carried out in
such a way as to amount to an investigation. For example, they should not extend
to interviewing potential witnesses, the complainant, or the subject member
(although they may have been asked for initial comments) as that would be a matter
for any formal investigation should the case proceed;
The views of the Independent Person.

Assessment

Initial tests
The assessment of a complaint would normally be a two-step process, described by
the Committee on Standards in Public Life as the ‘can/should’ stages – the first stage
being ‘can we deal with this complaint?’ and the second being ‘should we deal with
this complaint?’.

The first step would be a jurisdictional test and would assess whether the complaint is:

against one or more named councillors of the authority or of a parish or town
council the authority is responsible for;
the named councillor was in office at the time of the alleged conduct;
the complaint relates to matters where the councillor was acting as a councillor or
representative of the authority and it is not a private matter;
the complaint, if proven, would be a breach of the Code under which the councillor
was operating at the time of the alleged misconduct.Page 168



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 9/60

If the complaint fails one or more of these tests it cannot be investigated as a breach
of the Code, and the complainant must be informed that no further action will be taken
in respect of the complaint. If there is any doubt, however, the allegation should
proceed to the second stage. For example, if it is unclear whether the councillor was
acting ‘in capacity’ or not then the second stage of assessment criteria should be
used.

Where a matter is being referred to a committee of councillors for assessment, we
would expect the monitoring officer only to pass cases which have met the
jurisdictional threshold.

Second-stage criteria

Once these jurisdictional tests have been met the authority should have further criteria
against which it assesses complaints and decides what action, if any, to take. These
criteria should reflect local circumstances and priorities and be simple, clear and
open. They should ensure fairness for both the complainant and the subject member.

Assessing all complaints by established criteria will also protect the authority from
accusations of bias. Assessment criteria can be reviewed and amended as necessary,
but this should not be done during consideration of a matter.

In drawing up assessment criteria, authorities should bear in mind the importance of
ensuring that complainants are confident that complaints about councillor conduct are
taken seriously and dealt with appropriately. They should also consider that deciding
to investigate a complaint or to take other action will cost both public money and the
officers’ and councillors’ time. This is an important consideration where the matter is
relatively minor.

The following non-exclusive factors may help an authority to develop local criteria:

1. Does the complaint contain sufficient evidence to demonstrate a potential breach
of the Code?
2. Are there alternative, more appropriate, remedies that should be explored first?
3. Where the complaint is by one councillor against another, a greater allowance for
robust political debate (but not personal abuse) may be given, bearing in mind the
right to freedom of expression;
4. Is the complaint in the view of the authority malicious, politically motivated, or ‘tit
for tat’
5. Whether an investigation would not be in the public interest or the matter, even if
proven, would not be serious enough to warrant any sanction (see guidance onPage 169



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 10/60

hearings);
6. Whether a substantially similar complaint has previously been considered and no
new material evidence has been submitted within the current administration;
7. Whether a substantially similar complaint has been submitted and accepted;
8. Does the complaint relate to conduct in the distant past? This would include
consideration or any reason why there had been a delay in making the complaint;
9. Was the behaviour that is the subject of the complaint already dealt with? For
example, through an apology at the relevant meeting;
10. Does the complaint actually relate to dissatisfaction with a local authority
decision rather than the specific conduct of an individual? And
11. Is it about someone who is no longer a councillor or who is seriously ill?

Some of these criteria are inevitably subjective. For example, who decides if a
complaint is trivial? The complainant may feel they have a genuine grievance even if
to a third party it seems relatively minor.

Equally even if a complaint seems to be ‘politically motivated’ it may nevertheless be
highlighting a potentially significant breach of the Code which could not be ignored.

Such criteria can therefore only ever be indicative, and authorities always need to take
into account the public interest in taking further action on a complaint. Assessment
criteria should be adopted which take this into account so that authorities can be seen
to be treating all complaints in a fair and balanced way.

In assessing any case, an authority may want to consider the following questions in
the context of local knowledge and experience:

Has the complainant submitted enough information to satisfy the authority that the
complaint should be referred for investigation or other action?

If the answer is no, it should be made clear to the complainant that there is insufficient
evidence to make a decision so unless, or until, further information is received, the
authority will take no further action on the complaint. When doing so, the complainant
should be given a clear timeline to submit any further evidence or otherwise the file
will be closed.

Is the complaint about someone who is no longer a councillor?
The councillor may have been a councillor at the time of the alleged misconduct but
may have since ceased to be a councillor. The authority will need to consider whether
it still has jurisdiction. If so, then the authority may not want to take any further action
unless they believe the matter is so serious, and the councillor may return to the

Page 170



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 11/60

authority that it would still be in the public interest to pursue the matter. If they do
pursue the matter the range of potential sanctions is inevitably more limited and may
extend only to publication of the report and a formal censure.

If the councillor is still a member of another principal authority, the authority may wish
to refer the complaint to that authority if it would also fall within their code of conduct.

If a councillor is still a member of a town or parish council within the principal
authority’s area, then the principal authority can still deal with the matter if it relates to
matters at the town or parish council.

Is the complaint about something that happened so long ago that there would
be little benefit in taking action now?
Where a matter happened some time ago then the authority may decide that any
further action would be unwarranted. For example, an investigation may be difficult as
people’s recollections may have faded. The authority may therefore wish to set a time
limit for receiving complaints of say six months under normal circumstances. However,
it should also be borne in mind that there may be a good reason why a complaint is
‘late’ – for example, victims of bullying or harassment may have needed time and
courage before coming forward or been made aware of other incidents which has
prompted them to make a complaint about things in the past.

Does the complaint appear to be trivial, malicious, politically motivated or tit-
for-tat?
Where a complaint is rejected on these grounds the authority should be very clear
about the reasons why and discourage politically motivated or tit-for-tat complaints in
particular. It will, however, need to satisfy itself that, regardless of any alleged motive
of the complainant, the complaint itself is not sufficiently serious to warrant any further
action regardless of the motive. A complaint may appear on the face of it to be
politically motivated, for example, because of the timing of its submission, but if it
raises sufficiently serious matters it would nevertheless need to be considered fully.

The assessment criteria that the authority adopts should be made publicly available
on its website.

Decision

Initial assessment decisions

Page 171



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 12/60

Where the decision has been delegated to an officer, the authority should aim to
complete their initial assessment of an allegation within 15 working days of receiving a
complaint. Where they have asked the subject member for comment, they should
allow them up to 10 working days to comment and then make the assessment
normally within five working days of any comments being received.

Where the subject member has not commented, and the ten working days has
elapsed (and they have not provided a reasonable excuse for the delay) the
assessment should nevertheless be made within five working days after that.

Where an Independent Person is invited to give their views prior to assessment these
should be done at least a day before the final deadline. Where the Independent
Person meets in person with the officer to discuss the case, they should nevertheless
record their views in writing for the record after the meeting.

Where the assessment is sent to a committee, the committee should be set up along
similar timescales. Any inordinate delay in assessing cases can have a damaging
effect on trust in the system and is unfair for both the complainant and subject
member.

The authority may reach one of the three following decisions on an allegation:

no further action should be taken on the allegation;
the matter should be dealt with through a process of informal resolution in the first
instance (see section on informal resolution) or;
the matter should be referred for a formal investigation (see section on
investigations).

Decision to take no action

The authority may decide that no further action is required in respect of a complaint
based on its agreed criteria.

Where the authority reaches this decision it should be clear that, where an allegation
may have disclosed a potential breach of the Code it has nevertheless made no
finding of fact as it does not believe it is in the public interest to pursue the matter any
further, Where it has been concluded that no potential breach of the Code of Conduct
is disclosed by the complaint (for example because it is outside of jurisdiction), no
further formal action can be taken by the authority in respect of it.

There should be no right of appeal against a decision not to take any further action if
the system is to be efficient and proportionate.Page 172



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 13/60

Where the decision was taken by an officer, the monitoring officer may wish to report
to the relevant committee periodically on cases in which there has been no further
action taken. These cases should be reported confidentially with the aim of giving the
committee a picture of issues within the authority and enabling it to assure itself that
decisions made have been broadly reasonable in the whole. They are not there to re-
open issues.

Referral for informal resolution

When the authority decides that they should seek to resolve the matter informally in
the first instance they should refer to the separate guidance on informal resolution.

Referral for investigation

When the authority decides a matter should be referred for investigation it should refer
to the separate guidance on investigations.

Notification of assessment decisions

If the authority decides to take no action over a complaint, then as soon as possible
after making the decision they should notify the complainant and subject member of
the decision and set out clearly the reasons for that decision, including the views of
the independent person.

If the authority decides that the complaint should be referred for formal investigation or
informal resolution, they should notify the complainant and subject member, stating
what the allegation was and what further action is being taken.

In such cases the authority will need to decide whether or not to give the subject
member a copy of the full complaint and whether the complainant, where they had
been granted confidentiality, should remain confidential for the time being. In doing so
they would need to decide whether doing so would be against the public interest or
would prejudice any future investigation. This could happen where it is considered
likely that the subject member may intimidate the complainant, or any witnesses
involved. It could also happen where early disclosure of the complaint may lead to
evidence being compromised or destroyed. If only one part of a complaint has been
referred for action or the complaint is against more than one councillor then the
authority may wish only to disclose the relevant parts of the complaint. Any decision to
withhold information should be kept under review as circumstances change.Page 173



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 14/60

If the subject member is a parish or town councillor and the authority has decided to
take some action with regard to the complaint, their parish or town council should also
be notified via the clerk. In doing so the authority will need to consider whether any of
the information is confidential.

A decision notice should be issued within one working day of the decision being
made.

Independent Person

If the views of the Independent Person were sought, this should be made clear in the
decision letter and state whether the Independent Person agreed with the decision or
not. Where the Independent Person did not agree with the decision, the notification
should explain how the authority took account of those views in reaching a different
decision – for example in concluding that the matter was not in fact within the scope of
the Code but was a private matter.

Other issues to consider

Assessments Committee

Where a committee is convened to assess an allegation, it is an ordinary committee of
the authority if it is making the decision. This means it must reflect political
proportionality unless that has been waived and it is subject to the notice and publicity
requirements under Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

However, while there should be a presumption that a hearing following an
investigation would normally be held in public (see guidance on hearings) there will be
a strong presumption towards an assessment being treated as exempt information.
The meeting may have to consider unfounded and potentially damaging complaints
about councillors, which it would not be appropriate to make public because of the risk
of unfounded reputational damage or the potential risk of prejudicing any future
investigation.

Nevertheless, as for any meeting dealing with exempt or confidential information a
summary of the outcome would need to be published setting out the main points
considered such as:

the conclusions on the complaint;Page 174



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 15/60

the reasons for the conclusion.

Assessments delegated to officers

Where an assessment decision has been delegated to an officer there is no legislative
requirement for a decision notice to be published. Nevertheless, the authority should
consider whether an assessment notice should be published in the public interest or
not in the same way as they would if it were a committee decision.

What if the subject member is member of more than one authority?

There may be times when the same complaint is made against a member of more
than one authority. For example, an allegation may allege that a councillor has failed
to register an interest at both district and county level.

In such a case the two authorities should have an agreement about who would carry
out the initial assessment (if necessary, under an agreed delegation) and any
subsequent action. This avoids the risk of two different actions or conclusions being
reached.

The matter would not arise where the councillor was on a town or parish council and
also on the ‘principal’ district, unitary or metropolitan council as the principal authority
is responsible for handling both complaints. It could however arise if the parish or
town councillor were also on the county council in a two-tier area.

3. Informal resolution

When dealing with allegations, an authority can decide that some form of action other
than investigation or ‘informal resolution’ is needed at a local level. The authority may
also decide that informal resolution may be more appropriate than referring a matter
to a hearing following completion of an investigation. Where the authority has
delegated such a decision to the monitoring officer, we would expect the monitoring
officer to seek the views of an Independent Person before taking such a course of
action. Where the delegation is held by a committee, we would expect the committee
to consult its monitoring officer and an Independent Person before reaching that
decision. You may also consider seeking an informal resolution part way through an
investigation rather than completing an investigation if it becomes clear the matter
could be resolved amicably. Where informal resolution relates to a formal investigation
you must seek the views of an Independent Person before halting or pausing the
formal investigation. Page 175



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 16/60

Why seek an informal resolution?

An informal resolution is a more proportionate way of dealing with relatively minor
allegations, one-off incidents or underlying disagreements between individuals. It
should be borne in mind however that dealing with a matter by alternative resolution at
the initial assessment stage is making no finding of fact as there has been no formal
investigation, so you would need to balance the interest in resolving a matter quickly
and satisfactorily against the interest in the complainant having their complaint upheld
or the member’s desire to clear their name.

Matters which you might consider appropriate for informal resolution may include:

the same particular breach of the Code by many members, indicating poor
understanding of the Code and the authority’s procedures;
a general breakdown of relationships, including those between members and
officers, as evidenced by a pattern of allegations of minor disrespect, harassment or
bullying to such an extent that it becomes difficult to conduct the business of the
authority;
misunderstanding of procedures or protocols;
misleading, unclear or misunderstood advice from officers;
lack of experience or training;
interpersonal conflict;
allegations and retaliatory allegations from the same members;
allegations about how formal meetings are conducted;
allegations that may be symptomatic of governance problems within the authority,
which are more significant than the allegations in themselves.

When would informal resolution not be appropriate?

Complaints should not be referred for informal resolution when you believe an
investigation is in the public interest, for example because of the seriousness of the
allegations or because it demonstrates a pattern of behaviour. In addition, an
allegation which challenges the councillor’s honesty or integrity may be better dealt
with as a formal investigation because of the potential reputational issues.

Similarly, an informal resolution is not intended to be a quick and easy means of
dealing with matters which you consider to be too trivial or time-consuming to
investigate. Genuinely trivial cases are better dealt with by a decision to take no action
(see guidance on initial assessments). While an alternative resolution can be a cost-
effective way of getting a matter resolved for individual cases, it is not a quick fixPage 176



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 17/60

particularly where there are more systemic issues. It should not be seen as a routine
or cheap way of disposing of an allegation, as it can sometimes be a drawn out, costly
and time- consuming process.

You should also take care to avoid it appearing to the complainant that deciding to
seek an alternative resolution is sweeping matters under the carpet. The decision
should demonstrate to the complainant that their complaint is being addressed and
being taken seriously, although perhaps as part of a wider issue.

Importantly, if a complaint merits being investigated, then it should be referred for
investigation.

Who can be the subject of informal resolution?

Informal resolution could either be directed at the councillor who is the subject of the
complaint, both the subject member and the complainant, or at the authority more
generally.

For example, it may be a request that a councillor apologise for remarks made in the
heat of the moment. Or you may decide that the authority’s resources are better used
trying to ensure that the subject member and complainant attempt some form of
mediation or reconciliation, or it may be about wider issues for your authority that are
raised by the case. For example, a relatively minor alleged infringement of the Code,
by a councillor who is accused of misusing their authority’s IT equipment, might
identify shortcomings in the authority’s policy about councillors using that equipment.
In such a case you might decide that the best way to deal with the allegation is to ask
the authority to review the policy and make recommendations for improvement.

If you decide to seek an informal resolution when assessing a complaint, you should
be clear that an investigation into that complaint will not take place provided you are
satisfied that the party at whom the resolution is directed has acted in good faith in
seeking to comply with it.

Who should you inform if seeking informal resolution?

If you believe a complaint can be dealt with through informal resolution you should
consult with the Independent Person and you should inform the subject member and
the complainant of your intention and give them the opportunity to comment before
you make your final decision. However, you should simply be trying to assess how
successful the resolution might be rather than giving them a veto. For example, aPage 177



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 18/60

complainant may not be happy at receiving an apology as they may expect the matter
to be fully investigated but you may nevertheless decide that an apology is reasonable
and best use of resources in the circumstances.

When informal resolution has been completed you should notify:

the subject member;
the complainant;
the relevant Independent Person;  
the relevant town or parish council if the subject member is a town or parish
councillor.

In addition, you should report back to the standards committee or similar where you
have one at the next available opportunity on the outcome of your actions. This would
allow the committee to take a holistic view of whether informal resolution is being used
appropriately and effectively in the round but should not be seen as an opportunity to
re-open the case.

What sort of actions might form an alternative resolution?

Alternative resolution can take a wide range of forms. When considering an alternative
resolution, you need to think if the complaint highlights specific issues. For example, if
it is against a relatively new councillor, a councillor who has taken on a new role or to
do with relatively new procedures is there an issue about lack of understanding or
training?

Training may be in anything you consider appropriate, such as:

the Code of Conduct
authority procedures and protocols
chairing skills
working with external bodies
wider governance issues
planning and licensing
working with officers
use of authority resources.

Where the issue is more of an inter-personal dispute it may simply be asking the
subject member to apologise or to withdraw a remark. You may need to be clear that
this does not necessarily mean that the councillor has been found to have breached
the Code of Conduct where there has been no formal investigation. It is therefore

Page 178



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 19/60

important where you decide on this course at initial assessment that the action
proposed does not imply this. You cannot require the subject member to apologise
although you may take that into consideration when thinking of the next steps. Of
course, in those cases where the councillor has admitted the breach and offered an
acceptable apology, you may decide that no further action is necessary.

Where the allegation highlights wider procedure or cultural issues within the authority,
you may wish to consider training for all councillors as a whole or mentoring of
particular councillors, or work as an authority on conflict resolution.

You may also decide that the allegation highlights authority procedural failings rather
than the specific fault of an individual so you may want to develop or review particular
authority protocols and procedures.

Where the allegation is one of a series which in your view highlight that relationships
within an authority as a whole have broken down to such an extent that it has become
very difficult to conduct the business of the authority then some wider form of
reconciliation may be needed rather than simply investigating a whole series of
complaints which may of themselves be relatively minor but highlight a pattern of
disruption or dysfunction. In such cases it may be helpful to engage an independent
mediator who is experienced in group community resolution. Mediation is a formal
professional process designed to reach agreed outcomes. Less formal mechanisms
may also be used to work with the authority to draw up an action plan to move matters
forward and again these are often best done by somebody independent.

In such cases it is particularly important that all parties should understand that a
decision to seek an informal resolution without investigating the individual complaints
means that no conclusion has been reached about what happened. Furthermore, no
decision has been made about whether the subject member(s) failed to comply with
the Code. Everyone involved should understand that the purpose of such action is not
to find out whether the councillor breached the Code of Conduct but rather to address
the underlying causes. This is regardless of how simple it may be to establish the
facts.

Where a committee is considering an alternative resolution, it should always consult
the monitoring officer. The monitoring officer may be able to advise the committee how
viable the proposed resolution is, by providing information on the resources available
to them. They may be able to tell the committee how much any proposed resolution
might cost and whether, for example, the authority has access to the facilities or
resources needed to accomplish it, such as qualified mediators.

Page 179



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 20/60

Where the matters involve the town or parish council the principal authority cannot
compel the town or parish council to meet the costs, but it may discuss with them the
implications that other town and parish councils have experienced when they have
failed to take action at an early stage. These have included officer and councillor
resignations, community disharmony, national level publicity and reputational damage,
staff grievances and settlement costs, excessive Freedom of Information Act (FoIA)
and Data Subject Access requests, additional external audit inspections and fees and
legal challenges and costs.

In considering such issues it is incumbent on the town or parish council to recognise
there will be a need to invest in resolutions to the issues and it may be that where they
are unwilling to seek to resolve the issues they face, the principal authority may take
that into account when assessing future complaints.

Role of the monitoring officer

Role of the monitoring officer

When a matter has been referred for alternative resolution, you should inform the
relevant parties (see above). You should take care over how the decision is conveyed.
It is important that the wording does not imply that the councillor is culpable where
there has been no formal investigation. It is also important that councillors do not feel
they have been found guilty without an investigation of the allegation. Above all avoid
the risk that both parties could end up potentially feeling dissatisfied.

You should set a time limit by which the action must be taken and make it clear what
will happen if it is not undertaken, or not undertaken to your satisfaction. If, within that
time limit, you are satisfied with the outcome you should notify the relevant parties.
The matter is then closed.

If you are not satisfied within the timescales, you must then notify the relevant parties
of whether the matter is nevertheless now closed or whether you intend to take further
action. In doing so you should consult with the relevant Independent Person.

You should report any outcomes to your standards committee.

What are the next steps if the informal resolution does not work?

Page 180



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 21/60

In certain cases, you may decide that no further action is required. For example, if the
subject member has made what you consider to be a reasonable apology or has
attended the training, then there is little merit in pursuing the issue even if the
complainant may remain dissatisfied. An investigation should not be viewed as
something that can take place after an alternative resolution has been attempted and
is simply not to the satisfaction of the complainant. There is a risk otherwise that
alternative resolution will not be taken seriously, and the complainant will not
cooperate if it is seen merely as a precursor to an investigation.

On the other hand, where a subject member has categorically refused to comply with
the proposed resolution, has failed to cooperate or has taken action you consider
inadequate then you should consider whether a formal investigation is needed, or
where the resolution has been proposed during or at the end of a formal investigation,
whether the matter should be referred for a hearing. Bear in mind that deliberate and
continued failure to cooperate with a monitoring officer who is trying to deal with a
standards issue may amount to a breach of the Model Code. In deciding on next
steps, you should always bear in mind the public interest and your agreed criteria for
considering whether a matter needs further investigation.

4. Investigations

Introduction and background

This guidance deals with good practice where it has been decided that an allegation
that the Code of Conduct may have been breached merits a formal investigation.

The Localism Act does not specify how an investigation should be carried out or by
whom but simply asks principal authorities to have arrangements in place to handle
allegations that the Code may have been broken. In practice we would expect
authorities to delegate the day-to-day handling of a formal investigation to their
monitoring officer. Monitoring officers are at the heart of the standards framework.
They promote, educate and support councillors in following the highest standards of
conduct and ensuring that those standards are fully owned locally.

Principles of investigation

Page 181



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 22/60

While an investigation under the Localism Act 2011 is not covered by the right to a fair
hearing under Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights as the outcome
of any hearing will not impact upon the rights of the councillor to carry on the role as a
councillor, any investigation must nevertheless abide by the principles of natural
justice (R (Greenslade) v Devon County Council 2019). That means that the
councillor must know what they are accused of and be given the opportunity to
comment on the allegations.

Any investigation should therefore bear in mind some key principles:

Proportionality. That is, the investigation should strive to be proportionate to the
seriousness or complexity of the matter under investigation. Where a matter is
straightforward or relatively simple, for example where the facts are not in dispute,
there may be no need for any formal investigation, but a report can simply be
written up (see attached table). Equally not all of the steps in this guidance need be
followed in every instance of a formal investigation – a judgment must be made in
each case based on its complexity and contentiousness.
Fairness. The investigation should make sure that the subject member knows what
they are accused of and has an opportunity to make comments on the investigation,
including on a draft report. Again, this may depend on the nature of the complaint –
for example, an alleged failure to declare an interest may be largely a factual matter
which needs little or no investigation rather than one that needs to involve evidence
from other parties. A councillor quickly admitting to an error may not need further
detail to be probed.
Transparency. As far as is practical and having regard to an individual’s right to
confidentiality, investigations should be carried out as transparently as possible – all
parties should be kept up to date with progress in the case.
Impartiality. An investigator should not approach an investigation with pre-conceived
ideas and should avoid being involved where they have a conflict of interest.

Managing conflicts of interest

A first consideration when deciding how an investigation is to be handled will be to
see whether any conflicts of interest arise for you. As monitoring officer, you may have
taken the decision that an allegation needs a formal investigation. It would not be a
conflict of interest if you yourself then undertook that investigation. You have simply
decided in the first instance that there is on the face of it a case to answer but have
made no judgment. An investigation is to then establish what exactly did happen and
if it does in fact amount to a breach of the code. So, there is no conflict in deciding
that a matter needs investigating and then carrying out that investigation yourself.

Page 182



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 23/60

However, there may be other areas where a potential conflict of interest could arise.
For example:

If you were asked to investigate an allegation against a councillor and you had
advised them on the same issue previously, regardless of whether or not they had
followed your advice;
If you have been involved in assisting the complainant in formulating their allegation
(Her Majesty's Advocate v Alexander Elliot Anderson Salmond)
If you were the complainant or a potential key witness to the incident. In such
situations, you should delegate the investigation to somebody else (see section on
delegation of investigations);
Where you have tried unsuccessfully to resolve a complaint informally, for example
where one of the parties has refused to cooperate or refused to accept an apology
(see guidance on informal resolution). In such a case there may be a perception
that you have already made some judgment in the matters at hand.
If you find that you have a direct or indirect interest in an investigation, for example
if a family member or friend is involved. Instead, you should notify the subject
member and the complainant so that the conflict is on the record, explaining that
you will not take any part in the investigation, the reason why and who will carry out
the investigation in your place.

Also bear in mind that if you do the investigation personally a conflict may arise later
in the process if the matter goes to a hearing, and you are asked to act as adviser to
the hearing. You may therefore wish to consider at the start of an investigation
whether you would want to ask someone else to carry out the investigation if you think
you would be better supporting any hearing panel (see guidance on holding a
hearing). We believe that you should not conduct an investigation and advise a
hearing about the same case. You therefore need to consider whether it is more
important to investigate the matter and delegate the role of advising a potential
hearing, or to delegate the investigative role.

Delegation of investigations

Monitoring officers can delegate investigations to their deputy or to any other named
individual. However, if they do, monitoring officers should maintain the function of
overseeing the investigation unless they are conflicted out – see section on conflicts
of interest – in which case they should make arrangements for another suitable
person to oversee the investigation.

Page 183



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 24/60

Under Section 5(1)(b) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, local
authorities must provide you with sufficient resources to perform your duties. In many
authorities, monitoring officers will be able to appoint another officer to carry out their
investigation. Smaller authorities may find it useful to make reciprocal arrangements
with neighbouring authorities where they do not already exist formally. This is to make
sure that an experienced officer is available to carry out an investigation or supervise
it, should the need arise.

Authorities may also decide to outsource the investigation to another organisation or
individual. This can be particularly helpful if it is a complex investigation which may
absorb an individual’s time or where it is politically high-profile or contentious or where
there are possible conflicts of interest and it is therefore helpful to have somebody
independent from the authority carrying out the investigation. You may wish to agree a
decision to outsource an investigation with an Independent Person.

Where you delegate the investigation, you should record the scope of the delegation
in writing and keep this on the investigation file. This is to ensure that there is no
confusion concerning the role and authority of the person delegated to conduct the
investigation. You should be particularly clear about who is responsible for writing the
draft and final reports. You should also have agreed timelines for delivery of the
report. Where it is likely that this initial timeline cannot be met, for example because of
unavailability of people for interviews or because further issues emerge, you should
have a mechanism to agree and record any extension and again you may wish to
consult with the Independent Person.

If you intend to advise a hearing panel should the matter go for a hearing, you should
avoid being involved in the preparation of the investigation report. However, you may
want to be able to reserve the right to decide when the report is of an acceptable
quality to be put to the hearing and, if the recommendation from the investigator is that
there is no breach of the Code you should be clear about who signs off that report and
decides on no further action. We recommend that the views of the Independent
Person are also sought where no further action is being taken.

You should inform the relevant parties when you delegate an investigation or make
sure that the investigator has done this, so that they know who is dealing with the
case and in case they need to provide the investigator with more information.

Disclosure of information

Page 184



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 25/60

You must treat any information you receive during the course of an investigation as
confidential to the investigative process until the investigation is completed unless
there is a statutory requirement to disclose it, for example when there are parallel
criminal investigations being undertaken. Similarly, all parties involved in the
conducting of the investigation should be advised of the confidential nature of the
proceedings.

Starting an investigation

When you decide to start a formal investigation or receive instructions to carry out an
investigation, be clear what it is you are investigating. If the initial complaint had made
several different allegations be clear whether you are investigating them all or only
part of the allegations. You should also be clear which parts of the Code you are
investigating against although you may decide to include other or different provisions
during the investigation as it develops.

Having established the scope of the investigation you should inform:

the subject member;
the complainant;
the relevant Independent Person and
the relevant town or parish council if the subject member is a town or parish
councillor.

We would suggest that the notice sent to the town or parish council is sent to the
parish clerk, unless sending it to the chair of the council is more appropriate because
of the parish clerk’s involvement in the complaint (or deputy chair if the chair is the
subject member). You may wish to set out what action you consider the town or parish
council should take (if any) with regards the complaint and requirements related to
confidentiality given that town or parish council standing orders may require the clerk
to report the complaint to the council.

You should explain to all parties what it is you are investigating and what will happen
next. You should also inform the subject member that they have the right to seek the
views of the Independent Person and be represented at any interviews with the
investigator.

Conducting the investigation

Page 185



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 26/60

You must always be aware of your obligations under the Data Protection Act 2018, UK
General Data Protection Regulations the Human Rights Act 1998 and other relevant
legislation, when carrying out an investigation.

When conducting an investigation, you should be able to make inquiries of any person
you think necessary. However, there is no obligation for them to respond. If you have
difficulties obtaining a response, or a person refuses to cooperate with the
investigation you should not let this delay the investigation but make sure that is clear
in any report you write.

By law, a monitoring officer can require their authority to provide them with any advice
or assistance they need to help them with their duties. However, you cannot require a
parish or town council to meet the costs of any investigation into a parish or town
councillor or any costs incurred by the parish or town council in providing advice and
assistance with the investigation.

Evidence of new breaches

During the course of an investigation, you may uncover evidence of conduct by
councillors that breaches the Code of Conduct but extends beyond the scope of the
investigation referred to you. Your powers as an investigator relate only to the
allegation that you have been given. While that means you may consider other parts
of the Code than those initially considered if they are relevant to the matter in hand,
you may also uncover evidence of a possible breach that does not directly relate to
the allegation you are investigating. If this happens, you should tell the person you
obtained the information from that you cannot investigate the possible breach as part
of your existing investigation. You should tell them that they may wish to make a
separate complaint to the authority and if the authority considers it needs further
action it could be subsequently added to your investigation or dealt with as a separate
matter.

Alternatively, if the matters are serious issues in your view, you may wish to refer the
matters to the authority yourself as a new complaint for them to make an initial
assessment on through their scheme of delegation. If you hold that delegation (for
example as monitoring officer) you may wish to ask someone else to take a view on
whether the investigation should be extended.

Referring cases back to the authority

Page 186



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 27/60

During the course of an investigation, it may be necessary to reappraise if an
investigation remains the right course of action, for example, if:

You believe that evidence is uncovered suggesting a case is less serious than may
have seemed apparent to the authority originally and that a different decision might
therefore have been made about whether to investigate it or not;
You conclude after examining the matter in detail that in fact the matters under
investigation were not done by the subject member in their role as a councillor or as
a representative of the authority but rather in a private capacity;
You have uncovered something which is potentially more serious and the authority
may want to consider referring it to the police, for example;
The subject member has died, is seriously ill or has resigned from the authority and
you are of the opinion that it is no longer appropriate to continue with the
investigation;
The subject member has indicated that they wish to make a formal apology which
you consider should draw a line under the matter.

In this context ‘seriously ill’ means that the councillor has a medical condition which
would prevent them from engaging with the process of an investigation or a hearing
for the foreseeable future. This might be a terminal illness or a degenerative condition.
You would be expected to establish this from a reliable independent and authoritative
source other than the subject member. This would include where a councillor claims
they are suffering from stress brought on by the investigation.

Ultimately it will be for the monitoring officer (or as otherwise defined in the authority’s
procedures for handling complaints) to conclude whether the investigation should
continue. In reaching that decision, the authority should consult with the Independent
Person before deciding to defer or end the investigation.

If the matter has been deferred or ended you should notify the subject member and
the complainant of the decision and provide timescales within which the matter will be
dealt with if it has been deferred. This would not always be appropriate, however,
particularly if the matter has been referred to the police.

Deferring an investigation

An investigation should be deferred when any of the following conditions are met:

There are ongoing criminal proceedings or a police investigation into the councillor’s
conduct;

Page 187



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 28/60

You cannot proceed with your investigation without investigating similar alleged
conduct or needing to come to conclusions of fact about events which are also the
subject of some other investigation or court proceeding;
Your investigation might prejudice another investigation or court proceeding.

An investigation may also need to be deferred:

when there is an ongoing investigation by another regulatory body;
because of the serious illness of a key party;
due to the genuine unavailability of a key party.

When it is clear that there is an ongoing police, or other investigation, or related court
proceedings, you should make enquiries about the nature of the police, or other
investigation, or the nature of any court proceedings. It may be helpful to have an
agreed Protocol with the local police about handling overlapping cases as the police
may want you to carry on your investigation in the first instance.

If at any time during the investigation you become aware of any circumstances that
might require the investigation to be deferred, you should normally notify the subject
member of this but again you would need to be careful where there are other
proceedings ongoing. If you are not the monitoring officer, you should notify the
monitoring officer and seek their consent to the deferral. You or the monitoring officer
may also wish to consult with the Independent Person.

The decision to defer an investigation should be taken by the monitoring officer. If you
have asked someone else to carry out the investigation, they will need to gather
sufficient information from the complainant, subject member, and from the police or
other organisation involved, to enable you, as the monitoring officer, to come to a
decision. You may wish to seek legal advice at this stage. The reason for the decision
to defer should be specifically set out in the investigation file with supporting
documentation attached.

In some cases, it will be possible to investigate some of the alleged conduct, where
there is no overlap with another investigation or court proceedings. The investigator
should highlight those areas where investigation may be possible in the investigation
plan.

In some cases, it will be possible to investigate the alleged conduct in parallel with
another investigation, for example where the Local Government and Social Care
Ombudsman is investigating an authority’s decisions and you are investigating the
conduct of an individual councillor involved in making the decision. You may need to
work closely with the other organisation and agree the steps that each party will take.

Page 188



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 29/60

You should ask the police, other relevant organisation or individual in writing to keep
you informed of the outcome of any police or other investigation, court proceedings or
other relevant matter. You should note any important dates, for example of committal
hearings, in the investigation plan review. In addition, you may wish to make further
contact with the police, other body or individual to ask for an update on the matter.

A deferred investigation should be kept under regular review, in the interests of natural
justice. You may wish to seek legal advice at regular intervals, for example every three
months, from the date of the deferral decision about the reasonableness of continued
deferral.

Once a decision is taken to begin the investigation again you should notify in writing:

the subject member;
the complainant;
the relevant Independent Person; and
the relevant town or parish council if the subject member is a town or parish
councillor.

You should also review the investigation plan in light of the outcome of any police
investigation or court proceedings.

Confidentiality

You should treat the information that you gather during your investigation as
confidential. This will help ensure that your investigation is seen as fair. Maintaining
confidentiality reduces the risk of evidence being viewed as biased and preserves the
integrity of the investigation.

We recommend that you also ask the people you interview, and anyone else aware of
the investigation, to maintain confidentiality. You should remind councillors of their
obligations under the Code of Conduct regarding the disclosure of information that
they receive in confidence.

Members of the public are not covered by the Code of Conduct. A person making an
allegation about a councillor is under no responsibility to the subject member to keep
that complaint confidential, but if they do decide to publish the complaint and it is
untrue then the complainant may well expose themselves to an action for defamation.

When the complaint has been received by the authority, the authority is then a data
controller in respect of the personal data contained within the complaint and also a
body subject to the FoIA. Page 189



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 30/60

Were the authority to receive a subject access request (SAR) from the subject
member, then the response is likely to be that the complaint will be disclosed to the
subject member anyway for comment. Schedule 2 s.7 of the Data Protection Act
2018(DPA) includes an exemption from DPA rights where the function is designed to
protect members of the public against dishonesty, malpractice or seriously improper
conduct and the function is of a public nature. Local authority investigations are likely
to fall under this scope and therefore relevant articles of the UK GDPR including
subject access (article 15) do not apply.

There is of course an exemption against disclosure of third-party personal data, but
the complainant can be assumed to have agreed to the processing of their own
personal data. Some thought needs to be given as to whether other third-party data
needs to be redacted, but sufficient information does need to be provided to the
subject member to allow them to comment on the complaint.

If a request for information about the complaint was received under the FoIA from a
third party, then there would be clear grounds for refusing that request during an
ongoing investigation. 

If you receive a request from a journalist for example, who is asking if a councillor is
under investigation for a specific issue, it would be reasonable to confirm or deny the
fact but explain that no further comment can be made until the investigative process is
complete.

Any draft report that you issue on the outcome of the investigation should be marked
as confidential. This is to preserve the integrity of any further investigation that you
may need to undertake.

Timescales for an investigation

There are many factors that can affect the time it takes to complete an investigation.
Nevertheless, it is important that there are realistic targets from the outset for the
completion of an investigation. This allows the monitoring officer to monitor the
progress of investigations and explore reasons for any delays where they have
delegated the investigation. We recommend that most investigations are carried out,
and a report on the investigation completed, within a maximum of six months of the
original complaint being referred for an investigation.

This will not always be possible, particularly where there is overlapping jurisdiction or
you are waiting for a key piece of evidence from an external body but if it is to take
longer than that, specific permission should be discussed between the monitoringPage 190



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 31/60

officer and the Independent Person, and a note made as to the reasons why.

Refusal by the subject member or other relevant party to cooperate, for example by
not making themselves available for an interview without good reason, should not be
a reason for delay but should be reflected in the report. If the subject member refuses
to cooperate that of itself is a potential breach of the Model Code and may be
something that any decision maker in a case may want to take account of.

Draft reports

The investigator should produce a draft report. If they are not the monitoring officer,
they should share the draft initially with the monitoring officer and the independent
person so that they can satisfy themselves that the investigation is of an acceptable
standard and met the scope of the complaint. Once the monitoring officer is satisfied,
the draft report should then be sent to the relevant parties with a deadline for
commenting.

Where criticism is made of a third party (for example a witness) who will not otherwise
have an opportunity to comment on a draft report then a Maxwellisation process
(Maxwellisation is the process by which people who may be subject to criticism in
public reports can comment on those proposed criticisms before the report is
published) should be followed before a draft report is completed.

You are under no obligations to accept any comments made but where you do not
accept comments you should make a note explaining why. Exceptionally you may
need to issue a second draft if there have been significant changes.

Completion of an investigation

On completion of an investigation, the monitoring officer may decide:

to take no further action;
to seek to resolve the matter informally; or
to refer the matter to a hearing if it is part of the authority’s procedures to refer the
matter to a separate hearing by a panel or standards committee (see guidance on
hearings).

In doing so the monitoring officer must consult with the relevant Independent Person.

Page 191



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 32/60

In general, the investigation should be regarded as completed when the monitoring
officer receives the final report and accepts that no further investigation is necessary.

Purpose of the report

The report should be treated as an explanation of all the essential elements of the
case and a justification for why you have concluded there has been a breach or not.
The report should cover:

agreed facts;
any disputed facts together with your view, if appropriate, as to which version is
more likely;
whether those facts amount to a breach of the code or not; and
your reasons for reaching that conclusion.

Final reports

The final report should be issued by the monitoring officer and must be sent to:

the subject member;
the complainant;
the relevant Independent Person;
the relevant parish or town council of which the subject member is a councillor.

The report must make one of the following findings on the balance of probabilities:

that there have been one or more failures to comply with the Code of Conduct;
that there has not been a failure to comply with the Code.

If the monitoring officer considers that there has been no breach of the Code, that
should usually be the end of the matter though they may want to send the report or a
summary to the standards committee where you have one for information purposes
only or to consider wider lessons.

If the monitoring officer considers that there has been a breach of the Code, the
monitoring officer will decide what action, if any, to take and notify the relevant parties.
For example, they may decide to seek an informal resolution at this stage or decide
that the matter is merely a technical breach which will not lead to any sanction. In
doing so the monitoring officer should consult with the independent person.

Page 192



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 33/60

If the monitoring officer decides the matter should be referred for a hearing, the report
should be accompanied by information explaining that a hearing will be held and the
procedure to be followed. (see guidance on holding a hearing)

Publishing a report

Where a matter has been referred to a hearing you do not need to publish the report
as that will be dealt with at the Hearings Stage.

Where you have concluded that there has been no breach, that no further action is
needed, or the matter has been resolved in some other way you do not need to
publish the investigation report but you should report the matter to your standards
committee. If the matter has generated local interest you may consider putting out a
brief statement explaining the outcome and your reasoning. The report may also be
disclosable under a Freedom of Information request but that would need to be
considered depending on the content of each report, the need to redact personal
information and careful consideration given to the public interest test as to whether it
should be disclosed or not.

Report checklist

Your report should contain the information listed below.

a ‘confidential’ marking
a ‘draft’ or ‘final’ marking
the date
the legislation under which the investigation is being carried out
a summary of the complaint
the relevant sections of the Code
evidence
your findings of fact
your reasoning
your finding as to whether there has been a failure to comply with the Code.

The level of detail required will vary for each report, depending on the complexity of
information to be considered and presented. The report should, however, contain
documents that you have relied on in reaching your conclusions. These may include:

a chronology of events
Page 193



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 34/60

summaries of conversations, correspondence and notes of interviews with
witnesses.

In addition, the covering letter you send with the draft report should explain that the
report does not necessarily represent your final finding. You should also explain that
you will produce a final report once you have considered any comments received on
the draft report.

When you send the final report, you should also explain that the report represents
your final findings and, if it is to be subject to a hearing, it will be for the panel to
decide if they agree with your view or not. It is important that the report has the date of
its completion on the front page. This provides clear evidence of when the time within
which a hearing should be held begins.

The date of the hearing should be within three months from the date the monitoring
officer, or delegated officer, completes the final report (see guidance on hearings).

There should be no appeal allowed either for the subject member or the complainant.
Where a breach has been found and the matter is going to a hearing the parties will
have their chance to have their say on the investigation at that stage. Where no
breach has been found, no action taken or the matter otherwise resolved, that will be
the end of the matter.

5. Investigation practicalities

Outsourced investigations

There are a number of reasons why you might outsource an investigation. This may
be because of the complexity of the matters means that you want an experienced
investigator to carry out the investigation. High-profile or politically contentious cases
may require a greater degree of independence from the authority to be demonstrated.
It may also be because the authority’s investigatory resources internally are limited or
at capacity due to other workloads.

In addition, most successful investigation report writers have experience of writing
reports for lay people or councillors. They understand that their reports need to be
clear enough for someone with no legal background to understand how they reached
their decision. They also need to be clear enough to show what factors were taken
into account when reaching that decision. You would need to consider if you have that
capacity in your organisation. Page 194



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 35/60

Objectivity is also important. It may be difficult for an officer to consider whether a
colleague was bullied or treated disrespectfully for example. There will be cases when
an officer can investigate a complaint where a colleague is the complainant. However,
this can only be done if you are sure that they have the necessary impartiality to
conduct the investigation, with no perception of bias.

It is important, however, to stay in control of outsourced investigations. To do so you
will need to do the following:

1. Agree the scope of any delegation. In particular be clear who has responsibility
for preparing the investigation report and if necessary, presenting it to a hearing
panel;
2. Agree the scope of the investigation. In particular be clear what allegations are
being investigated and what should happen if the investigator discovers evidence of
further potential breaches of the Code of Conduct;
3. Agree a firm deadline. You need to agree when the case will be completed and
consider whether there will be any financial implications if the case is not completed
on time;
4. Agree interim deadlines. You should agree when you will receive key pieces of
work including the investigation plan, the draft report and the final report. If the
investigating officer is new, then you may wish to programme in regular
investigation updates;

Agree the payment structure. You may want to consider how you structure the
payment for investigations. It is not unreasonable to pay per stage of work completed,
and for any additional investigative stages to be agreed as and when they occur.

Start of an investigation

Draw up an investigation plan. This will help focus you on making the investigation as
effective as possible. The plan should include:

The complaint made against the subject member. You may find it necessary to seek
clarification from the complainant;
The paragraphs of the Code of Conduct that may have been breached. Please note
that you do not need to accept the complainant’s interpretation of what paragraphs
may have been breached. It is helpful to breakdown each potential failure to comply
into the component parts of each provision. For example, in considering whether a
councillor has misused their position improperly to gain an advantage you may
need evidence to demonstrate that:

Page 195



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 36/60

1) the councillor used their position;

2) the councillor used their position improperly;

3) the councillor conferred or attempted to confer an advantage or disadvantage.

The facts which need to be determined to establish if the councillor breached the
Code and to decide what the appropriate finding might be. They need to include:

               1) facts which would establish if the conduct happened as alleged;

       2) facts that would need to be proven to show that the conduct constituted a  

     breach of the Code;

    3) facts which might aggravate or mitigate the alleged breach, for example,
provocation or an apology.

 

The evidence that you would need to determine the issues outlined in your plan.
This includes who you will need to interview and why;
The evidence that has already been supplied by the complainant;
How you plan to gather any further evidence you are likely to need;
Any documents you are likely to need to see such as minutes of meetings or
register of interest forms and you can get them from;
If you are not the monitoring officer and are doing the investigation under
delegation, make sure you have confirmation on the extent and scope of the
investigation and build in check-in points with the monitoring officer on progress;
How long you think it is likely to take you.

If at any stage in the investigative process there are significant changes to any of the
above areas, an investigation plan review may need to be completed.

Contact the complainant and subject member to advise them of your contact details
and provide them with a preliminary timescale for the investigation. You should also
remind the subject member of their right to seek the views of an Independent Person.

At the end of your investigation, you should have documents which chart the
approach you took to the investigation, the reasons for this approach, and when you
changed your approach if appropriate. You do not need to share these documents
with the parties involved in the investigation – they are for you to use as you wish.
Their main function is as a planning tool, but they also provide an audit trail should
your investigation be the subject of a complaint or review.Page 196



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 37/60

The investigation

Information requests
Documentary evidence should be sought before you conduct any interviews and at
the earliest opportunity. The list in your investigation plan should form the basis of the
first contact you make with the parties and other witnesses.

You may invite the subject member to provide an initial response to the allegation in
writing when first making written contact with them. This gives councillors the
opportunity to admit to the breach if they would like to do so, and could then save time
and effort for all involved. A written response may also provide you with additional
useful information before the interview stage.

Where you make a specific request for information this should be made in writing,
even if the initial contact is made by phone. Explain the authority you have for asking
for the documents and the broad purpose for which you need the document, for
example ‘an investigation into the conduct of Councillor X’. You do not need to provide
the detail of the complaint against the councillor at this stage. You should also outline
the confidentiality requirements that relate to the information request and set a
deadline for response.

In certain cases, you may wish for a subject member or other party not to be made
aware of a request for evidence. For example, if you consider that this might lead to
destruction of evidence by one of the parties or to the improper collaboration of
witnesses. In such circumstances it may be appropriate to arrange to meet with the
witness, having given them a brief outline of your role. You can then make your
request for the relevant documents during the meeting. It is important here that you
explain what powers you have to obtain information. If in doubt, it may be prudent to
seek legal advice on how to proceed.

If the request for information is refused it is likely to prove time consuming and legally
complex to try to pursue the matter. It may be easier to see if there is another route to
obtaining the same information.

Interviewing

Your goal in interviewing is to obtain the most informed, reliable evidence possible. It
is not to ambush or catch out interviewees.

Page 197



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 38/60

Order of interviews

You may have spoken the subject member initially for their initial reaction, but you will
normally interview the subject member again formally at the end of the investigation,
when you have gathered all your evidence, if they have not admitted to the breach at
first contact. This will give you the opportunity to put that evidence to the subject
member and obtain their responses to it.

Where practicable it may be best to carry out consecutive interviews on the same day
if you are concerned that witnesses may collude or use information provided to them.

You may also wish to re-interview the complainant near the end of the investigation on
the same timescale as you are interviewing the subject member. This may allow you
to get them to agree facts. It also gives them an opportunity to comment on issues
that have been raised during the course of the investigation and provides an
opportunity to present potential inconsistencies to the relevant parties for comment.

The format of the interview

It might be more appropriate to conduct face-to-face or virtual interviews than
telephone interviews if:

1. the matters involved are sensitive;
2. the interviewee is vulnerable;
3. you or they will need to refer to multiple documents during the interview;
4. the interviewee wishes to have a representative or colleague present;
5. the interview is with the subject member.

It may be more appropriate to conduct a telephone interview if:

1. there are significant resource implications, either in terms of cost or time in
conducting a face-to-face interview;
2. the interview does not fall into one of the categories outlined above.

If a subject member or witness insists on a face-to-face interview, then serious
consideration should be given to their request. You should specifically check that there
is no medical or disability-related reason for their request. If there is, then you should
conduct a face-to-face interview. If there is no medical or disability-related reason,

Page 198



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 39/60

then the decision is at your discretion. If you still wish to proceed with a telephone
interview despite their request, then you should outline your decision in writing on the
file. This is to show that it was both proportionate and reasonable.

Do not conduct joint interviews. It is important that each witness gives their own
account without having their recollection influenced by hearing another person’s
account. An interviewee may, however, have a friend or adviser present. If so that
person should not be someone who is a witness, and they should be asked to keep
the matters confidential. If an interviewee is a vulnerable person or a minor, you may
wish to ensure that you are accompanied by another person.

The venue

If you are conducting a face-to-face interview, try to ensure that the venue is:

1. mutually convenient on neutral territory – this would generally include local
authority offices but this may not always be appropriate;
2. in a private room where you cannot be overheard;
3. a place where the interviewee will feel comfortable and is unlikely to be seen by
people whose presence may intimidate or upset them, for example, the complainant
or subject member;
4. is safe for you, the investigating officer - please refer to any authority policy on
lone working.

Occasionally it may be appropriate to conduct an interview at the home of the
interviewee. This should generally be at the request of the interviewee, but you should
only do this if you feel safe and there is no suitable alternative.

Information you should provide interviewees

You should provide the following information in writing to the interviewee:

1. Confirmation of the agreed time, date and venue or that it is a telephone or virtual
interview.
2. Confirmation that the interview will be recorded, if appropriate.
3. Confirmation that the interviewee can have a legal or other representative with
them, but that the representative must not be a potential witness in the
investigation. Ask that they provide you with the name and status of their
representative before the interview.
4. Why you are conducting the interview.Page 199



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 40/60

5. How the information they give you in the interview may be used.
6. The circumstances in which the information that they give you during the
interview may be made public.
7. The confidentiality requirements that they are under as an interviewee.
8. Details and copies of any documents you may refer to during the interview.
9. In the case of the subject member, details and copies of any evidence you have
gathered and which you may refer to in your report.

You do not have to disclose witness testimony prior to the interview, depending on the
nature of that testimony and whether you want the interviewee’s account prior to
putting the witness’s testimony to them. However, you may wish to disclose a
witness’s testimony during an interview once you have obtained the interviewee’s own
account.

You could also consider providing an outline of the areas you intend to cover at
interview.

Note: if you only need to confirm one or two factual details with a local authority officer
you may contact them by phone and do not need to forewarn them. However, when
obtaining this information, you should:

1. orally outline all of the information you would otherwise have provided in writing
as set out above;
2. check that they are happy to give it to you then, rather than at an agreed date in
the future;
3. confirm the detail of information they do provide, in writing.

Special circumstances

If an interviewee has additional needs, for example a disability (seen or unseen) or
language barrier you should make reasonable provisions to cater for their specific
needs. If an interviewee is vulnerable or a minor, then they should always be
accompanied by a third party at the interview.

Structuring an interview

Interviews should be planned in advance. You can plan your questions using the
following suggested format:

Page 200



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 41/60

1. Divide the information you require into discrete issues. For example, Issue 1:
The planning meeting on date x; Issue 2: The planning meeting on date y.
2. Make a note of the evidence you have already obtained about each issue.
3. Note how you would briefly summarise the evidence to the interviewee.

Conducting the interview

All important interviews should be recorded where possible or else detailed notes
taken which are agreed afterwards with the interviewee. The only exception is when
the interview is likely to cover only a small number of factual matters. In this case, it
may be more appropriate to resolve these factual matters in writing. Before recording
an interview, you should:

1. obtain the consent of the interviewee before you start recording the interview;
2. ask them to record their consent on the record once you have started and; offer
to send the interviewee a copy of the transcript or draft interview statement,
whichever is applicable.

If they ask, you can send them a copy of the recording too. If you are concerned that
the interviewee may share the transcript with other witnesses, you can delay sending
the transcript or recording until you have completed all of your interviews.

The interviewee should not normally be allowed to make a recording of the interview.
This is to prevent collusion between interviewees and any possibility of record
tampering.

Interview recordings should be destroyed as soon as a transcript of the interview has
been produced and agreed as accurate.

At the start of the interview

When the interviewee arrives, try and put them at ease;

1. Before you start the formal interview, inform the interviewee that there is
a standard interview preamble that you must take them through. This ensures that
any rapport you have established is unlikely to be lost when you take them through
the legal framework of the interview;
2.  Confirm that the interview will be recorded and put the recording device in a
visible place on the desk;
3. With their permission start recording;Page 201



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 42/60

4. Ask them to confirm for the record that they consent to the recording;
5. Confirm for the record who you are, and why you are conducting the Interview;
6. State the date and time for the record;
7. Confirm that they received your letter outlining the arrangements for
the interview;
8. Confirm that they read and understood your letter and ask if they have
any questions about any of the information within it;
9. If the interview is with the subject member, repeat orally all of the   information
contained in your letter;
10. If the interviewee is at all unclear about anything, then repeat orally all of the
information contained in your letter;
11. Explain that they can take a break whenever they choose; 
12. Explain that you will offer them a break if the interview goes over an hour,  even
if they have not said that they want one;
13. Tell them how long the interview is likely to take and ask them if they have a
time by which it needs to end; 
14.  Explain that they can ask you to rephrase a question if they don’t understand it.

During the interview

1. Start the interview with the subject member with some background questions.
These could include ‘how long have you been a councillor, or ‘what training have
you had on the Code of Conduct?’.
2. Do not ask multiple questions. Ask one question at a time, and do not ask
another question until the interviewee has answered your first question;
3. Do not dart back and forth between different issues as you are liable to confuse
yourself and the interviewee;
4. Tackle one subject issue at a time;
5. Ask open questions about information the interviewee or other witnesses have
provided about the issue;
6. Drill down. In other words, ask open questions about one specific issue until you
have all the information you need on it;
7. Where relevant ask the interviewee to reconcile differing accounts;
8. Ask closed questions to confirm the information you have obtained about the
specific issue;
9. Move onto the next issue using the same method. Start with a broad open
question about the subject, drill down for information with specific open questions.
Conclude the area by asking closed questions to confirm what you have been told;
10. Do not ask leading questions, for example, ‘You said this to the clerk, didn’t
you?’; Page 202



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 43/60

11. Do not ask the interviewee to speculate;
12. Accurately put the evidence of other interviewees to the interviewee and ask for
their response;
13. When asked, explain the relevance of your question;
14. Do not allow the interviewee’s lawyer or representative to answer a question;
15. You must allow the interviewee to stop and obtain advice whenever they
choose;
16. If the interviewee becomes upset or unwell you must offer them a break;
17. Never raise your voice. Only interrupt if the interviewee is being unreasonable
or is not providing relevant information;
18. You should be mindful of avoiding oppressive or repetitive questioning. If an
interviewee will not properly answer a question, despite significant attempts to
obtain a satisfactory response, then you should move on to another point or issue;
19. Do not question the subject member about matters which fall outside the scope
of the complaint;
20. If the interviewee wants a break, record the time of the break on the record and
the time you resume the interview. Ask the interviewee to confirm for the record that
you did not discuss anything about the case with them during the break.

Closing the interview

1. State the time the interview finished;
2. Thank the interviewee for their time and outline what will happen next;

After the interview

1. Send the interviewee a copy of the transcript;
2. State in the letter that if you do not hear from them by a specified date, you will
assume the transcript is agreed;
3. If the content of the transcript is disputed, check the discrepancies against the
recording;
4. If the transcript is confirmed by the recording, write to the interviewee to inform
them of this. In these circumstances, if the matter is referred to a hearing, submit
the transcript, the recording, the interviewee’s letter outlining the dispute, and your
response.

Evaluating the information after an interview
Page 203



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 44/60

1. Review your investigation plan in light of the information gathered during the
interview;
2. Review all the evidence you have gathered to determine if there are any gaps in
it;
3. Take a view on all disputed relevant matters. Your own opinion on the evidence is
sufficient. However, if you are unable to come to a decision, you may need to seek
further information or decide that you are unable to reach a conclusion;
4. Weigh up all the evidence and decide if the alleged conduct occurred;
5. If you decide that the subject member acted as alleged, you will need to consider
whether their conduct involved a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct;
6. If you decide the subject member breached the Code, consider whether you have
evidence of any mitigating or aggravating circumstances. If not, you may need to
seek further information.

Drafting the report

When you have concluded your investigation, you will need to write up your findings in
a report which should contain the following information:

1. who the report is for;
2. who the report is by;
3. the date of the report.

Executive summary

This should include:

1. the full allegation and who it was made by;
2. the provisions of the Code of Conduct that were considered;
3. a conclusion as to whether there has been a failure to comply with the Code the
finding;
4. any relevant extracts from the Code and any other legislation or protocols
considered in the report.

Evidence gathered and the investigator’s consideration

1. Set out all the relevant evidence you have gathered even if it does not support
the conclusions you have reached;

Page 204



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 45/60

2. State what you consider has taken place based upon your evaluation of this
evidence;
3. Set out undisputed facts as facts. Do not summarise them or preface them ‘he
said’ or ‘the minutes state’. If they are undisputed just state them as fact.
4. Where there is a disputed fact, outline the different views and your conclusion on
them. You need to form a conclusion based on the balance of probabilities. Also
state why you have reached this conclusion. For example:

The clerk, Councillor Jones and Councillor Smith met at Councillor Jones’s house
on y date at x time;
At interview the clerk stated that Councillor Jones said…..
At interview Councillor Smith stated that Councillor Jones told the clerk…
At interview Councillor Jones stated that he told the clerk…
I have considered the following issues when deciding what Councillor Jones said to
the clerk… I consider at on the balance of probabilities Councillor Jones told the
clerk…because…

  5. Include any mitigating or aggravating factors, such as the state of mind of those
involved. 
  6. When you refer in the report to material in the evidence bundle, identify the
document referred to.

Summary of the material facts

Summarise the facts needed to confirm the conclusions you have reached. Where
there was a disputed fact, you will only need to include the conclusion you came to.

If the subject member has made additional submissions which you do not consider
relevant to the case outline why you do not deem information or opinions submitted by
the subject member to be relevant.

Reasoning as to whether there has been a failure to comply with the
Code of Conduct

1. Make each alleged breach in turn.
2. Outline which part of the Code of Conduct you are considering. Explain the test
you are applying when determining if there has been a failure to comply with the
Code.
3. Explain in detail, giving reasons, why you do or do not consider that the conduct
constitutes a breach of the Code. Page 205



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 46/60

4. Do not introduce any new facts or opinions. You must only refer to evidence or
opinions that have been outlined earlier in the report.

Make sure your explanation of the test you are applying, and the reasons for your
conclusions, are detailed and clear enough to understand for a lay person with no
legal background.

Finding

You should make a finding about each alleged breach of the Code:

1. Outline in detail the reason for your decision
2. Refer to aggravating or mitigating facts, which must be outlined in the facts
section earlier in the report.

Schedule

Your report should include any documents taken into account:

1. Exhibit all the evidence upon which you have relied when reaching your
conclusion;
2. In complex cases it may be appropriate to provide a chronology;
3. Provide a list of unused material if appropriate.

Issuing a draft report

You should send a draft report, sending a copy to the subject member and the
complainant and inviting their comments by a specified date. If you have carried out
an investigation on behalf of the monitoring officer, you should first of all make sure
they are happy that the draft is to an acceptable standard.

The draft should not be sent to other witnesses or parties interviewed, but you should
seek confirmation of their evidence from them before issuing the report.

Ensure that the draft report is clearly marked as ‘Draft’ and ‘Confidential’ (though it
can be discussed with a legal representative) and make clear that the report may be
subject to change and does not represent your final conclusion.

Page 206



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 47/60

If you have found the subject member in breach, make sure that the evidence that you
have relied upon when reaching this conclusion is clearly marked in the report.

You must consider whether any of the information in the draft report is sensitive
personal information that should not go into the public domain, for example, medical
reports details or personal contact details. Information of this nature should be edited
from the draft and final report unless it is essential to the reasoning.

Comments on the draft

Responses to your draft may reveal the need for further investigation, or they may add
nothing of relevance. Occasionally changes may be significant enough for you to
consider issuing a second draft.

Once you have considered whether the responses add anything of substance to the
investigation, you will be able to make your final conclusions and recommendations.

Where comments on the draft are critical of the investigation or the investigator, you
may need to consider how to respond to the complaints made. You should not let such
criticisms prevent a draft report being finalised, however, unless this is unavoidable. In
particular, the investigation process, including writing the report, should not be
suspended while a complaint about the investigation is dealt with. Complaints about
the conduct of investigators should be dealt with in the same way as other service
complaints.

You should keep a written record of your consideration of any comments received on
the draft. It is best practice to provide a written response to the party explaining your
position or referring them to the relevant paragraph of the report. This can be done
when they are sent the final report. You should avoid getting drawn into lengthy
correspondence with the subject member or other interested parties where they
disagree with the draft. You should confine comments to matters of fact rather than
personal opinions as to how the investigation was done or the opinion you have
reached. However, you will need to show that you took all reasonable steps to
address concerns.

If you receive further comments after the final report has been issued you should
explain that the investigation is now closed and refer them to the person who is
dealing with any hearing if appropriate.

The final report Page 207



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 48/60

You must state that the report represents your final finding. If you have found the
subject member in breach you should make sure the reasoning for that conclusion
and any supporting evidence is clear. You must consider whether any of the
information in the report or evidence bundle is confidential information that should not
go into the public domain, for example, medical details, personal contact details or
signatures. All information of this nature should be edited from the final report unless it
is essential to the reasoning.

You should send the final report to the monitoring officer if you are not the monitoring
officer who will then issue the report. If you are the monitoring officer, you must send
your report to:

1. The subject member
2. The Independent Person

A copy may also be made available to the complainant and others as you think
appropriate.

The monitoring officer must decide whether:

1. There has been no breach and therefore no further action will be taken;
2. There have been one or more breaches, but no further action is needed;
3. There have been one or more breaches, but the matters should be resolved in a
way other than by a hearing; or
4. That the matters be referred to a hearing.

This should be made clear in the letter accompanying the report and if the monitoring
officer decides that the matter should be referred to a hearing panel, they should
arrange for that to happen as soon as possible (see separate section on hearings).
The letter should also make clear what if any aspects of the report are confidential but
that it can be discussed with a legal representative. If the matter is being referred to a
hearing it should be made clear that the whole report remains confidential until the
time of the Hearing to avoid prejudicing any considerations.

Confidentiality during the investigation

While it is important during the course of an investigation to preserve confidentiality so
as not to compromise the integrity of the investigation, in practice in some
circumstances, maintaining the confidentiality of an investigation can be difficult.

Page 208



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 49/60

However, it is important that you take all reasonable steps to maintain the
confidentiality of your investigation, as failure to do so may compromise the
investigation. To help maintain confidentiality:

1. Mark all of your letters, transcripts and reports as confidential;
2. Outline why you have marked it confidential but clearly inform subject members
in writing that they can appoint a solicitor, or other person, to act as their
representative. You must also clearly inform them that they can disclose any
relevant document to this representative.
3. You should state that their representative should not be someone who may be
involved in the investigation;
4. It is important that you make it clear to all parties that they should make any
approach to witnesses in writing. This is to avoid confusion that might arise about
the investigative process;
5. When arranging interviews ask interviewees to identify the name of any person
who is accompanying them to the interview. Also ask them to state what their
relationship is to the interviewee. You should explicitly state, in writing, that they
should not be accompanied by anyone who may be called as a witness in the
investigation;
6. If you think it is possible that witnesses may discuss their testimonies with each
other, you should not send the transcripts of any interviews until all of the interviews
have been concluded. This may mean that you send interview transcripts out with
the draft report;
7. Where you are interviewing a number of people who have close relationships
with one another, it may be prudent to interview them immediately after each other.
This reduces any opportunity for collaboration.

If confidentiality is breached you should write to the party reminding them of the
confidentiality requirements and, if they are a councillor, of their duties under the
Model Code of Conduct. If you have evidence that information was disclosed to a
party prior to their interview, you can take this into account when evaluating the
reliability of the witness’s evidence. If the disclosure was made by a councillor, you
can consider making a formal complaint about their conduct.

6. The hearings process

Once a formal investigation has taken place, the monitoring officer may refer the
matter to a hearing.

Page 209



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 50/60

There is no prescription in the legislation that says a matter has to go to a hearing or
how that hearing may be conducted. Whatever approach you decide to take it must
follow the rules of natural justice and comply with the obligations to ensure a fair
hearing under Article 6 of the Human Rights Act. In line with the principle of
proportionality the approach you take may depend upon the seriousness of the issue.
For example, if you are satisfied that the investigation has allowed all sides to have
their say the panel may simply review the report without further reference to the
parties.

This guidance is written however on the presumption that a hearings panel of some
form, consisting of elected councillors, will be convened.

The legislation stipulates that, where it is a town or parish council case, the matter is
dealt with by the principal authority.

Throughout this guidance we will refer to panel, but by that we mean a committee or a
sub-committee which the local authority (or a committee, such as an Audit or
Standards Committee) has delegated responsibility to determine the outcome of
certain complaints that individual councillors have breached the Code of Conduct.

Convening a hearing

At the end of the investigation, a hearing may be called where the investigator has
concluded that there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct and the monitoring
officer has concluded that the matter cannot otherwise be resolved informally (see
guidance on informal resolution).

For reasons of fairness and proportionality a hearing should wherever possible take
place within three months of the date on which the investigator’s report was
completed. Where that is not possible, for example because the matter is awaiting the
outcome of other matters being dealt with by outside bodies or other investigations
into the subject member, the monitoring officer should notify the relevant parties of the
reason for the delay and provide an estimated timescale.

However, the hearing should not take place sooner than 14 days after the
investigation report has been issued unless the subject member agrees. This is to
allow them sufficient time to prepare their defence and consider any witnesses they
may wish to call for example (see section on the pre-hearing process below)

Once a date has been set for a Hearing the monitoring officer should notify:

the subject member; Page 210



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 51/60

the investigator;
the relevant Independent Person;
the complainant if appropriate;
the clerk of any relevant town or parish council.

They should also outline the hearing procedure; the subject member’s rights and they
should additionally ask for a written response from the subject member within a set
time. This is to find out whether the subject member:

wants to be represented at the hearing
disagrees with any of the findings of fact in the investigation report, including
reasons for any of these disagreements
wants to give evidence to the hearing, either verbally or in writing
wants to call relevant witnesses to give evidence to the standards committee
wants to request any part of the hearing to be held in private
wants to request any part of the investigation report or other relevant documents to
be withheld from the public.

The investigator should also be asked if they wish to call any witnesses.

If the subject member is unable to make the specified date the panel may arrange for
the hearing to be held on a different date, provided that they are satisfied that the
subject member has given an acceptable reason. Where the subject member does
not give an acceptable reason or does not reply within a specified time, the panel
should proceed with the date and may consider the report in the subject member’s
absence if the subject member does not go to the hearing. The subject member
should not be able to evade having the case heard simply by refusing to cooperate
and the Model Code makes failure to cooperate a potential breach. However, the
panel should make clear at the start of the hearing that they have considered whether
they can proceed in the absence of the subject member and should record their
reasons.

If one or more witnesses are unavailable on the given date the monitoring officer, in
consultation with the chair of the panel, should decide how material they would be to
the hearing and whether another date needs to be looked for. Witnesses, especially
members of the public, often play an important part in the process and should be
treated with courtesy and respect although it may be that their views were already
sought as part of the investigation so the panel would need to evaluate how they
could proceed without them. Witnesses should be kept promptly informed of the
relevant dates, times and location of the hearing.

Page 211



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 52/60

Except in the most complicated cases, the panel should aim to complete a hearing in
one sitting or in consecutive sittings of no more than one working day in total. When
scheduling hearings, you should bear in mind that late- night and very lengthy
hearings are not ideal for effective decision-making. Equally, having long gaps
between sittings can lead to repetition or important matters being forgotten.

Role of the monitoring officer

It is important that the panel receives high quality, independent advice. For this
reason, a monitoring officer should be the main adviser to the standards committee,
unless they have an interest in the matter that would prevent them from performing
this role independently. This may be because they have carried out the investigation
or have another conflict (see guide on investigations). If this situation arises, a
monitoring officer should arrange for another appropriately qualified officer to advise
the standards committee.

The monitoring officer or other legal adviser’s role in advising the panel is to:

make sure that members of the standards committee understand their powers and
procedures
make sure that the procedure is fair and will allow the complaint to be dealt with as
efficiently and effectively as possible
make sure that the subject member understands the procedures the panel will
follow
provide advice to the panel during the hearing and their deliberations.
help the panel produce a written decision and a summary of that decision.

Monitoring officers play an important role in advising their councillors on a day-to-day
basis. When performing this role, monitoring officers need to be aware of the potential
conflicts of interest that can arise, as these conflicts could prevent them from advising
the panel at a later stage.

Monitoring officers will need to be aware of the potential conflicts involved in
investigating a matter, advising the panel and advising councillors (see also guidance
on investigations).

However, conflicts of interest are not likely to arise simply from informal discussions
between councillors and monitoring officers.

You may wish to consider options for reducing the likelihood of such conflicts,
including:

Page 212



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 53/60

arranging for another officer to advise councillors
continuing to advise councillors, while identifying possible scenarios that may lead
to future conflicts.

You should also ensure that if your advice could be relevant to an investigation, you
have another appropriately experienced officer who is prepared to support the panel
in its hearings and deliberations.

Smaller authorities in particular may find it useful to make arrangements with
neighbouring authorities to make sure that when a conflict arises, an appropriately
experienced officer is available to advise the panel.

Composition of the panel

The panel should be drawn from the main body of the standards committee. If the
panel includes independent representatives or parish representatives, they do not
have voting rights by law.

You will need to be clear whether political proportionality applies to the panel or
whether it has been waived by the local authority.

All panel members should have undergone suitable training.

Holding a pre-hearing

As soon as a date has been set for a hearing the panel should hold a private pre-
hearing. This could be done in writing or just between the monitoring officer and the
Committee chair for expediency. The purpose of the pre-hearing process is to allow
matters at the hearing to be dealt with more fairly and economically. This is because it
quickly alerts parties to possible areas of difficulty and, if possible, allows them to be
resolved before the hearing itself. The pre-hearing should also decide who will chair
the panel.

At the pre-hearing the panel should:

Decide whether any of the findings of fact in the investigation report are in dispute
and, if so, how relevant they are likely to be at the hearing. For example, if the
dispute is about the time of a particular conversation but that time is not relevant to
whether the Code has been breached or not, there would be little point focussing on

Page 213



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 54/60

that. On the other hand, if that alleged discrepancy were material the panel needs
to satisfy itself how it would resolve that difference at the hearing.
Consider any additional evidence it considers is required at the hearing.
Identify any witnesses it thinks it would want to hear from.
Decide if witnesses which the subject member or investigator may want to call are
relevant bearing in mind the nature of the issue and the need for proportionality. For
example, if an incident has occurred at full council there would be no need to call
every member as a witness but equally the panel may feel it needs to hear from a
couple of witnesses representing different sides. Similarly, if the subject member
decides to call a number of character witnesses the panel should take a view as to
how relevant that is and how many would suffice.
Consider whether there are any parts of the hearing that are likely to be held in
private or whether any parts of the investigation report or other documents should
be withheld from the public prior to the hearing, on the grounds that they contain
‘exempt’ material (see section on confidentiality below) though the final decision will
rest with the panel on the day. The presumption should be to hold a public hearing
unless there is specific exempt or confidential information as defined by Part VA of
the Local Government Act 1972 so identifying that at the pre-hearing will have some
bearing on publication of any relevant papers.
Identify any potential conflicts of interest, for example any close associations with
the people involved or potential witnesses. The monitoring officer will advise if any
conflicts mean that a councillor should stand down from the panel.

It is important that at the pre-hearing panel members do not debate the merits of the
case.

Note that this pre-hearing would not of itself be a formal meeting so would not be
open and often these matters can be dealt with through correspondence. Once the
pre-hearing has been held the monitoring officer should write to everyone involved in
the complaint at least two weeks before the hearing. This should confirm the date,
time and place for the hearing, note whether the subject member or investigator will
be represented at the hearing. It should also list those witnesses, if any, who will be
asked to give evidence and outline the proposed procedure for the hearing.

The hearing

A hearing is like any other committee or sub-committee of the authority and as such
must follow the rules that apply to committees. This means that it must reflect the
political proportionality of the local authority as a whole unless the authority has
waived proportionality and that only elected members of the authority are entitled to

Page 214



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 55/60

vote at the Hearing. The rules around access to information also apply as they do to
other committees – that is the hearing will be in public unless there are lawful reasons
for all or part of it to be heard as exempt or confidential matters.

Panel members should bear in mind that it is not a court of law. It does not hear
evidence under oath, but it does decide factual evidence on the balance of
probabilities.

The panel should work at all times in a demonstrably fair, independent and politically
impartial way. This helps to ensure that members of the public, and councillors, have
confidence in its procedures and findings. Decisions should be seen as open,
unprejudiced and unbiased. All concerned should treat the hearing process with
respect and with regard to the potential seriousness of the outcome, for the subject
member, the local authority and the public. For the subject member, an adverse
decision by the committee can result in significant reputational damage.

Representatives

The subject member may choose to be represented by counsel, a solicitor, or by any
other person they wish. This should have been agreed at the pre-hearing and if the
panel has any concern about the person chosen to represent the subject member,
they should have made that clear beforehand. The panel does, however, have the
right to withdraw its permission to allow a representative if that representative disrupts
the hearing. However, an appropriate warning will usually be enough to prevent more
disruptions and should normally be given before permission is withdrawn.

Evidence

The panel, through its chair, controls the procedure and evidence presented at a
hearing, including the number of witnesses and the way witnesses are questioned.

In many cases, the panel may not need to consider any evidence other than the
investigation report and any other supporting documents. However, the panel may
need to hear from witnesses if more evidence is needed, or if people do not agree
with certain findings of fact in the report.

The panel can allow witnesses to be questioned and cross-examined by the subject
member, the investigator or their representatives. Alternatively, the panel can ask that
these questions be directed through the chair. The panel can also question witnesses
directly and the Independent Person should also be asked if they wish to ask anyPage 215



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 56/60

questions. It is not a legal requirement that the Independent Person attend the
hearing, but it is best practice and the authority must have regard to their views when
reaching a decision. If the Independent Person does not attend therefore, there must
be an agreed mechanism for receiving their views.

If the panel believes, however, that questions are irrelevant or oppressive then the
chair should stop that particular line of questioning.

Generally, the subject member is entitled to present their case as they see fit, which
includes calling the witnesses they may want and which are relevant to the matters to
be heard. However, the panel has the right to govern its own procedures as long as it
acts fairly. For this reason, the panel may limit the number of witnesses if the number
is unreasonable. This should have been agreed at the pre-hearing.

Making a finding

Once the panel has heard all the relevant evidence it should suspend the hearing and
retire in private to consider its finding.

Before retiring the chair should invite the Independent Person to give their views to
the panel which the local authority must have regard to. These views should be given
in the open session so that all sides can have a chance to challenge them as
necessary. If the Independent Person retires with the panel, they should not take part
in any decision making as they are not part of the formal decision-making process. In
addition, they should ensure that any views they give to the panel are also made
publicly to the meeting.

Any officer who retires with the panel is there to advise on matters of procedure and
law. Any advice given, however, must then be conveyed back publicly to the meeting.

If the panel, after retiring, decides that it needs to reconsider certain matters it is able
of reconvening to ask further questions.

Once the panel has reached its decision it should reconvene to inform the subject
member. Where a breach has been found, it should then invite representations as to
any aggravating or mitigating factors (see below) before retiring again to consider an
appropriate sanction.

It is good practice to make a short written decision available on the day of the hearing,
and to prepare the full written decision in draft on that day, before people’s memories
fade. The officer providing administrative support to the panel will normally also draft
minutes of the meeting. Page 216



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 57/60

The panel should give its full written decision to the relevant parties as soon as
possible after the hearing. In most cases this should be within one week of the
hearing.

The relevant parties are:

the subject member
the complainant
the relevant Independent Person
any parish or town councils concerned.

Where appropriate the subject member’s political group may also be informed of the
decision if the sanction requires group action (see below) and should also be sent to
the next full council meeting.

Sanctions 

There is no definitive list of possible sanctions (The Government's response to the
Committee on Standard in public life 2019 is awaited). If the panel finds that a subject
member has failed to follow the Code of Conduct and that they should be sanctioned,
it needs to be clear which sanctions it has the power to impose and which matters are
reserved to council or need to be referred to a relevant political group.

Typical sanctions may include one or a combination of the following:

report its findings in respect of the subject member’s conduct to council (or the
relevant parish council)
issue (or recommend to the parish council to issue) a formal censure
recommend to the subject member’s group leader (or in the case of un-grouped
councillors, recommend to council) that they be removed from any or all committees
or sub-committees of the authority (or recommend such action to the parish council)
recommend to the leader of the authority that the subject member be removed from
positions of responsibility
instruct the monitoring officer to (or recommend that the parish council) arrange
training for the subject member
recommend to council (or recommend to the parish council) that the subject
member be removed from all outside appointments to which they have been
appointed or nominated by the authority (or by the parish council);
recommend to council (or recommend to the parish council) that it withdraws
facilities provided to the subject member by the authority for a specified period,
such as a computer, website and/or email and internet access; orPage 217



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 58/60

recommend to council (or recommend that the parish council) that it excludes the
subject member from the authority’s offices or other premises for a specified period,
with the exception of meeting rooms as necessary for attending council, committee
and sub-committee meetings and/or restricts contact with officers to named officers
only
if relevant recommend to council that the subject member be removed from their
role as leader of the authority
if relevant recommend to the secretary or appropriate official of a political group that
the councillor be removed as group leader or other position of responsibility.

Note that where the subject member is a parish or town councillor, the matter is
referred back to their council to say that a breach of the Code has been found and
with a recommended sanction. The town or parish council must then meet to consider
whether to impose that sanction or to replace it with another relevant sanction. They
cannot overturn the finding that there has been a breach of the Code and if they wish
to impose a different sanction they should seek advice from the clerk and/or the
monitoring officer. The panel should also ask the parish or town council to report back
to the monitoring officer within three months to confirm that they have met to discuss
the sanction, and if necessary, to write again once the sanction has been fulfilled.

Note that under the Model Code of Conduct failure to comply with a sanction may of
itself be a breach of the Code.

When deciding on a sanction, the panel should ensure that it is reasonable,
proportionate and relevant to the subject member’s behaviour. Before deciding what
sanction to issue, the panel should consider the following questions, along with any
other relevant circumstances:

What was the subject member’s intention?
Did the subject member know that they were failing to follow the Code of Conduct?
Did the subject member get advice from officers before the incident? Was that
advice acted on or ignored?
Has there been a breach of trust?
Has there been financial impropriety, for example improper expense claims or
procedural irregularities?
What was the result or potential result of failing to follow the Code of Conduct?
How serious was the incident?
Does the subject member accept they were at fault?
Did the subject member apologise to the relevant people?
Has the subject member previously been warned or reprimanded for similar
misconduct or failed to follow the Code of Conduct before?
Is the subject member likely to do the same thing again?Page 218



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 59/60

How will the sanction impact on the subject member’s ability to carry out their role?

Sanctions involving restricting access to an authority’s premises or equipment or
contact with officers should not unnecessarily restrict the subject member’s ability to
carry out their responsibilities as an elected representative or co-opted member.

Mitigating factors may include:

an honestly held, although mistaken, view that the action concerned did not
constitute a failure to follow the provisions of the Code of Conduct, particularly
where such a view has been formed after taking appropriate advice;
a councillor’s previous record of good service;
substantiated evidence that the councillor’s actions have been affected by ill-health;
recognition that there has been a failure to follow the Code; co-operation in
rectifying the effects of that failure; an apology to affected persons where that is
appropriate, self-reporting of the breach by the councillor;
compliance with the Code since the events giving rise to the complaint.

Aggravating factors may include:

dishonesty or breaches of trust;
trying to gain an advantage or disadvantage for themselves or others;

bullying;
continuing to deny the facts despite clear contrary evidence;
seeking unfairly to blame other people;
failing to heed appropriate advice or warnings or previous findings of a failure to
follow the provisions of the Code;
persisting with a pattern of behaviour which involves repeatedly failing to abide by
the provisions of the Code.

Publicising the findings

The panel should arrange for a decision notice to be published on the website of any
authorities concerned, and anywhere else the panel considers appropriate.

If the panel finds that the subject member did not fail to follow the authority’s Code of
Conduct, the public summary must say this and give reasons for this finding.

If the panel finds that the subject member failed to follow the Code but that no action
is needed, the public summary should:

Page 219



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 60/60

say that the councillor failed to follow the Code, but that no action needs to be
taken;
outline what happened;
give reasons for the panel’s decision not to take any action.

If the panel finds that a councillor failed to follow the Code and it imposed a sanction,
the public summary should:

say that the councillor failed to follow the Code;
outline what happened;
explain what sanction has been imposed;
give reasons for the decision made by the panel.

The panel’s reports and minutes should be available for public inspection in the same
way as other local authority committee papers.

Appeals

Given that the framework and sanctions are meant to be light-touch and
proportionate, there should be no right of appeal against a decision on a Code of
Conduct complaint.

Page 220



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the Audit and Governance 

Committee 
 
Meeting:     30 March 2022 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
KEY DECISION:   No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
2021/22 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

The purpose of this report is to provide the Members of the Audit and Governance 
Committee with details of the proposed accounting policies to be adopted for the 
closure and preparation of the Statement of Accounts 2021/22. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee:  
  
(a) Note the attached accounting policies and provide any comments thereon; and 

 
(b) Approve the attached accounting policies. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1. On an annual basis the Authority is required to review its accounting policies to 

ensure that those being used are appropriate, accurate and are applicable for all 
significant transactions. 

 
3.2 The accounting policies have been reviewed by management and a copy of the 

proposed accounting policies to be applied for 2021/22 is included in Appendix One. 
 The review conducted involved considering the following: 
 

 Whether the existing policies were fit for purpose; 
 

 Whether there has been any change in structure or type of transactions 
undertaken by the organisation that were not adequately reflected within the 
existing policies; 

Page 221

Agenda Item 9



 Any areas where understanding could be improved through expanded or 
simplified working; and 
 

 Consideration of any changes in accounting standards applied within the 
CIPFA Code. 

 
3.3 On the back of this review the accounting policies proposed for 2021/22 remain 

unchanged from 2020/21. 
 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1. Financial 

 
No direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.2. Human Resources 

 
No direct issues arising from this report. 
 

4.3. Physical Assets 
 
No direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.4. Information Technology 

 
No direct issues arising from this report. 
 

 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
 No direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
6. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
  No direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 
7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

No direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 

 
No direct issues arising from this report.  
 

  
9. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
  No direct issues arising from this report. 

Page 222



  
 
10. CONCLUSION 
 

The Authority’s accounting policies have been subject to review as detailed in the 
report and it is proposed that the policies applied for the preparation and closure of 
the 2021/22 accounts remain unchanged from the previous year. 

 
 

JOHN FOGARTY 
Executive Director of Corporate Services 

 
 

Contact Officer(s): 
Sarah Johnston, Assistant Director of Finance, 0151 330 1015 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix One – LCRCA Accounting Policies 2021/22 
 
 
 
 

Page 223



This page is intentionally left blank



Accounting Policies 
 

General Principals 
 
 The Statement of Accounts summarises the Liverpool City Region Combined 

Authority’s transactions for the financial year 2021/22 and its position as at 31 March 
2022.  The Authority is required to prepare an Annual Statement of Accounts in 
accordance with the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015, which require 
the accounts to be completed in accordance with proper accounting practices.  
These practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22, supported by International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

 
 The accounting convention adopted by the statement is principally historic cost, 

modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and financial 
instruments.  The Statement of Accounts has been completed on a going concern 
basis. 

 
 Accruals of Income and Expenditure 
 
 Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash 

payments are made or received.  In particular:  
  

 Revenue from contracts with service recipients, whether for services or the 
provision of goods, is recognised when (or as) the goods or services are 
transferred to the recipient in accordance with the performance obligations in 
the contract. 

 Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there 
is a gap between the date supplies are received and their consumption, they 
are carried as inventories on the Balance Sheet.  

 Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by 
employees) are recorded as expenditure when the services are received 
rather than when payments are made.  

 Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted 
for respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective 
interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows 
fixed or determined by the contract.  

 Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not 
been received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded 
in the Balance Sheet.  Where debts may not be settled, the balance of 
debtors is written down and a charge made to revenue for the income that 
might not be collected.  

 
Agency Transactions 
 
Transactions are excluded from the Authority’s financial statements for all agency 
relationships.  As stipulated by the Code, the Authority is acting as an agent in 
situations when the Authority does not control the specified goods or services being 
provided by another party, before they are transferred to the customer.  All services 
are reviewed to determine who controls the right to the underlying goods or services 
and when this is not deemed to be the Authority, the transactions have been 
excluded from the financial statements. 
 
 

Page 225



Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions 
repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents are 
highly liquid investments that mature in 90 days or less from the date of acquisition 
and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of 
change in value.  
 
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank 
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the authority’s 
cash management. 
 
Changes in Accounting Policies, Estimations, Errors and Prior Period 
Adjustments 
 
Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or 
to correct a material error.  Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for 
prospectively, i.e. in the current and future years affected by the change and do not 
give rise to a prior period adjustment. 
 
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting 
practices or the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the 
effect of transactions, other events and conditions on the authority’s financial position 
or financial performance.  Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively 
(unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts 
for the prior period as if the new policy had always been applied. 
 
Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by 
amending opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. 
 
Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets 
 
Services are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding non-
current assets during the year:  
 

 Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service; 

 Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where 
there are no accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the 
losses can be written off; and 

 Amortisation of intangible assets attributable to the service.  
 

The Authority is not required to raise levy to fund depreciation, revaluation and 
impairment losses or amortisation.  However, it is required to make an annual 
contribution from revenue towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement 
equal to an amount calculated on a prudent basis determined by the Authority in 
accordance with statutory guidance (known as the Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP)).  Depreciation, revaluation losses and amortisation are therefore replaced by 
the MRP in the General Fund Balance by way of an adjusting transaction with the 
Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the 
difference between the two. 
 
 
 
 

Page 226



 
Employee Benefits 
 
Benefits Payable During Employment  
 
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled wholly within 12 months of 
the year-end.  They include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave 
and paid sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits for current employees and 
are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render 
service to the Authority.  An accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements (or 
any form of leave, e.g. time off in lieu) earned by employees but not taken before the 
year-end which employees can carry forward into the next financial year.  The 
accrual is made at the wage and salary rates applicable in the following accounting 
year, being the period in which the employee takes the benefit.  The accrual is 
charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but then reversed out 
through the Movement in Reserves Statement so that holiday entitlements are 
charged to revenue in the financial year in which the holiday absence occurs.  
 
Termination Benefits  
 
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Authority 
to terminate an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s 
decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits. They are 
charged on an accruals basis to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement at the earlier of when the authority can no longer 
withdraw the offer of those benefits, or when the Authority recognises costs for a 
restructuring.  
 
Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory 
provisions require the General Fund Balance to be charged with the amount payable 
by the authority to the pension fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount 
calculated according to the relevant accounting standards.  In the Movement in 
Reserves Statement, appropriations are required to and from the Pensions Reserve 
to remove the notional debits and credits for pension enhancement termination 
benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and 
pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end.  
 
Post-employment Benefits  
 
Employees of the Authority are members of a Local Government Pensions Scheme, 
administered by Merseyside Pension Fund.  This is a defined benefit pension 
scheme. 
 
The liabilities of the Merseyside Pension Fund attributable to the Authority are 
included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method – 
i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement 
benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, 
employee turnover rates, etc., and projections of projected earnings for current 
employees.  
 
Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate based 
on the indicative rate of return on high quality corporate bonds.  
 
The assets of Merseyside Pension Fund attributable to the Authority are included in 
the Balance Sheet at their fair value.  

Page 227



 
 
 
 
The change in the net pension liability is analysed into the following components:  
 
Service cost comprising: 
 

 Current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service        
earned this year.  These costs are allocated in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement to the services for which the employees worked. 

 Past service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme 
amendment or curtailment whose effect relates to years of service earned in 
earlier years.  The costs are debited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.    

 Net interest on the net defined benefit liability, i.e. the change during the 
period in the net defined benefit liability that arises from the passage of time.  
The net interest is charged to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 
Remeasurements comprising: 
 

 The return on plan assets – (excluding amounts included in net interest 
above) charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure. 

 Actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise 
because events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last 
actuarial valuation or because actuaries have updated their assumptions – 
charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure. 

 Employer’s contributions paid to Merseyside Pension Fund – not accounted 
for as an expense. 

 
In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund 
Balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Authority to the pension fund 
or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated according to the 
relevant accounting standards.  In the Movement in Reserves Statement, this means 
that there are transfers to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional 
debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash 
paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid 
at the year-end.  The negative balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby 
measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund Balance of being required to 
account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are 
earned by employees.  
 
Discretionary Benefits  
 
The Authority also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement 
benefits in the event of early retirements.  Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result 
of an award to any member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision to make 
the award, and accounted for using the same policies as are applied to the Local 
Government Pension Scheme. 
 
Events after the Reporting Period 

Page 228



 
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and 
unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when 
the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue.  Two types of events can be 
identified:  
 

 Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the 
reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such 
events; and 

 Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – 
the Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a 
category of events would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the 
notes of the nature of the events and their estimated financial effect.  

 
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the 
Statement of Accounts. 
 
Fair Value Measurement 
 
The Authority measures some of its non-financial assets such as surplus assets at 
fair value at each reporting date.  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date.  The fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset 
takes place either: 

 In the principal market for the asset, or 

 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the 
asset. 

 
The Authority measures the fair value of an asset or liability using the assumptions 
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that 
market participants act in their economic best interest. 
 
When measuring the fair value of a non-financial asset, the Authority takes into 
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the 
asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use. 
 
The authority uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances 
and for which sufficient data is available making use of relevant observable inputs 
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
Financial Instruments 
 
Financial Assets 
 
Financial assets are classified based on a classification and measurement approach 
that reflects the business model for holding the financial assets and their cashflow 
characteristics.  There are three main classes of financial assets measured at: 
 

 Amortised cost 

 Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), and 

 Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
 

Page 229



           The Authority’s business model is to hold investments to collect contractual cash 
flows. Financial assets are therefore classified as amortised cost. 

 
 

Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost 
 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet 
when the Authority becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial 
instrument and are initially measured at fair value.  They are subsequently measured 
at their amortised cost.  Annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) 
for interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of the asset multiplied by the 
effective rate of interest for the instrument.  For most of the financial assets held by 
the Authority, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the  
 
outstanding principal receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest credited to the 
CIES is the amount receivable for the year in the loan agreement. 
 
Where the Authority has made loans at less than market rates (soft loans) a loss is 
recorded in the CIES (debited to the appropriate service) for the present value of the 
interest that will be foregone over the life of the instrument, resulting in a lower 
amortised cost than the outstanding principal.  Interest is credited to the Financing 
and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES at a marginally higher 
effective rate of interest than the rate receivable from the lender, with the difference 
serving to increase the amortised cost of the loan in the Balance Sheet.  Statutory 
provisions require that the impact of soft loans on the General Fund Balance is the 
interest receivable for the financial year.  This is managed by a transfer to or from the 
Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Any gains or losses that arise on the derecognition of an asset are credited or 
debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES. 
 
Expected Credit Loss Model 
 
The Authority recognises expected credit losses on all its financial assets held at 
amortised cost either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The expected credit loss model 
also applies to lease receivables and contract assets.   
 
Impairment losses are calculated to reflect the expectation that future cash flows may 
not take place because the borrower could default on their obligations.  Credit risk 
plays a crucial part in assessing losses.  Where risk has increased significantly since 
an instrument was initially recognised, losses are assessed on a lifetime basis.  
Where risk has not increased significantly or remains low, losses are assessed on 
the basis of 12-month expected losses. 
  
Financial Liabilities  
 
Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Authority becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially 
measured at fair value and are carried at their amortised cost.  Annual charges to the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) for interest payable are based on the 
carrying amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the 
instrument.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

Page 230



future cash payments over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was 
originally recognised.  
 
For most of the borrowings that the Authority has, this means that the amount 
presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued 
interest); and interest charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement is the amount payable for the year according to the loan agreement. 
 
Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the CIES, regulations allow 
the impact on the General Fund Balance to be spread over future years.  The 
Authority has a policy of spreading the gain or loss over the term that was remaining 
on the loan against which the premium was payable or discount receivable when it 
was repaid.  The reconciliation of amounts charged to the CIES to the net charge 
required against the General Fund Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the 
Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
 
Government Grants and Contributions 
 
Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third 
party contributions and donations are recognised as due to the Authority when there 
is reasonable assurance that:  
 

 The Authority will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and  

 The grants or contributions will be received.  
 
Amounts recognised as due to the Authority are not credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to the grant or 
contribution have been satisfied.  Conditions are stipulations that specify that the 
future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset in the form of the 
grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or 
future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the transferor.  
 
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been 
satisfied are carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors.  When conditions are 
satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service line (attributable 
revenue grants and contributions) or Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income and 
Expenditure (non-ringfenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 
Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement, they are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement.  Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital 
expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve.  Where it has been 
applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account.  Amounts in the Capital 
Grants Unapplied reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account once 
they have been applied to fund capital expenditure. 
 
Goodwill 
 
Business combinations have been accounted for under IFRS 3 using the purchase 
method. Any excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s 
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as goodwill and is not 
amortised. 

Page 231



 
After initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses, with the carrying value being reviewed for impairment, at least annually and 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may 
be impaired. 
 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the related cash-
generating units monitored by management, usually at operating segment level or, if 
smaller, statutory company level. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill, an impairment 
loss is recognised in the income statement. 
 
The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to a cash-generating unit is taken into 
account when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the unit, or of an operation 
within it.  
 
Merseytravel has taken advantage of the option under the first time adoption 
provisions of The Code to use the brought forward value of goodwill as at 1 April 
2009 as an appropriate approximation of fair value. 
 
Heritage Assets 
 
The Authority holds statues and artworks, which are held and maintained as a 
contribution to knowledge and culture. 
 
Heritage assets are recognised and measured in accordance with the Authority’s 
accounting policies on property, plant and equipment.  However, some of the 
measurement rules are relaxed where it is not practicable to obtain a valuation at a 
cost which is commensurate with the benefits to users of the financial statements.  In 
these circumstances heritage assets are measured at historical cost (less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses). 
 
Intangible Assets 
 
Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are 
controlled by the Authority (e.g. software licences) is capitalised when it is expected 
that future economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to 
the Authority.  Intangible assets are measured at cost and the balance is amortised 
over its useful life to the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement on a straight-line basis.  An asset is tested for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired – any losses 
recognised are posted to the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement (CIES). Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or 
abandonment of an intangible asset is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure 
line in the CIES.  
 
Amortisation, impairment losses and disposal gains and losses are not permitted to 
have an impact on the General Fund Balance.  These entries are therefore reversed 
out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted 
to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
Business combinations have been accounted for under IFRS 3 using the purchase 
method.  Any excess over the cost of the business combination over the Group’s 
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities is initially recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Page 232



Statement and is not amortised. After initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses, with the carrying value being reviewed for 
impairment, at least annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 
 
 
Interests in Companies and Other Entities 
 
The Authority has material interests in companies and other entities which require it 
to prepare group accounts.  In the Authority’s own single-entity accounts, the 
interests in companies and other entities are recorded at cost, less any impairments. 
 
Inclusion in the Authority Group is dependent upon the extent of the Authority’s 
interest and power to influence an entity. An assessment of all the Authority’s 
interests is carried out each financial year to determine the relationships that exist 
and whether they should be included within the Authority’s group accounts. 
 
This assessment determines whether the entity is accounted for as: 
 

 A subsidiary – the Authority controls the entity and has the power to govern 
its financial and operating policies so as to benefit from its activities; or 

 An associate – the Authority has significant influence over the entity and has 
the power to participate in its financial and operating policies; or 

 Joint Operations – the Authority is party to the contractually and binding 
agreed sharing of control over the organisation such that strategic financial 
and operating decisions require the unanimous consent of all parties sharing 
control. 
 

Inventories and Long-term Contracts 
 
Inventories are included in the Balance Sheet at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value determined on a first in first out basis.  
 
Long-term contracts are accounted for on the basis of charging the Surplus or Deficit 
on the Provision of Services with the consideration allocated to the performance 
obligations satisfied based on the goods or services transferred to the service 
recipient during the financial year. 
 
Leases 
 
Leases are classed as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or 
equipment from the lessor to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating 
leases. 
 
Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and building elements are 
considered separately for classification. 
 
The Authority as Lessee 
 
Finance Leases 
 
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the 
Balance Sheet at the commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the 

Page 233



lease’s inception (or the present value of the minimum lease payments, if lower).  
The asset recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation to pay the lessor. 
Initial indirect costs of the authority are added to the carrying amount of the asset.  
Premiums paid on entry into a lease are applied to writing down the lease liability. 
 
 
Lease payments are apportioned between: 
 

 A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment 
– applied to write down the lease liability; and 

 A finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement). 

 
Property, plant, and equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for 
using the policies applied generally to such assets, subject to depreciation being 
charged over the lease term if this shorter than the asset’s estimated useful life. 
 
Statutory requirements mean that depreciation, revaluations and impairment losses 
are not a proper charge against the General Fund Balance.  Instead a prudent 
annual contribution is made from revenue funds towards the deemed capital 
investment. Depreciation and revaluation and impairment losses are therefore 
substituted by a revenue contribution in the General Fund Balance by way of an 
adjusting transaction with the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement for the difference between the two. 
 
Operating Leases 
 
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement as an expense of the services benefitting from use of 
the leased property, plant or equipment.  Charges are made on a straight line basis 
over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. 
there is a rent free period at the commencement of the lease). 

 
The Authority as Lessor 
 
Finance Leases 
 
Where the Authority grants a finance lease over a property or an item of plant and 
equipment the relevant asset is written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal.  At 
the commencement of the lease, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance 
Sheet is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  
A gain, representing the Authority’s net investment in the lease, is credited to the 
same line in the CIES also as part of the gain or loss on disposal(i.e. netted off 
against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal), matched by a lease 
(long term debtor) asset in the Balance Sheet. 
 
Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between: 
 

 A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property – applied to write 
down the lease debtor; and 

 Finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the CIES). 

 

Page 234



The gain credited to the CIES on disposal is not permitted by statute to increase the 
General Fund Balance and is required to be treated as a capital receipt.  Where the 
amount due in relation the lease asset is to be settled by the payment of rentals in 
future financial years, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the 
Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  When 
the future rentals are received, the element for the capital receipt for the disposal of 
the asset is used to write down the lease debtor.  At this point, the deferred capital 
receipts are transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
 
The written off value of disposals is not a charge against the levy, as the cost of 
non-current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital 
financing.  Amounts are therefore appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account 
from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Operating Leases 
 
Where the Authority grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or 
equipment, the asset is retained in the Balance Sheet.  Rental income is credited to 
the Other Operating Expenditure line in the CIES.  Credits are made on a straight-
line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of 
payments. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging the lease are 
added to the carrying amount of the relevant asset and charged as an expense over 
the lease term on the same basis as rental income. 
 
 

Overheads and Support Services 
 
In line with best practice, charges for the cost of central support services are fully 
charged or apportioned to those that benefit from the supply of service using time 
recording and other appropriate methods. 
 
Property Plant and Equipment 
 
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply 
of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are 
expected to be used during more than one financial year are classified as Property, 
Plant and Equipment.  
 
Recognition  
 
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and 
Equipment is capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the 
future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the 
Authority and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  Expenditure that 
maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future economic benefits 
or service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when it 
is incurred.  
 
Measurement  
 
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:  

 The purchase price; and 

 Any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. 

Page 235



 
The Authority does not capitalise borrowing costs incurred whilst assets are under 
construction.  
 
The cost of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value, 
unless the acquisition does not have commercial substance (i.e. it will not lead to a 
variation in the cash flows of the Authority).  In the latter case, where an asset is 
acquired via an exchange, the cost of the acquisition is the carrying amount of the 
asset given up by the authority.  
 
Donated assets are measured initially at fair value.  The difference between fair value 
and any consideration paid is credited to the Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income 
and Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, 
unless the donation has been made conditionally.  Until conditions are satisfied, the 
gain is held in the Donated Assets Account.  Where gains are credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are reversed out of the 
General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement.  
 

 Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement 
bases:  

 

 Infrastructure and assets under construction – depreciated historical cost; 

 Surplus assets – the current value measurement base is fair value, estimated 
at highest and best use from a market participant’s perspective; and 

 All other assets – current value, determined as the amount that would be paid 
for the asset in its existing use (existing use value – EUV).  

 
Where there is no market-based evidence of current value because of the specialist 
nature of an asset, depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is used as an estimate of 
current value.  
 
Where non-property assets that have short useful lives or low values (or both), 
depreciated historical cost basis is used as a proxy for current value.  
 
Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued sufficiently 
regularly to ensure that their carrying amount is not materially different from their 
current value at the year-end, but as a minimum every five years.  Increases in 
valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise 
unrealised gains.  Gains might be credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services where they arise from the reversal of a loss previously charged to a 
service.  
 
Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by:  

 where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation 
Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that 
balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains)  

 where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient 
balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

 
The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 
only, the date of its formal implementation.  Gains arising before that date have been 
consolidated into the Capital Adjustment Account.  

Page 236



 
Impairment  
 
Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an 
asset may be impaired.  Where indications exist and any possible differences are 
estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, 
where this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is 
recognised for the shortfall.  
 
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by: 

 Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation 
Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that 
balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains); or 

 Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient 
balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

 
Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the 
relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up 
to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been 
charged if the loss had not been recognised. 

 
Depreciation  
 
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the 
systematic allocation of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives.  An 
exception  
is made for assets without a determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold land) and 
assets that are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under construction).  
 
Depreciation on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets is calculated by allocating 
the asset value over the period expected to benefit from their use on a straight-line 
basis.  All assets are assessed individually in relation to their asset lives for the 
purpose of calculating depreciation.  Conditions relative to each asset are considered 
in arriving at this determination. 
 
Where an item of property, plant and equipment asset has major component whose 
cost is significant in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are 
depreciated separately. 
 
Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference 
between current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that 
would have been chargeable based on their historical cost being transferred each 
year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 
Disposal and Non- Current Assets Held for Sale 
 
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is 
reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale.  The asset is revalued immediately before 
reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and fair value less costs 
to sell.  Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss 
is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement.  Gains in fair value are recognised only up to the amount of 

Page 237



any previously losses recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services.  
Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale.  
 
If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are 
reclassified back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying 
amount before they were classified as held for sale; adjusted for depreciation, 
amortisation or revaluations that would have been recognised had they not been 
classified as Held for Sale, and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision 
not to sell.  
 
Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for 
Sale.  
 
When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset 
in the Balance Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for 
Sale) is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  Receipts 
from disposals (if any) are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off 
against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal).  Any revaluation gains 
accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account.  
 
Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital 
receipts and can then only be used for new capital investment or set aside to reduce 
the Authority’s underlying need to borrow (the Capital Financing Requirement 
England and Wales).  Receipts are appropriated to the Capital Receipts Reserve 
from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
 
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against the levy, as the cost of non-
current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing.  
Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund 
Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
 
Provisions  
 
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the authority a legal 
or constructive obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic 
benefits or service potential, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation.  
 
Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year that the authority 
becomes aware of the obligation, and are measured at the best estimate at the 
balance sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into 
account relevant risks and uncertainties.  
 
When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the 
Balance Sheet.  Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year 
– where it becomes less than probable that a transfer of economic benefits will now 
be required (or a lower settlement than anticipated is made), the provision is 
reversed and credited back to the relevant service.  
 

Page 238



Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be 
recovered from another party (e.g. from an insurance claim), this is only recognised 
as income for the relevant service if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be 
received if the authority settles the obligation. 
 
Contingent Liabilities 
 
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a 
possible obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or 
otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Authority.  
Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise 
be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required or 
the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.  Contingent liabilities are 
not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts. 
 
Contingent Assets 
 
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a 
possible asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or 
otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Authority.  
Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to 
the accounts where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or 
service potential. 

 
Reserves 
 
The Authority sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to 
cover contingencies.  Reserves are shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the 
appropriate service in that year to score against the Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 
Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current 
assets, financial instruments, retirement and employee benefits and do not represent 
usable resources for the Authority – these reserves are explained in the relevant 
policies. 
 
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute (REFCUS) 
 
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory 
provisions but that does not result in the creation of a non-current asset has been 
charged as expenditure to the relevant service in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement in the year.  Where the Authority has determined to meet the 
cost of this expenditure from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement from the General Fund Balance to the Capital 
Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged so that there is no 
impact on the level of levy. 

 
Value Added Tax (VAT) 
 
VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable 
from Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs.  VAT receivable is excluded from income. 

 

Page 239



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the last meeting
	Minutes

	4 Internal Audit Update
	Enc. 1 for Internal Audit Update

	5 Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2022-23
	Enc. 1 for Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2022-23
	Enc. 2 for Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2022-23
	Enc. 3 for Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2022-23

	6 Risk Management Update
	Enc. 1 for Risk Management Update
	Enc. 2 for Risk Management Update

	7 The Constitution
	Enc. 1 for The Constitution

	8 Members Code of Conduct Protocol
	Enc. 1 for Update on Process for Dealing with Member Complaints
	Enc. 2 for Update on Process for Dealing with Member Complaints

	9 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Accounting Policies 2021/22
	Enc. 1 for LCRCA Accounting Policies 2021/22


